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About DUET

Profi le
 The DUET Group (DUET) is 

an ASX-listed owner of energy 
utility assets in Australia and 
the United States. DUET is 
managed jointly by AMP 
Capital Investors Limited 
and Macquarie Bank Limited. 

Strategy
 DUET’s strategy is to invest in, 

develop and manage quality  
energy utility assets that are 
value accretive to security 
holders over the long term.

 DUET seeks assets with 
strong competitive positions 
where it can achieve a 
signifi cant shareholding, 
enabling DUET management 
to be actively involved in the 
business, infl uencing key 
strategic, operational and 
commercial decisions.

 DUET’s objective is to grow 
distributions for security 
holders and our policy is to 
fund these distributions from 
operating cash fl ows.

Key facts 
 Listed on the ASX in 

August 2004

 Market capitalisation at 
30 June 2007 – A$2.19 billion

 Number of security holders at 
30 June 2007 – 16,858

 Total assets at 
30 June 2007 – A$7.1 billion 

1DUET Group Annual Report 2007



Chairman’s Letter

Dear Investor

On behalf of my 
fellow directors 
I am pleased 
to present the 
DUET annual 
report for the 
fi nancial year to 
30 June 2007

The last 12 months have been 
an extremely busy and exciting 
time for DUET, with several 
signifi cant milestones achieved. 
The period has seen DUET 
continue to grow its portfolio 
and invest in its existing assets, 
with the market capitalisation 
of the fund now exceeding 
A$2 billion, having grown from 
approximately A$565 million 
at IPO. 

DUET continues to work closely 
with our asset management 
teams to meet and exceed 
our earnings and cash fl ow 
targets and strategic objectives. 
DUET’s strategy remains to 
create value for our security 
holders in two ways – by 
continuing to invest in our 
existing portfolio of assets and 
by acquiring quality assets that 
are value accretive.

As a result of meeting our 
fi nancial, strategic and 
distribution targets, I am 
pleased to advise that DUET 
announced a distribution 
for the six months ended 
30 June 2007 of 12.50 cents 
per stapled security, which 
was paid in August 2007. 
Including the interim 
distribution paid in February 
2007, DUET’s distributions for 
the year ended 30 June 2007 
totalled 24.75 cents per stapled 
security, up from 23.50 cents 
in 2006.

Our focus remains on 
developing a robust asset 
portfolio of regulated and 
contracted utilities with secure 
revenue characteristics. 
The energy utility sector 
is characterised by assets 
which generate strong revenue 
streams that can deliver stable 
and predictable operating cash 
fl ows. Portfolio diversifi cation 
across a number of energy 
sources and utility sectors, 
international markets and 
regulatory jurisdictions, and 
hedging of the fund’s interest 

rate exposures, further secures 
the performance and fl ow 
of distributions to DUET 
security holders.

During the past 12 months 
DUET has assessed a number 
of growth and expansion 
opportunities. Most of these 
have not met DUET’s return 
or portfolio investment criteria, 
but two, the expansion of the 
Dampier to Bunbury Natural 
Gas Pipeline (DBNGP) and the 
acquisition of Duquesne Light, 
represent outstanding growth 
opportunities.

Expansion of the Dampier to 
Bunbury Natural Gas Pipeline
The DBNGP Stage 4 expansion 
is now complete and the fi rst 
phase of the Stage 5 expansion 
– Stage 5A – has commenced. 
Stage 5A is scheduled to be 
completed in the fi rst quarter 
of 2009. Additionally, in August 
2007, the Dampier Bunbury 
Pipeline (DBP) confi rmed an 
extension to Stage 5A, to 
be called Stage 5A(2), which 
will deliver approximately an 
additional 40TJ/day.

DBP is anticipating signifi cant 
new demand for gas 
transportation as the Western 
Australian economy continues 
to grow at rates well ahead 
of the national average. 
The Stage 5A and 5A(2) 
expansion projects are 
based exclusively on long-
term contracted volumes 
and tariffs from existing and 
new shippers. The project is 
forecast to generate equity 
returns and cash yields that will 
be accretive to DUET’s overall 
fi nancial performance and to 
security holder distributions.

Acquisition of Duquesne Light
In July 2006, DUET 
announced its participation in 
a consortium that has since 
acquired Duquesne Light 
Holdings (Duquesne Light). 
Duquesne Light is an electricity 
utility based in Pittsburgh, 
Pennsylvania in the north-east 
of the United States (US). 

DUET has met its 
fi nancial, strategic and 
distribution targets 
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From the time DUET 
announced its participation 
in the consortium to acquire 
Duquesne Light, the asset 
has received the following 
regulatory determinations: 
distribution rate case; 
conditional transmission rate 
case; Provider of Last Resort 
(PoLR) rate case; and merger 
approval. These regulatory 
approvals were slightly ahead 
of DUET’s expectations and 
provide regulatory certainty 
for the company.

The transaction represents an 
outstanding opportunity for 
DUET and will be accretive 
for DUET security holders. It 
is our fi rst investment outside 
Australia and provides DUET 
with further diversifi cation by 
both geography and energy 
mix. DUET acquired its stake 
in Duquesne Light for US$300 
million and, after the Stage 
5A expansion of the DBP is 
completed, Duquesne Light 
will comprise approximately 
29% of DUET’s portfolio, 
based on invested capital.

DUET announced that in 
FY2008, the fi rst full year after 
acquisition, Duquesne Light 
would provide distribution 
accretion of at least 1.0 cent 
per stapled security. On 
1 May 2007 DUET announced 
distribution guidance of 27.0 
cents per stapled security 
for FY2008, representing an 
increase of 9.1% over the 
FY2007 distribution of 24.75 
cents per stapled security.

Restructure and 
quadruple staple
On 22 June 2007 DUET 
changed its structure from a 
triple to a quadruple-stapled 
structure. The change added 
DUET3 to the DUET structure 
and was described in detail in 
the information circular sent to 
all security holders in May 2007. 
The purpose of the restructure 
is to give qualifi ed DUET 
investors access to a domestic 
US interest withholding tax 
exemption for part of DUET’s 
investment in Duquesne Light. 
DUET3 holds the investor 
loan associated with DUET’s 
investment in Duquesne Light.

If you have not already done so, 
I encourage you to return the 
relevant US IRS form – available 
from Computershare – to 
ensure you can qualify for this 
tax exemption.

Sale of Alinta Limited (Alinta)
As a result of the recent sale 
of Alinta to a consortium 
comprising Babcock & Brown 
(B&B) and Singapore Power 
International (SPI) (together the 
Consortium), some changes 
are mooted to occur at DUET’s 
Australian assets. These 
changes are in relation to the 
minority ownership interests 
for United Energy Distribution 
(UED), Multinet Group Holdings 
(MGH or Multinet) and DBP, and 
the majority ownership interest 
for Alinta Network Holdings Pty 
Limited (ANH), together with the 
provision of asset management 
services for these assets. The 
Consortium has indicated 
that it intends to split asset 
management between Western 
Australia and the eastern states 
of Australia, with Babcock 
& Brown Infrastructure (BBI) 
taking control of the Western 
Australian asset management 
contracts and SPI taking control 
of the eastern states contracts. 
Additionally, the minority interest 
in UED will be transferred to SPI, 
while BBI will take ownership of 
Alinta’s stake in the other assets 
co-owned with DUET.

As a result of these changes, 
and as released to the market 
on 31 July 2007, UED and 
Multinet have been asked to 
consent to a change in control 
of Alinta Asset Management 
from Alinta to SPI. DBP and 
ANH have been asked to 
consent to the novation of 
their Operating Services 
Agreements from SPI to BBI. 
DUET continues to pursue 
our pre-emptive rights which 
arise for UED.

DUET is keen to resolve these 
issues with Alinta, BBI and 
SPI on the basis that the 
assets can continue to provide 
a high quality of service and 
performance, at no increase 
in cost, and to ensure that 
the rights which arise from 
the Alinta sale for DUET 
security holders and the asset 
companies are protected.

DUET remains committed to 
growing value for our security 
holders. We will continue 
to focus on managing and 
developing our portfolio of 
assets to create value and 
generate stable, predictable 
and growing distributions to 
our security holders.

Thank you for your ongoing 
support.

Yours sincerely

Philip Garling
Chairman 

AMPCI Macquarie 
Infrastructure Management 
No.1 Limited

AMPCI Macquarie 
Infrastructure Management 
No.2 Limited 

DUET Investment 
Holdings Limited

We have secured two 
attractive growth prospects 
in 2006–2007
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Highlights

DBNGP compressor station

4



5

July 2006
– DUET announced its proposed 

US$300 million acquisition of a 
29% stake in Duquesne Light, an 
electricity utility in Pittsburgh, US. 

August 2006
– DUET acquired an initial 7.7% 

shareholding in Duquesne Light.

– DUET completed its 
restructure and triple staple.

September 2006
– DBP announced the 

commitment to the Stage 5A 
expansion project.

– Duquesne Light reached 
settlement with all parties for 
its distribution rate case.

October 2006
– Multinet was awarded a 

construction permit for the 
South Gippsland pipeline 
expansion.

November 2006
– DUET announced increased 

distribution guidance of 
24.5 cents per stapled security.

December 2006
– Duquesne Light received 

approval from the Pennsylvania 
regulator for its distribution 
rate case.

– Duquesne Light shareholders 
voted overwhelmingly in favour 
of the proposed acquisition by 
the DUET-led consortium.

January 2007
– The DBP Stage 5A expansion 

commenced.

February 2007
– DBP announced the offi cial 

opening of the Stage 4 
expansion.

April 2007
– DBP announced the extension 

to the Stage 5A expansion, 
Stage 5A(2).

– The Pennsylvania Public Utility 
Commission announced 
approval of the acquisition of 
Duquesne Light.

– DUET announced distribution 
guidance for FY2008 of 27.0 
cents per stapled security.

May 2007
– DUET announced details of its 

capital raising to partly fund the 
acquisition of Duquesne Light 
and to fund its commitment 
to the Stage 5A expansion of 
the DBNGP.

– DUET released details of the 
restructure of DUET securities 
to staple DUET3 to the existing 
entities in the DUET Group.

– The DUET-led consortium 
completed the Duquesne 
Light acquisition.

June 2007
– DUET released the product 

disclosure statement and 
prospectus associated with 
the A$350 million equity raising 
entitlement offer.

– DUET completed the 
institutional component of 
the equity raising. 

– DUET completed its restructure 
and quadruple staple.

July 2007
– DUET announced that in the 

period 1 January 2007 to 
30 June 2007, the DUET 
accumulation index 
outperformed the Benchmark 
S&P/ASX200 Industrials 
Accumulation Index by 23.2%. 
After taking into account the 
carried forward defi cit, this 
outperformance results in a 
performance fee payable to 
AMP Capital Holdings and 
Macquarie Bank Limited (the 
50/50 joint managers of DUET), 
of A$42.6 million.

– DUET completed the retail 
component of the equity raising. 

DUET Group Annual Report 2007



Investment Objectives 
and Strategy

 DUET invests in energy 
utility assets with strong 
competitive positions 
that offer predictable 
cash fl ows

Duquesne Light
substation
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 DUET’s investment strategy is 
to invest in energy utility assets 
in OECD countries which: 

–  Have established historical 
or contracted volume levels

– Are governed by regulatory 
regimes or have long-term 
supply agreements

– Have strong competitive 
positions and sustainable 
cash fl ows  

– Have experienced operators 
who are able to manage risk 
and improve operating 
effi ciency. 

 These characteristics underpin 
the payment of stable and 
predictable distributions to 
security holders. 

Although DUET’s geographic 
focus is principally Australia 
and New Zealand, DUET 
will also invest in energy 
utility assets in other OECD 
countries, as evidenced by 
our investment in Duquesne 
Light. DUET seeks signifi cant 
shareholdings in assets, 
enabling DUET to infl uence 
the key strategic, operating 
and commercial decisions 
affecting its assets.

DUET is uniquely placed to 
participate in future energy 
sector rationalisation and 
opportunities by virtue of its: 

–  Access to the resources and 
networks of the AMP Group 
and Macquarie Bank Group, 
including access to capital, 
deal origination and structuring 
expertise

– Exclusive arrangements with 
AMP Capital Holdings 
(AMPCH) and the Macquarie 
Bank Group to refer new 
investment opportunities 
in energy utility assets in the 
energy utility sector in Australia 
and New Zealand

– Partnership approach to 
working with existing asset 
owners to monetise or provide 
capital for expansion of their 
assets 

– Flexible approach to working 
with different operators and 
asset owners.

7

1. Multinet 11.6%
2. AlintaGas Networks 2.1%
3. Dampier to Bunbury Natural 

Gas Pipeline 34.7%
4. Duquesne Light** 28.7%
5. United Energy Distribution 

22.9%

 Asset mix*

1. Gas distribution 13.7%
2. Electricity transmission/

distribution 51.6%
3. Gas transmission 34.7%

1. Pennsylvania, United States 
28.7%

2. Western Australia, Australia 
36.8%

3. Victoria, Australia 34.5%

 Geographic mix*

*  Based on the 
30 June 2007 
fi nancial statements 
carrying value for 
DUET investments 
adjusted for the 
Stage 5A expansion 
excluding SOLA debt.

**  Investment held via 
DUET’s 29% interest 
in DQE Holdings.

 Energy mix*
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1

1
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2
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With the addition of 
Duquesne Light to the 
portfolio, approximately 
85% of DUET’s revenues 
will be regulated or 
subject to long-term 
contracts



CEO’s Report

DUET has a 
portfolio of 
fi rst-class energy 
infrastructure 
assets

The DUET portfolio and 
its underlying assets have 
performed well over the period to 
30 June 2007. Compared to the 
prior year, DUET Group revenue 
was up 10.1%, Group EBITDA 
before specifi c items* was up 
4.7%, Group net result before 
specifi c items and income tax 
was up 8.0% and importantly, 
DUET parent revenue, which is 
effectively the distributions that 
the listed entity has received, 
increased 12.4%.

As a result of this continued 
strong performance, DUET 
has been able to achieve 
distribution growth of between 
5% and 6% per annum 
since listing in August 2004. 
Distribution guidance for the 
2008 fi nancial year of 27 cents 
per stapled security (cps) was 
announced representing an 
increase of over 9% on the 
2007 distribution of 24.75 cps. 
DUET’s total shareholder return 
over the period 1 July 2006 to 
30 June 2007 was over 48%.

The DUET portfolio comprises 
investments in premium quality 
gas and electricity distribution 
and transmission assets in 
Victoria and Western Australia, 
and now includes a 29% stake 
in Duquesne Light, a regulated 
electricity transmission and 
distribution utility based in 
Pittsburgh, US.

DUET, through its day-to-day 
interaction with its asset 
management teams and 
through participation on 
asset company boards, has 
had a successful year 
highlighted by strong fi nancial 
performance and the 
achievement of a number of 
important milestones.

United Energy Distribution (UED)
UED has performed strongly 
this year as a result of increased 
demand for electricity.

Following the fi nal determination 
of the Essential Services 
Commission (ESC) on the 
2006 Electricity Distribution 
Price Review (EDPR), the tariffs 
for UED have been set until 
January 2011, giving a high 
degree of certainty for UED’s 
revenues over this period. 

Multinet Group Holdings 
(Multinet)
Multinet has two important 
expansion projects currently 
under way. In November 2004 
Multinet was awarded the 
A$24 million Yarra Ranges 
project which is on time and 
within budget. The laying of 150 
kilometres of distribution mains 
was completed in June 2007.

In August 2005 Multinet was 
awarded the A$50 million South 
Gippsland expansion project. 
The South Gippsland expansion 
has commenced with 
construction of its transmission 
pipeline and is expected 
to be completed on time. 
Ultimately the project will see 
250 kilometres of pipeline pass 
11,300 potential customers. 

In March 2007 Multinet made 
its submission to the ESC for its 
rate review which will take effect 
on 1 January 2008. The draft 
decision was provided in August 
2007 and the fi nal decision is 
expected to be handed down in 
November 2007.

Dampier Bunbury Pipeline 
The A$433 million Dampier to 
Bunbury Natural Gas Pipeline 
(DBNGP) Stage 4 expansion 
project was commissioned on 
21 February 2007. The project 
was completed on time and 
on budget. 

The Stage 4 expansion has 
contributed to the growth of 
production capacity in Western 
Australia and is the fi rst major 
expansion of the pipeline since 
commissioning in 1985. In 
addition, it satisfi es DUET‘s 
undertaking to the Western 
Australian Government, given 
at the time of acquisition, to 
expand the pipeline.

In May 2006 DBP announced 
that the DBNGP Stage 5 
expansion – to meet the state’s 
growing energy needs – should 
be developed on a staged 
basis. Construction of the fi rst 
phase, Stage 5A, commenced 
in early 2007. Stage 5A is a 
A$660 million project which will 
add approximately 100TJ/day 
of additional transmission 
capacity to meet shippers’ 
newly contracted volumes.

In April 2007 DBP announced 
that, as a result of additional 
fi rm capacity requests, it was 
investigating further expansion of 
the pipeline. In August 2007 DBP 

8
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performance fees, 
FX losses associated 
with Duquesne Light, 
revaluation of initial 
investment in DLH, fair 
value of FX contracts, and 
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announced that the Stage 5A(2) 
expansion had been confi rmed 
and is expected to provide 
approximately an additional 40TJ/
day full haul capacity and be 
commissioned over 2009–2010.

During the year DBP completed 
the refi nancing of its capital 
expenditure facility for the 
Stage 4 expansion project.

AlintaGas Networks (AGN)
Continued population growth 
in and around Perth has 
underpinned the expansion 
of the AGN gas distribution 
network. Western Australia 
has enjoyed Australia’s highest 
growth rate fuelled by rising 
resource prices and growth 
in demand from China.

Duquesne Light
In July 2006 DUET announced 
its participation in a consortium 
that has since acquired 
Duquesne Light, an electricity 
utility based in Pittsburgh, 
Pennsylvania, US. The 
transaction was approved by 
both the Pennsylvania Public 
Utility Commission (PaPUC) and 
the Federal Energy Regulatory 
Commission (FERC) and 
completed on 31 May 2007. 

This is an exciting acquisition 
for DUET. DUET has invested 
a total of US$300 million, 
representing a 29% equity 
interest in the consortium. 

Duquesne Light provides 
essential electricity distribution 
and transmission services to 
around 587,000 customers 
in and around Pittsburgh. 
Approximately 78% of calendar 
2006 EBITDA was earned 
from regulated activities. In 
December 2006 Duquesne 
Light received a distribution 
rate case determination, 
granting approval for a revenue 
increase of US$117 million p.a. 
Duquesne Light has also fi led 
an application requesting a 
transmission revenue increase 
of US$27 million with the US 
Federal regulators responsible 
for setting the regulated 
tariffs for these businesses. 
A conditional determination 
was received in February 
2007, which allowed Duquesne 
Light to commence charging 
customers at the increased 
tariff. Both the distribution 
and conditional transmission 
rate cases took effect on 
7 January 2007.

Duquesne Light may 
present important growth 
opportunities for DUET 
through the transmission 
sector of its business, with 
the US Federal Government 
providing attractive incentives 
for substantial investment in 
transmission infrastructure. 
Additionally, Duquesne Light is 
strategically located between 
the generation-rich states of 
Ohio, Indiana and Kentucky 
and the high electricity usage 
states of New York and District 
of Columbia.

The acquisition is consistent 
with DUET’s investment 
mandate and objectives, and 
adds further diversifi cation 
and growth opportunities to 
the portfolio. The transaction 
provides DUET with 
international portfolio exposure, 
with Duquesne Light making 
up approximately 29% of the 
fund’s total assets.

DUET is represented on the 
Duquesne Light Holdings 
board and participates on 
the Duquesne Light executive 
management committee. 
In addition, the ownership 
consortium has engaged 
US-based asset managers 
to assist in the management 
of the investment.

Interest rate hedging
DUET’s fi nancial strategy 
is to minimise volatility 
of distributions caused 
through interest rate rises. 
DUET’s majority-owned 
asset companies hedge, 
as a minimum, 80% of their 
outstanding senior debt 
commitments under these 
senior debt facilities. In 
addition, in August 2006, 
UED and MGH hedged their 
subordinated debt for the 
period to the next regulatory 
reset. Multinet will be entering 
into hedges once the outcome 
of the current regulatory reset 
is fi nalised. These hedging 
policies reduce the potential 
impact of interest rate rises 
affecting DUET’s profi ts and 
distributions.

Outlook
FY2008 will be an important 
period in the development 
of the DUET portfolio, with 
the addition of Duquesne 
Light into the portfolio and 
the continued expansion 
of DBNGP. The Stage 5A 

expansion is due to be 
progressively commissioned 
over 2007–2008 with fi nal 
commissioning scheduled 
to occur by the fi rst quarter 
of 2009.

Multinet has lodged its gas 
access arrangement review 
submission with the ESC 
and anticipates publication 
of the fi nal decision in 
November 2007, with tariffs 
effective on 1 January 2008.

The ESC has retained 
jurisdiction over the 2007 
regulatory review for Multinet 
prior to handover to the 
national Australian Energy 
Regulator (AER) who will 
oversee future regulatory 
decisions. We anticipate that 
the formation of the AER will 
lead to greater consistency 
and predictability in future 
regulatory decisions, replacing 
a number of state-based 
regulatory bodies.

Subject to fi nalisation of the 
required system specifi cations, 
UED expects to commence 
the roll-out of interval meters 
which will allow electricity 
consumption to be recorded in 
30-minute intervals. This may 
enable UED to introduce new, 
more fl exible tariff structures, 
and will give customers the 
ability to respond to pricing 
signals, enabling them to reduce 
their overall cost of electricity. 

The strong outlook for the 
DUET portfolio is refl ected 
in the FY2008 distribution 
guidance of 27 cents per 
stapled security.**

We will continue to selectively 
target opportunities to invest 
in quality energy utility assets 
which meet our investment 
criteria and add value for our 
security holders.

Yours sincerely

Peter Barry
Chief Executive Offi cer
DUET Group

9

**  Distribution guidance is 
subject to change from 
the impact of any material 
changes in DUET’s 
forecast assumptions.



Portfolio Overview

 Dampier Bunbury 
Pipeline

AlintaGas 
Networks

United Energy Distribution 
transformer
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United Energy 
Distribution

Multinet Group 
Holdings

Duquesne 
Light Holdings
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Portfolio Snapshot 

DBP operates the only gas 
transmission pipeline 
connecting the natural gas 
reserves of the Carnarvon and 
Browse basins with customers 
in Perth and the surrounding 
regions. These gas reserves 
are estimated to be in the 
order of 120,000PJ. In 2006 
the annual production was 
approximately 1,000PJ.

Natural gas provides nearly 
half of Western Australia’s total 
primary energy requirements.

DBP has fully contracted the 
capacity for the pipeline and 
has commenced construction 
of the Stage 5A expansion 
which will add 100TJ/day of 
full haul capacity.

*  Reducing to 60% as the 
other investors pay up 
their partly-paid equity.

**  Contribution to the 
DUET parent includes 
dividends, distributions 
and interest paid 
(or accrued).

Length of pipeline
Mainline — 1,596km 
Laterals — 258km 

Current full haul capacity 
685TJ/day

Next regulatory reset date 
January 2011

Financials for the year ended 
30 June 2007 

Revenue A$250 million

EBITDA A$182 million

Contribution to the DUET parent**
A$56.8 million

AGN is the largest distributor of 
natural gas in the fast growing 
south-west region of Western 
Australia, and currently 
supplies gas to the majority of 
Western Australian households.

Approximately 90% of AGN’s 
mains are under 30 years of age.

Length of network 
12,200km

Area of network 
1,352km2

Connections 
574,763 

30 June 2007 load 
30.7PJ 

Next regulatory reset date 
January 2010

Financials for the year ended 
30 June 2007

Net profi t after tax 
A$15.7 million

Contribution to the DUET parent**
A$11.7 million

 Dampier Bunbury 
Pipeline
62.1% interest*

AlintaGas 
Networks
25.9% interest 
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Multinet is the largest of the 
three gas distributors in Victoria 
and distributes approximately 
one-third of Victoria’s annual gas 
load (by customer numbers).

Gas use in Melbourne 
households is the highest in 
Australia and Multinet provides 
gas to 95% of households in its 
distribution area.

Approximately 60% of 
Multinet’s mains are under 
30 years of age — the 
projected lifespan of Multinet’s 
assets exceeds 50 years.

*** DUET’s interest in the 
consortium is subject to 
various rights in favour 
of the other consortium 
members. Those rights 
include provisions which 
treat it as having offered 
to sell all of its interest 
to the other members 
at fair market value if 
a change of control 
occurs (including if 
the responsible entity 
for DUET is removed 
or replaced, or the 
Macquarie Group and 
the AMP Group cease 
to hold at least 40% (in 
aggregate, irrespective 
of each party’s individual 
interest) of the shares in 
the responsible entity or 
manager for DUET).

UED’s electricity distribution 
area is largely urban, giving it 
a strategic intensity advantage; 
it covers around one quarter 
of Victoria’s population but only 
approximately 1% of Victoria’s 
land area.

UED has achieved a 
diverse customer base with 
consumption relatively evenly 
spread between residential, 
commercial and industrial 
customers.

Approximately 65% of UED’s 
distribution lines are under 
30 years of age and the 
projected lifespan of UED’s 
assets exceeds 40 years.

Length of network
12,402km

Area of network 
1,450km2

Connections 
614,382

30 June 2007 load  
7,881GWh

Next regulatory reset date
January 2011

Financials for the year ended 
30 June 2007

Revenue A$420 million

EBITDA A$253 million

Contribution to the DUET parent**
A$67.1 million

Length of network
9,515km

Area of network
1,940km2

Connections
649,247

30 June 2007 load
57.3PJ

Next regulatory reset date
January 2008

Financials for the year ended 
30 June 2007

Revenue A$167 million

EBITDA A$123 million

Contribution to the DUET parent**
A$30.8 million

Duquesne Light is an energy 
utility based in Pennsylvania, US. 
It provides electricity 
distribution and transmission 
services to approximately 
587,000 customers in a service 
territory of over 2,072 square 
kilometres in the Pittsburgh and 
surrounding regions.

Duquesne Light has been a 
committed, Pittsburgh-based 
public service provider and 
community partner for over 
125 years, providing the 
region with a reliable, safe and 
effi cient electricity service.

Overhead distribution
26,425km

Underground distribution
3,701km

Distribution transformers 
108,000

Substations
627

Peak load
2,686MW

Customers
587,000

Net generation
108MW

Contribution to the DUET parent**
A$11.6 million

United Energy 
Distribution
66% interest

Multinet Group 
Holdings
79.9% interest

Duquesne 
Light
29% interest***
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Duquesne Light Holdings

Duquesne Light Holdings 
owns and operates an 
electricity transmission 
and distribution network 
which serves approximately 
587,000 customers in Pittsburgh 
and the surrounding Beaver 
and Allegheny counties in 
Pennsylvania, US

Duquesne Light 
transmission lines

14
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 Asset description 
Duquesne Light Holdings 
(Duquesne Light or the DLH 
Group) is an energy utility 
based in Pennsylvania, US. 
It provides electricity 
distribution and transmission 
services to approximately 
587,000 customers in a service 
territory of over 2,072 square 
kilometres in Pittsburgh and 
surrounding regions. 

The DLH Group comprises 
a core regulated electricity 
distribution and transmission 
business (Duquesne Light 
Company (DLC)), along with 
several affi liated unregulated 
businesses. The table below 
summarises the DLH Group’s 
seven major business units.

Duquesne Light has been 
servicing the energy needs of 
Pittsburgh and surrounding 
regions continuously for over 
120 years and, as at 30 June 
2007, has approximately 
1300 employees.

Seven major business units in the DLH Group 

Business DLH subsidiary Description

Electricity distribution Duquesne Light Company (DLC)  Exclusive provider of electricity 
distribution services in the 
network service area

Electricity transmission DLC  Exclusive provider of electricity 
transmission in the network 
service area

Retail electricity supply Duquesne Light Energy (DLE)  Sells electricity to customers 
    and DLC both under the regulated 
     energy supply business 
     as PoLR and as an unregulated 
     alternative supplier of electricity

    Duquesne Power  Provides electricity to DLE 
and DLC

Electricity generation Duquesne Generation Company  Owns a 2.5% interest (42MW) 
and a 3.8% interest (66MW) 
in two coal-fi red electricity 
generating plants

Energy solutions Duquesne Energy Solutions Operates synthetic fuel 
     facilities

Financial  DQE Financial  Owns interests in leveraged 
leases and other fi nancial 
interests

Communications DQE Communications  Owns and operates a high 
speed, fi bre optic network in 
the network service area
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Duquesne Light Holdings
continued

In addition to providing 
distribution and transmission 
networks, DLC has a statutory 
obligation to supply electricity 
to PoLR customers within its 
network area, which is regulated 
by PaPUC. In the 12 months to 
31 December 2006 DLC 
provided over 6,100GWh to 
PoLR customers. In addition, 
DLC has a competitive 
business selling power to 
large commercial and 
industrial customers.

Revenue streams
The Duquesne Light 
businesses provide stable 
regulated revenue with 
approximately 78% of calendar 
year 2006 EBITDA earned from 
regulated activities. These 
activities include the provision 
of transmission and distribution 
services for the transport of 
electricity and the provision of 
energy to customers under its 
PoLR obligations.

Key investment attributes
The acquisition of Duquesne 
Light provides signifi cant 
benefi ts to DUET through:

– Diversifying DUET’s geographic 
exposure

– Diversifying DUET’s asset 
portfolio by acquiring an 
additional distribution network 
and a transmission network

– Diversifying DUET’s exposure 
to regulatory regimes, with 
Duquesne Light being regulated 
by PaPUC for distribution 
services and FERC for 
transmission services

– Delivering long-term stable 
cash fl ows from Duquesne 
Light’s regulated businesses.

Duquesne Light is an 
established business in the 
Pittsburgh region and has 
been providing energy to 
customers in the area 
since 1903.
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Financial summary

     Six months to Six months to
US$ million 30 June 2007 30 June 2006

Total revenue 529.3 448.2

EBITDA 174.4 110.3

Key Events
Merger Approval

– In December 2006 Duquesne 
Light shareholders approved 
the merger agreement for the 
acquisition of Duquesne Light 
by a DUET-led consortium (the 
consortium).

– In April 2007 Duquesne Light 
received merger approval from 
PaPUC for its acquisition by the 
consortium.

Rate Cases
–In December 2006 Duquesne 

Light received approval of its 
distribution rate case, which 
provided for an additional 
US$117 million in annual 
distribution revenue.

– In February 2007 FERC 
issued a conditional order on 
the transmission rate case, and 
new transmission rates were 
retroactively implemented as 
of 7 January 2007.

– In June 2007 PaPUC approved 
the PoLR rate case for the 
period January 2008 to 
December 2010. The PoLR rate 
case provides further certainty 
with regard to Duquesne 
Light’s revenues.



Dampier Bunbury Pipeline

The Dampier to Bunbury 
Natural Gas Pipeline is 
Western Australia’s principal 
gas transmission pipeline 
linking the North West 
Shelf with Perth and the 
surrounding areas

DBNGP compressor station

18
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Development and 
growth potential
Natural gas consumption 
in Western Australia has 
increased by 4% a year over 
the past 10 years. Following 
the completion of the 
Stage 4 expansion, the 
Stage 5A expansion is currently 
under construction to further 
increase pipeline capacity. The 
additional fi rm full-haul capacity 
from the expansion has already 
been contracted to shippers 
under long-term contracts.

Gas reserves in Western 
Australia’s North West Shelf are 
estimated to be in the order of 
120,000PJ, or approximately 
80% of Australia’s known 
gas reserves. The annual 
production in 2006 was 
approximately 1,000PJ.

Key events
Completion of the Stage 4 
pipeline expansion project
Construction of the Stage 4 
pipeline expansion was 
completed on time and on 
budget. This was the largest 
expansion undertaken since 
construction of the pipeline 
was completed in 1985.

Revenue streams
Almost all of DBP’s revenue 
comes from gas transportation 
tariffs. The tariffs are charged 
to wholesale and retail 
customers for the shipping of 
gas along the pipeline. DBP has 
entered into standard long-term 
contracts with the major 
shippers – other than Alcoa – 
using the pipeline and, under 
these contracts, approximately 
80% of the tariff is paid 
on a capacity reservation 
basis (take-or-pay), with the 
remaining 20% depending 
on the actual throughput of 
the pipeline. 

Alcoa, as the foundation 
shipper, has an evergreen 
contract with tariff agreements 
that differ from other shippers.

Key investment attributes
Predictable revenue
DBP has entered into long-term 
contracts with shippers using 
the pipeline, ensuring stable and 
predictable revenues with tariff 
agreements in place until 2019. 

Competitive position
The DBNGP is Western 
Australia’s principal gas 
transmission pipeline, and 
the only pipeline connecting 
the North West Shelf with 
industrial, commercial and 
residential customers in 
Perth and the surrounding 
regions. Natural gas supplies 
approximately 51% of total 
primary energy consumption 
in Western Australia.

 Asset description
The DBNGP is a natural gas 
pipeline connecting the natural 
gas reserves of the Carnarvon 
and Browse basins on Western 
Australia’s North West Shelf 
with customers in Perth and 
the surrounding regions. The 
pipeline runs from the Burrup 
Peninsula, near Dampier, to 
Bunbury in the south-west 
of the state.

The Dampier to Kwinana 
section of the pipeline was 
built by the State Energy 
Commission of WA (SECWA) 
with the support of Alcoa, 
and was commissioned in 
1984. The extension south to 
Bunbury was commissioned 
in 1985.

The group of companies which 
owns and operates the pipeline 
trades under the name of 
Dampier Bunbury Pipeline (DBP). 
In October 2004 DUET and 
consortium partners purchased 
DBP, and at 30 June 2007 
DUET held a 62.1% economic 
interest in DBP*. DUET has a 
60% voting interest in DBP.

*  DUET’s economic interest 
will reduce to 60% as the 
other investors pay up to 
their partly-paid equity.
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Dampier Bunbury Pipeline
continued

Access arrangement
DBP has entered into long- term 
gas transportation contracts 
until at least 2019 with major 
gas shippers on the pipeline. 
However, it is still a requirement 
under the Western Australian gas 
regulatory regime that proposed 
access arrangement revisions 
are lodged with the Economic 
Regulatory Authority (ERA) for 
its approval approximately every 
fi ve years. During 2005, DBP 
prepared revisions to the access 
arrangement that were approved 
in December 2005, when the 
ERA released its fi nal approval. 
The reference tariffs do not 
presently apply to the existing 
gas transportation contracts.

ACCC compliance
In 2004 DBP and its unit 
holders – including DUET 
– made an undertaking to 
the Australian Competition 
and Consumer Commission 
(ACCC) regarding, among 
other things, ringfencing 
of shipper information and 
non-discriminatory treatment 
of shippers. Annual audits 
of compliance with these 
undertakings have been 
undertaken and no breaches 
by DBP were identifi ed.

Stage 5A pipeline 
expansion project
Construction of the DBNGP 
Stage 5A expansion 
commenced in January 2007 
and the fi rst incremental gas 
from the expansion is expected 
to be available in March 2008. 
Full capacity is expected to 
be available in the fi rst quarter 
of 2009.

This expansion involves the 
construction of approximately 
570 kilometres of looping on 
the existing pipeline. Looping is 
the duplication of the pipeline in 
sections to provide incremental 
capacity. In addition, some 
existing compressor stations 
will be modifi ed to manage the 
additional volume of gas.

Stage 5A will add 
approximately 100TJ/day 
capacity to the pipeline. All 
of this additional capacity is 
supported by long-term gas 
transportation contracts.

Stage 5A(2) expansion
DBP announced in August 2007 
the further expansion of the 
pipeline, Stage 5A(2). Stage 5A(2) 
will increase capacity by 
approximately 40TJ/day on 
top of the increased capacity 
provided by the Stage 5A 
expansion.

The 5A(2) expansion is 
supported by long-term gas 
transportation contracts, and is 
expected to be commissioned 
during 2009–2010.
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2007 performance
In the year ended 30 June 2007, DBP reported revenues of A$250 million and EBITDA of A$182 million. 
Based on its paid-up equity interest for the period, DBP contributed A$56.8 million to the DUET parent.

Financial summary

     Year to Year to
A$ million 30 June 2007 30 June 2006

Total revenue 250 223

EBITDA 182 159

EBIT  142 122

Net profi t after tax* -9 -4

Total assets 2,986 2,697

Net assets** 493 451

Net capex 335 286

Operational overview

     30 June 2007 30 June 2006

Throughput PJs 284 271

*  Net profi t after tax is 
shown before fi nance 
changes attributable 
to security holders for 
2006 only.

**  Excluding security holder 
interests classifi ed as debt 
for 2006 only.
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Multinet

Established commercial 
position 
Multinet is an established gas 
distributor within its service 
area and receives revenues 
for each energy consumer 
connected to its distribution 
network, irrespective of which 
retailer sells the gas to that 
customer.

Revenue base 
Multinet’s top 250 gas users 
collectively account for only 
around 2% of total distribution 
revenue. As a result, the 
potential for a negative impact 
on revenue from the loss of a 
major user is very low.

Revenue streams
Approximately 89% of Multinet’s 
total revenue comes from 
distribution tariffs. Distribution 
tariffs are charged to customers 
for connection to, and use of, 
Multinet’s distribution system. 
Growth in distribution revenue 
is driven by regulated tariff 
charges and volume growth.

Other revenue, approximately 
11% of Multinet’s total revenue, 
comes from the provision of 
regulated services such as 
meter reading, mains and 
services provision, and meter 
data management.

Key investment attributes
Regulated revenue
Multinet’s distribution business 
provides predictable, regulated 
revenues. The access 
arrangements which regulate 
distribution tariffs apply for fi ve 
years. The next reset date for 
Multinet’s access arrangement 
is 1 January 2008.

 Asset description
Multinet is a Victorian gas 
distribution company with 
a network covering 1,940 
square kilometres of the east 
and south-east suburbs of 
Melbourne. Multinet is currently 
expanding its geographic base 
through participation in the 
State Government’s natural gas 
extension program. Multinet’s 
distribution network transports 
gas from Victoria’s high 
pressure transmission network 
to residential, commercial and 
industrial gas users.

2007 performance 
In the year ended 30 June 2007, Multinet reported revenue of A$167 million and EBITDA of 
A$123 million. During the period Multinet contributed A$30.8 million to the DUET parent.

Financial summary

     Year to Year to
A$ million 30 June 2007 30 June 2006

Distribution revenue 148 147

Total revenue 167 172

EBITDA 123 130

EBIT  81 85

Net profi t after tax 13 23

Total assets 1,302 1,282

Net assets 190 201

Net capex 59 52
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Key events 
Yarra Ranges extension project 
In November 2004, Multinet 
was selected by the Victorian 
State Government to deliver 
natural gas to nine townships 
in the Yarra Valley region. The 
project includes constructing 
new distribution networks, 
including 150 kilometres of 
supply and distribution mains, 
passing 6,000 potential new 
customers.

The project is nearing 
completion and is within 
budget, with over 2,000 
properties connected.

South Gippsland expansion 
project 
In early August 2005 Multinet 
tendered for and won the 
South Gippsland gas 
expansion project. This project 
is also part of the Victorian 
State Government’s natural 
gas expansion program, 
and will bring reticulated gas 

to fi ve towns in the South 
Gippsland region. The project 
involves further expansion of 
Multinet’s network including 
construction of approximately 
300 kilometres of transmission, 
supply and distribution mains, 
passing 11,300 homes and 
businesses. 

Multinet has commenced 
construction of both the 
transmission pipeline and the 
distribution pipeline works. 
Design has been completed 
for the fi ve towns and land 
acquisition is currently 
progressing on schedule.

These projects are expected 
to promote signifi cant 
economic activity within these 
two geographical regions. 
Multinet currently expects 
that both projects will meet 
connection forecasts and will 
be completed to schedule.

Pipeworks project
Multinet’s program to upgrade 
selected low-pressure pipes 
in the network commenced in 
2003 and continued through the 
2006–2007 fi nancial year. The 
program aims to replace more 
than 500 kilometres of existing 
cast iron and steel pipe mains 
with polyethylene pipes, and 
includes approximately 24,500 
customer connections/renewals. 

The project is scheduled for 
completion by 2008 and, 
for the year ended 30 June 
2007, 123 kilometres of pipe 
were replaced and work is 
proceeding ahead of schedule.

The pipeworks project is 
a subset of a longer-term 
program to replace all low 
pressure cast iron pipe over the 
next 25 years. The key drivers 
of this program are to reduce 
asset maintenance, improve 
supply reliability, reduce 
greenhouse gas emissions and 
improve public safety. 

 Natural gas extension projects 
    Yarra Ranges South Gippsland

Total budget A$24 million A$50 million (approx.)

Towns  9 5

City gates 2 3

Transmission pipeline n/a 66km

Supply mains 30km 28km

Distribution mains 120km 210km

Properties passed 6,000 11,300

 Operational overview Year to Year to
    30 June 2007 30 June 2006

Network connections

Tariff V residential 632,261 626,317

Tariff V business 16,714 16,840

Tariff D 272 274

Total  649,247 643,431

Usage – TJ  

Tariff V 42,627 46,111

Tariff D 14,685 13,776

Total  57,312 59,887
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United Energy Distribution

Key investment attributes
Regulated revenue 
UED’s distribution business 
produces predictable, 
regulated revenues. The price 
determinations which regulate 
the majority of these revenues 
apply for periods of fi ve years. 

Established commercial position
UED is an established 
electricity distributor within 
its service area and receives 
revenues for each consumer 
connected to its distribution 
network, irrespective of which 
retailer sells the electricity to 
that customer.

Diverse consumer base
Energy consumption in UED’s 
distribution area is evenly 
spread across residential, 
commercial and industrial users 
making UED less vulnerable to 
variations in energy use in any 
one of these areas.

Revenue streams
Approximately 88% of UED’s 
total revenue comes from 
network tariffs. Network tariffs 
are charged for use of UED’s 
distribution network and for 
the use of the transmission 
grid. The tariffs are charged 
to electricity retailers, who 
pass these costs on to their 
customers. Growth in network 
tariff revenue is driven by 
volume growth and regulated 
network tariff charges.

Other revenue, approximately 
12% of UED’s total revenue, 
comes from services which 
UED provides to its customers, 
such as relocating assets at 
the request of our customers, 
building new or extending 
existing distribution networks, 
providing public lighting to local 
council areas, and pole rental.

 Asset description
UED’s electricity distribution 
network covers 1,450 square 
kilometres of south-east 
Melbourne and the Mornington 
Peninsula. The distribution 
network transports electricity 
from the high voltage 
transmission network to 
residential, commercial and 
industrial electricity users. 
UED’s distribution area is 
largely urban and, although 
geographically small (about 
1% of Victoria’s land), it 
accounts for around one 
quarter of Victoria’s population.

2007 performance 
In the year ended 30 June 2007, UED reported revenue of A$420 million and EBITDA of A$253 million. 
During the period, UED contributed A$67.1 million to the DUET parent. 2007 revenue has increased 
marginally over the prior year as a result of increased network connections and growth through the 
network service area. This is an excellent result given that 2006 revenues include six months at the 
higher pre-reset tariffs. UED’s earnings and total capex were also up marginally on last year. 

Financial summary

     Year to Year to
A$ million 30 June 2007 30 June 2006

 Distribution revenue 370 367

Total revenue 420 412

EBITDA 253 251

EBIT  184 180

Net profi t after tax 26 24

Total assets 2,152 2,066

Net assets 91 75

Total capex 120 101



25DUET Group Annual Report 2007

Key events
2006 EDPR
In October 2005 the Victorian 
ESC issued its fi nal decision 
on the 2006 EDPR for UED. 
The ESC’s fi nal determination 
resulted in signifi cantly higher 
tariffs and revenues than those 
indicated in its earlier draft 
decision.

UED’s regulated revenue base 
is now set through to January 
2011, providing stable revenues 
and predictable distributions 
to DUET.

Interval metering 
UED plans to implement the 
installation of smart meters 
as mandated by the Victorian 
Government. This will involve 
the replacement of the old style 
meters with the new smart 
meters on a set timetable 
and will require a signifi cant 
enhancement of the UED 
information systems to process 
the increased amount of data. 

These smart meters will enable 
UED to remotely read the 
meters, and will allow electricity 
to be recorded in 30-minute 
blocks. This will enable the 
introduction of innovative, 
more fl exible tariff structures 
to reduce peak power 
consumption and costs, and 
potentially to provide customers 

with pricing information on a 
real-time basis. Customers will 
therefore be able to respond to 
pricing signals so as to reduce 
their overall cost of electricity. 
Other benefi ts of smart meters 
can include rapid detection of 
outages, enhanced monitoring 
of quality of supply, detection 
of meter tampering, remote 
connection of electricity 
services, information on more 
suitable electricity pricing plans 
and a point in time display of 
greenhouse gas emissions.

UED is currently anticipating 
receipt of formal advice from 
the Victorian Government 
and the ESC to implement the 
smart meter program and has 
commenced investigations 
into the supply and 
implementation of the new 
equipment. UED is undertaking 
costing and design studies 
as well as proceeding with 
equipment trials for the smart 
meter project.

Should the Government 
proceed with its plan, 
commencing in 2008 UED will 
be progressively installing more 
than 630,000 smart meters 
together with the necessary 
infrastructure and IT systems 
required to support them.

Bushfi re mitigation
Under Victorian law, UED is 
required to prepare a bushfi re 
mitigation plan each year 
and carry out inspections of 
overhead electricity lines in 
bushfi re areas and on private 
property. The plans must 
outline a maintenance regime 
to inspect and repair electricity 
infrastructure to minimise the 
risk of powerlines starting fi res. 
Accordingly, each year, UED’s 
management team identifi es the 
bushfi re mitigation measures 
required for UED’s network 
infrastructure sites. Each site is 
inspected regularly to determine 
the maintenance and mitigation 
activities to be undertaken when 
the bushfi re season begins. 
The program aims to achieve a 
bushfi re mitigation index of zero 
for the duration of the declared 
bushfi re season.

Operating services agreement
The operating services 
agreement with Alinta Asset 
Management provides for 
the operating services fee 
to be reset from 1 July 2006. 
The renegotiation is currently 
under way. 

Operational overview

     Year to Year to
    30 June 2007 30 June 2006

 Network connections

Small (residential and unmetered) 557,724 554,661

Medium size business 54,261 52,858

Commercial and industrial 2,397 2,055

Total  614,382 609,574

Electricity load – GWh  

Small tariff 3,008 2,982

Medium tariff 1,542 1,504

Large tariff 3,330 3,337

Total electricity load 7,881 7,823

Distribution network statistics  

Overhead (km) 10,112 10,165

Underground (km) 2,289 2,365

Underground (%) 18.5 18.9

Maximum demand (MW) 1,735 1,632

SAIFI (Number of interruptions) 0.96 1.14

MAIFI (Number of interruptions) 0.98 1.52

SAIDI (Minutes) 74 76

CAIDI (Minutes) 62 54
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AlintaGas Networks

Competitive position
AGN is the largest gas 
distributor in Western Australia, 
with new connection growth 
averaging around 4% p.a. 
over the last 10 years. 

Diverse consumer base 
Gas consumption in 
AGN’s distribution area is 
predominantly for large 
industrial and residential 
purposes. Together, these two 
user groups account for more 
than 80% of total network 
throughput. 

Favourable economic 
conditions
AGN’s strong Western 
Australian industrial connection 
base provides exposure to one 
of Australia’s strongest regional 
economies. AGN continues 
to see signifi cant residential 
customer growth as a result of 
the strong economic growth. 
AGN is also well positioned to 
take advantage of the broader 
fl ow-through benefi ts from the 
current resources boom.

Key events
Access arrangement
The current access 
arrangement was approved 
by ERA on 10 August 2005, 
and covers the period from 
1 January 2005 to 
31 December 2009. 
The next regulatory reset 
date is 1 January 2010. 

Revenue streams
Most of AGN’s revenue is 
derived from the largest 
of its networks – the 
mid-west and south-west 
gas distribution system (GDS) 
covering greater metropolitan 
Perth. Approximately 95% of 
AGN’s total revenue comes 
from distribution tariffs. 
Distribution tariffs are charged 
to customers for connection 
to, and use of, AGN’s 
distribution system. Growth in 
distribution revenue is driven 
by regulated tariff charges, 
changing customer demand 
and volume growth from new 
connections. Prices are set 
within a regulatory framework 
as network tariffs by the ERA.

Key investment attributes
Predictable revenue 
AGN’s distribution business 
provides predictable, regulated 
revenues. The new access 
arrangements, fi nalised 
in August 2005, regulate 
distribution tariffs for its largest 
GDS until 31 December 2009. 
The next reset date for this 
access agreement is 
1 January 2010. The distribution 
licences for AGN’s GDS are in 
force until 2021. 

 Asset description
AGN owns, operates and 
holds distribution licences for 
four gas distribution systems 
in Western Australia. These 
networks supply natural gas 
to residential, commercial 
and industrial customers in 
metropolitan Perth, Geraldton, 
Bunbury, Busselton and 
Kalgoorlie-Boulder and 
liquefi ed petroleum gas (LPG) 
to Albany.

AGN is the largest distributor 
of natural gas in Western 
Australia and services over 
500,000 customers including 
households and a range 
of commercial customers. 
The customers are all supplied 
gas through its four gas 
distribution networks. AGN’s 
networks include approximately 
12,200 kilometres of underground 
pipelines covering an area of 
approximately 1,352 square 
kilometres.
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2007 performance 
DUET owns 25.9% of Alinta Network Holdings Pty Limited (which owns 100% of AGN) and equity 
accounts this stake. In the year ended 30 June 2007 ANH contributed A$11.7 million to the DUET parent. 

Financial summary

     Year to Year to
A$ million 30 June 2007 30 June 2006

Net profi t after tax 15.7 21.9

Dividend distribution 15.5 14.5

Subordinated debt interest 7.7 7.3

 Operational overview

Network connections 574,763 554,050

Usage – TJ 30,675 32,339

Priority emergency response 100% 100%



Environmental and Social Responsibility Management

DUET fi rmly believes that 
investment in infrastructure is 
fundamentally positive. Social, 
environmental and economic 
benefi ts arise from experienced 
private-sector investment in the 
construction, development and 
operation of high-quality 
infrastructure. Such infrastructure 
underpins many important 
social and economic 
developments, helps people to 
travel, trade and communicate, 
and improves the quality of 
their lives through the provision 
of important services. 

As well as the benefi ts of 
infrastructure, DUET is 
aware of the potential for 
infrastructure projects to 
have adverse consequences 
such as noise, pollution, the 
altering or displacement of 
natural environments and even 
displacement of population. 
As a signifi cant owner, 
developer and operator of 
energy utility assets, DUET 
is conscious that its operations 
and investments confer 
responsibilities, as a result 
of the essential services 
provided by those assets. 
Environmental impacts 
arise from impacts – both 
positive and negative – on 
natural resources and social 
responsibilities arise from 
impacts on the community, 
customers, employees and 
investors.

DUET’s approach to 
environmental and social 
responsibilities is set out in its 
board policy. This policy forms 
part of DUET’s overarching 
risk management framework 
in accordance with principle 
7 of its corporate governance 
statement. 

In general, it is DUET’s policy 
to ensure compliance within 
the regulatory framework and 
the minimum standards under 
which an asset operates. 
DUET’s environmental and 
social responsibilities are 
managed throughout the 
investment process as follows:

Asset selection 
Environmental and social 
responsibilities are reviewed 
as part of the acquisition due 
diligence process. Where they 
exist, regulatory obligations are 
viewed as minimum standards 
for environmental and social 
responsibility management 
post-acquisition. The policy 
outlines key steps to be 
undertaken during the due 
diligence phase, including 
engaging an appropriate 
environmental expert 
consultant to identify issues 
and obligations relating to the 
asset (where relevant). 

Ongoing asset management 
DUET’s ability to control 
or infl uence the ongoing 
environmental and social 
responsibility management 
at each asset differs, based 
on its level of investment and 
the regulatory framework 
that governs those issues. 
Importantly, the regulatory 
framework is not controlled 
by DUET or its assets. 
DUET does exert infl uence 
wherever possible via its 
board representation. Regular 
asset board reporting enables 
compliance with environmental 
requirements to be monitored 
and environmental and social 
responsibility issues to be 
identifi ed. 

Stakeholder reporting 
In recognition of the 
importance of environmental 
and social responsibility 
management, it is DUET’s 
policy to report annually on 
environmental and social 
responsibility management, 
including a summary of its 
policy and key responsibilities, 
current initiatives being taken 
by DUET and/or controlled 
assets, and a statement on 
regulatory compliance during 
the reporting period. 

Key environmental and social 
responsibility factors 
Following a review of 
the specifi c regulatory 
requirements and agreements 
related to each asset, 
DUET has identifi ed its key 
environmental and social 
responsibility factors as: 

– Construction impact 
management

– Safety of supply 

– Reliability of electricity 
and gas supply 

– Commitment to service 

– Management of assets 
containing polychlorinated 
biphenyls (PCBs) 

– Oil and chemical spill response

– Electric and magnetic fi eld 
management and enquiries 

– Noise management 

– Recycling and waste 
management 

– Flora and fauna management 

– Occupational health and safety 

– Community relations. 

28
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Environmental and social 
responsibility-related 
initiatives at DUET assets 
during FY2007

United Energy – Advanced 
Metering Infrastructure 
UED is actively progressing 
with its planning for the 
deployment of Advanced 
Metering Infrastructure (AMI) 
which will be mandated by 
the Victorian Government. 
The AMI program (formerly 
known as Advanced Interval 
Meter Roll Out) will require 
the installation of a smart 
meter at the premises of each 
UED customer over a four-
year period starting in late 
2008. The capabilities of the 
AMI are intended to enable 
electricity retailers to provide 
customers with greater choice 
over their energy usage. This 
increased customer choice has 
the potential to reduce peak 
demand and consumption 
resulting in an overall reduction 
in energy bills and greenhouse 
gas emissions. 

UED is now close to completing 
trials of AMI technologies 
and products as part of the 
Victorian Government’s AMI 
technology trials. Over the 
coming months UED will be 
undertaking more detailed 
design and planning for the 
new infrastructure including 
communications networks and 
information systems.

Multinet – Gas to new customers
Multinet currently has two 
major gas extension projects 
to bring natural gas to new 
customers in the Yarra Ranges 
and South Gippsland as part of 
the Victoria State Government’s 
natural gas extension program. 
The new distribution networks 
will culminate in over 
400 kilometres of new 
transmission, supply and 
distribution mains, bringing 
natural gas to approximately 
16,000 households.

Natural gas is a competitively 
priced, safe and reliable 
fuel which provides instant 
and controllable heat for 
households in cooking, heating 
and hot water. Research 
has shown that natural gas 
is a clear winner in reducing 
greenhouse gas emissions 
in the residential sector. 
The emissions from a natural 
gas ducted space heater are 
one-third of those produced 
using coal generated electricity. 
Similarly, emissions from gas 
hot water systems are less than 
electric water heating and can 
even be lower than electric 
boosted solar water heaters.

The Yarra Ranges extension 
project is near completion with 
over 170 kilometres of pipe 
laid and over 2,300 properties 
connected to natural gas. 
The construction part of the 
project will be completed nearly 
12 months ahead of schedule.

The South Gippsland 
extension project has 
commenced construction 
on the transmission pipeline 
and is near completion. 
The distribution mains in 
one township are also near 
completion. To date over 
80 kilometres of transmission, 
supply and distribution 
mains have been laid in 
South Gippsland with the 
fi rst customer planned for 
natural gas connection by 
the end of 2007.

Multinet Group Holdings 
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Environmental and Social Responsibility Management
continued

DBNPG – Golden Gecko Awards
The Golden Gecko Awards 
have grown to become the 
most prestigious awards for 
environmental excellence in 
the Western Australian mineral 
and petroleum industries.

Inaugurated in 1992, the 
awards recognise environmental 
excellence and leadership 
in responsible resource 
development. They also 
acknowledge a company’s or 
an individual’s commitment to 
go beyond basic environmental 
compliance to promote 
responsible development 
and to improve environmental 
performance across the State’s 
resource industry. To be 
considered for an award, 
nominees must demonstrate 
innovation and leadership or 
set a new standard for the 
mineral or petroleum industry.

The DBNGP Stage 4 
Expansion Project, completed 
in December 2006, has been 
nominated for the 2006 Awards 
based on excellence and 
innovation in environmental 
practice in fauna handling, 
data recording and dune and 
riverbed crossing management 
and reinstatement.

Following a detailed assessment 
process for nominees, the 
Golden Gecko selection 
committee recommends award 
recipients to the WA Minister 
for Resources who will present 
the Golden Gecko Awards in 
September 2007. 

AlintaGas Networks – 
Safety Bay Road, Baldivis 
In undertaking the maintenance 
and expansion of the Western 
Australian gas distribution 
network, AGN’s operating 
contractor Alinta and all its 
subcontractors rigorously 
follow the environmental 
requirements of current 
legislation as it applies to the 
works program. Generally this 
includes, but is not limited 
to, those requirements of 
the applicable local shire or 
council, the Department of 
Environment and Conservation 
(DEC), the Roadside 
Conservation Committee 
(RCC), the Utility Providers 
Code of Practice (UPCOP) and 
all other relevant government 
regulations covering workplace 
health, safety and environment. 

A new HP pipeline was installed 
starting from the corner of 
Warnbro Sound Avenue and 
Safety Bay Road, Waikiki 
travelling east along Safety Bay 
Road and terminating at the 
corner of Arpenteur Road and 
Safety Bay Road, Baldivis.

The Safety Bay Road 
project was subject to the 
Environmental Protection 
(Clearing of Native Vegetation) 
Regulations 2004 (WA). In line 
with the requirements of these 
regulations, a botanical survey 
of the area was undertaken and 
a native vegetation clearing 
permit sought from the DEC 
prior to any works. All works 
were undertaken in accordance 
with the requirements of the 
permit with all clearing being 
confi ned to the road reserve. 

Environmental management 
systems maintained
DUET is committed to 
minimising any impacts 
its assets may have on 
the environment. This is 
demonstrated through its 
association with Alinta as a 
signatory to the Australian 
greenhouse challenge program 
and the Electricity Supply 
Association of Australia’s code 
of environmental practice.

All of DUET’s Australian 
asset company operations 
are managed under an 
environmental management 
system externally certifi ed 
to the International Standard 
ISO 14001 through contracted 
arrangements with Alinta.
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*  Falling to 60% as calls 
are made for partly 
paid equity.

DUET Structure

 As at 30 June 2007 DUET 
consisted of four stapled 
entities, comprising three 
registered managed investment 
schemes, DUET1, DUET2 and 
DUET3, and a limited liability 
company, DUET Investment 
Holdings Limited (DIHL).

DUET1 and DUET2 were 
established on 26 June 2003 as 
wholesale unit trusts and were 
subsequently registered as 
managed investment schemes 
with ASIC on 16 June 2004. 
DUET3 was established on 
19 April 2007 and registered 
with ASIC on 3 May 2007. 
DIHL was established on 
29 June 2006.

Each stapled security consists 
of one unit in DUET1, one unit 
in DUET2, one unit in DUET3 
and one share in DIHL. Units 
in DUET1, DUET2 and DUET3 
and shares in DIHL are stapled 
together so that one cannot 
be transferred, or otherwise 
dealt with, without the others. 
Essentially, the stapled 
securities are treated as 
one security.

The responsible entity of 
DUET1 and manager of 
DIHL is AMPCI Macquarie 
Infrastructure Management 
No.1 Limited (RE1). The 
responsible entity of DUET2 
and DUET3 is AMPCI 
Macquarie Infrastructure 
Management No.2 Limited 
(RE2). Both responsible entities 
are jointly owned (50:50) by 

AMP Capital Holdings Limited 
(AMPCH) and Macquarie 
Bank Limited (MBL). AMPCH 
also owns 100% of AMP 
Capital Investors Limited 
(AMP Capital), the responsible 
entity of the POWERS Trust. 

Assets ownership and 
management
DUET’s current assets are:

– 66.0% interest in United Energy 
Distribution

– 79.9% interest in Multinet 
Group Holdings

– 25.9% interest in AlintaGas 
Networks

– 62.1%* interest in the Dampier 
Bunbury Pipeline

– 29% interest in DQE Holdings.

The balance of the equity in 
United Energy Distribution, 
Multinet Group Holdings and 
AlintaGas Networks is held by 
Alinta Limited. In the case of 
the Dampier Bunbury Natural 
Gas Pipeline, Alinta Limited and 
Alcoa of Australia Limited are 
the minority interest holders.

The Australian assets are 
held by the wholly owned 
subsidiaries of United Energy 
Distribution Holdings Pty 
Limited (UED), Multinet Group 
Holdings Pty Limited (MGH), 
Alinta Network Holdings Pty 
Limited (ANH) and DBNGP 
Trust, respectively (each an 
asset holding company).

Alinta Asset Management 
(AAM), a wholly owned 
subsidiary of Alinta Limited, 
provides operating and 
maintenance services to the 
assets on a day-to-day basis 
under separate operating 
services agreements.

Pacifi c Indian Energy Services 
Pty Limited (PIES), a company 
which is jointly owned by UED, 
MGH and ANH, provides day-
to-day management services 
to UED, MGH and ANH under 
the management services 
agreements with each of the 
companies. 

AMP Capital provides fi nancial 
services to UED and MGH.

DQE Holdings is the consortium 
vehicle established to acquire 
all of Duquesne Light Holdings, 
of which DUET has a 29% 
interest. DQE Holdings acquired 
Duquesne Light Holdings on 
31 May 2007.

DUET management is actively 
involved in the governance 
and management of its asset 
companies. DUET executives 
serve on the boards of each of 
DUET’s asset companies and 
are active members of the asset 
management committees, 
executive committees and audit 
and risk committees of each 
company. DUET executives 
also participate in management 
steering committees, overseeing 
major capital works, change 
programs and regulatory 
submissions, and contribute 
to all major commercial and 
strategic decisions.

DUET structure as at 30 June 2007

POWERS
Trust

DIHL DUET1 DUET2 DUET3

Stapled security holders RE2RE1

POWERS 
RE

POWERS
holders

Shares Units Units Units

Responsible entity

Manager

Responsible
entity

POWERS

Ordinary 
units

Responsible
entity

Loan to DUET1 
and DUET2

DUET Group
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The DUET responsible entities 
are jointly owned by AMPCH 
and MBL, giving DUET access 
to the combined infrastructure 
expertise and investment 
management resources of the 
MBL Group and AMPCI.

The board of each responsible 
entity consists of fi ve 
directors, three directors being 
independent of AMPCH and 
MBL (six independent directors 
in total), and one representative 
of each of AMPCH and MBL 
(common to each of the 
responsible entities and DIHL).

The DIHL board consists of fi ve 
directors, three directors being 
independent of AMPCH and 
MBL and sourced from the RE1 
and RE2 boards.

The MBL Group and the 
AMP Capital Group have each 
seconded experienced staff 
with expert knowledge of, 
and experience in, the energy 
utility sector to the DUET 
management team, and will 
supply other resources to the 
responsible entities as required.

AMP Capital is the preferred 
adviser for debt and debt 
advisory work in relation to 
certain assets owned by DUET, 
and MBL and Macquarie 
Equity Capital Markets Limited 
are the preferred advisers 
for acquisitions/divestitures 
and additional equity raising, 
respectively, in relation to DUET.

Funding
The funding structure of DUET 
and the ranking of various 
stakeholders in its existing 
assets are illustrated in the 
diagram below.

The POWERS Trust has lent 
funds to DUET1 and DUET2 
under the First Onlending 
Agreements (FOLAs). DUET1 
and DUET2, in turn, have onlent 
these funds to the asset holding 
companies under the Second 
Onlending Agreements (SOLAs). 

Senior lenders are paid interest 
and repaid principal as a fi rst 
priority. Subject to payment 
obligations and covenants 
owed to senior lenders being 
met, DUET1 and DUET2 
receive distributions from 
the asset holding companies 
via payments of interest on 
the SOLAs and payments 
of interest and dividends 
on equity securities. In turn, 
DUET1 and DUET2 meet their 
payment obligations to the 
POWERS Trust (and ultimately 
POWERS Holders) under 
the FOLAs. Once payment 
obligations to the POWERS 
Trust are met, residual funds 
are available to be paid as 
stapled unit distributions.

DUET funding structure

Senior lenders

DUET stapled
security holders

POWERS holders 
via POWERS Trust

Stapled securities

Proceeds of FOLA

Senior debt

Equity

Subordinated debt

Funds providers

DUET

Capital structure of 
asset owing groups

Funds fl ow
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Relationship of POWERS 
Trust with DUET
The POWERS Trust, a 
sub-trust of DUET1 and 
DUET2, is a registered 
managed investment scheme 
which was established in June 
2003 to raise A$415 million 
for the purpose of providing 
fi nancing to DUET1 and 
DUET2. A subsequent issue 
of A$155 million of POWERS 
was made in December 2004 
for the purpose of providing 
funding for the acquisition of 
DUET’s interest in the DBNGP. 
POWERS are preferred, 
cumulative, exchangeable, 
redeemable reset units in the 
POWERS Trust.

There are two classes of 
units in the POWERS Trust: 
POWERS ordinary units (which 
are not quoted on the ASX) and 
POWERS, which are preferred 
units of the POWERS Trust 
(which are quoted on the ASX). 
DUET1 and DUET2 own all the 
POWERS ordinary units.

AMPCI is the responsible 
entity of the POWERS Trust. 
Under the FOLAs the POWERS 
Trust has onlent DUET1 and 
DUET2 funds raised from the 
issue of POWERS. An amount 
of A$405 million has been 
onlent to assist DUET1 and 
DUET2 to provide shareholder 
subordinated funding to 
each of the UED, Multinet 
and AGN groups and A$150 
million to provide shareholder 
subordinated funding to the 
DBP Group.

Key features of the relationship 
between the POWERS Trust 
and DUET are as follows:

Repayment of FOLAs
The ability of the POWERS 
responsible entity to meet its 
obligations to POWERS holders 
(including redemption on their 
10-year maturity) depends on 
payments under the FOLAs 
being made by DUET1 and 
DUET2.

Exchange of POWERS
POWERS holders may request 
the POWERS responsible 
entity to exchange some or 
all of their POWERS by giving 
an exchange notice in certain 
circumstances, including:

– On a POWERS reset date, or

– Where an exchange event 
occurs.

An exchange event is the 
occurrence of any of the 
following events:

– Termination of, or winding up 
of, the POWERS Trust or of 
DUET1 or DUET2; change of 
control via an informal scheme 
of arrangement of DUET1 or 
DUET2; sale by either of RE1 
or RE2 of all or substantially 
all of DUET’s assets; delisting 
of POWERS or acceleration of 
at least two of the SOLAs if 
there are outstanding POWERS 
distributions, or

– Non-payment of a POWERS 
distribution for more than 20 
business days; a takeover of 
DUET; or delisting of DUET 
from ASX.

If the POWERS responsible 
entity receives an exchange 
notice it must, at its option, 
do one of the following:

– Redeem the POWERS for the 
POWERS redemption amount 
for exchange, so that they may 
be exchanged into DUET 
stapled securities

– Arrange a third party to acquire 
the POWERS for the POWERS 
redemption amount, or

– Redeem and cancel the 
POWERS for the POWERS 
redemption amount.

To the extent that exchange 
in the above circumstances 
results in the issue of stapled 
securities, the stapled 
securities will be issued at a 
discount of 5% (or as otherwise 
determined in accordance 
with the POWERS terms) to a 
volume weighted average price 
of stapled securities over a 
20 business day period 
preceding the date of exchange 
(or other relevant trigger date).

Distribution stopper
Whilst any POWERS are still 
outstanding, payments of 
interest and principal to the 
POWERS Trust under the 
FOLAs will have priority over 
payment of income and capital 
to investors. DUET cannot 
make any cash distributions 
to DUET security holders if 
POWERS distributions have not 
been paid to POWERS holders.

Security
DUET1 and DUET2 have 
granted security over their 
loans to, and interests in, the 
asset holding companies to 
the POWERS Trust to secure 
its loans under the FOLA.

Restrictions on issuers
DUET has agreed to certain 
other restrictions. These 
include an obligation not to 
allow a prepayment of, or 
amendment to, the SOLAs, 
or to waive compliance with 
the SOLAs unless the 
POWERS responsible entity 
has agreed.

Takeover
If a takeover bid is made for the 
stapled securities DUET must 
use all reasonable endeavours 
to ensure that there is an 
equivalent takeover offer made 
to POWERS holders.



Corporate Governance Statement

Legal framework
DUET is a quadruple stapled 
structure. The entities which 
currently comprise DUET are 
three Australian trusts and an 
Australian public company:

– DUET1 

– DUET2

– DUET3, and

– DIHL.

The securities of the four 
entities in the DUET structure 
are stapled together and 
quoted as one on the Australian 
Securities Exchange (ASX). 
As a result, the securities 
cannot be traded separately. 

DUET1, DUET2 and DUET3 are 
Australian registered managed 
investment schemes. The 
combined trustee/manager, 
known as a Responsible 
Entity, of DUET1 is RE1. The 
Responsible Entity of DUET2 
and DUET3 is RE2. The 
Responsible Entities are owned 
50% by AMPCH and 50% by 
Macquarie Bank Limited (MBL). 
Currently the only business of 
the Responsible Entities is to 
manage DUET. The Responsible 
Entities are responsible for the 
overall corporate governance of 
DUET including all investment 
and divestment decisions, 
asset and capital management, 
fi nancial reporting and investor 
communications and meetings. 
They are also responsible for 
overall corporate governance of 
DUET and the general protection 
of security holders’ interests. 

DIHL is an Australian public 
company and is advised by 
RE1 in its personal capacity. 
The DIHL Board is responsible 
for DIHL’s operational 
activity and overall corporate 
governance in the same 
way that the Responsible 
Entities are responsible for 
the Australian trusts. Under 
the terms of the Management 
Services Agreement appointing 
RE1 as manager, RE1 makes 
recommendations to DIHL 
in respect of prospective 
investments and profi tability of 
DIHL’s investments and advises 
on general capital management 
for DIHL. 

The Corporations Act, ASX 
Listing Rules, the DUET 
constitutions, the shareholders 
agreement between AMPCH 
and MBL and the general law 
regulate the workings of DUET 
and the essential practices, 
responsibilities and duties of 
the Responsible Entities and 
their offi cers. 

Registry services are provided 
by Computershare Investor 
Services Pty Limited 
ABN 48 078 279 277 and 
custodial services by Trust 
Company Limited 
ABN 59 004 027 749 
(in respect of DUET1) and 
Perpetual Trustee Company 
Limited ABN 42 000 001 007 
(in respect of DUET2 and DUET3). 

DIHL and the Responsible 
Entities (RE1 as responsible 
entity of DUET1 and in its 
personal capacity as manager 
of DIHL), have entered into a 
Stapling Deed which governs 
cooperation, investment policy 
and the making of investments, 
capital raising, borrowings, 
fi nancial reporting, continuous 
disclosure and certain other 
administrative matters for the 
four stapled entities with a view 
to ensuring consistency in the 
management of DUET. The 
MBL and AMP groups have 
each seconded experienced 
staff with expert knowledge 
of, and expertise in, the 
energy utility sector to the 
DUET management team and 
provide other resources to the 
Responsible Entities/manager.

As at 30 June 2007, DUET’s 
portfolio investments are split 
between the four entities in the 
following proportions:

– DUET1 – 29.86%

– DUET2 – 42.29%

– DUET3 – 12.68%

– DIHL – 15.17% 

What you can fi nd on our 
website (www.duet.net.au):

– DUET1, DUET2, DUET3 and 
DIHL constitutions.

DUET’s approach to 
corporate governance
The DUET boards are 
committed to DUET seeking 
to achieve superior fi nancial 
performance and long-term 
prosperity, while meeting 
stakeholders expectations of 
sound corporate governance 
practices. This statement 
outlines DUET’s main corporate 
governance practices as at 
30 June 2007. Unless 
otherwise stated, they 
refl ect the practices in place 
throughout the fi nancial year 
ending on that date. 

The boards determine the 
corporate governance 
arrangements for DUET. 
As with all its business 
activities, DUET is proactive 
in respect of corporate 
governance and puts in place 
those arrangements which 
it considers are in the best 
interests of DUET and its 
security holders and consistent 
with its responsibilities to 
other stakeholders. It actively 
reviews Australian and 
international developments 
in corporate governance.

DUET is part of the stable of 
MBL Group managed vehicles 
and is jointly managed with the 
AMP Group but managed within 
the MBL Investment Banking 
Funds division. Accordingly, 
in setting the corporate 
governance framework the 
DUET boards have also 
undertaken to comply with 
the MBL Funds Management 
Activity Policy (MBL Fund 
Policy). This policy has been 
devised by MBL to safeguard 
the interests of investors in the 
managed vehicles, which at 
times may confl ict with those of 
the MBL Group sponsors of the 
vehicles. 
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The key elements are as follows:

– Confl icts of interest arising 
between MBL managed 
vehicles and its related parties 
should be managed 
appropriately and, in particular:

 –  Related party transactions 
should be identifi ed clearly 
and conducted on arm’s 
length terms

 –  Related party transactions 
should be tested by reference 
to whether they meet market 
standards

 –  Decisions about transactions 
between MBL managed 
vehicles and MBL or its 
affi liates should be made by 
parties independent of MBL

– The boards of both the 
corporate vehicles and the 
management company/
responsible entity of the trusts 
of listed MBL Group managed 
vehicles which are stapled 
structures will comprise at least 
50% independent directors and 
at least one of the boards in 
each stapled structure will have 
a majority of independents

– The funds management 
business should be resourced 
appropriately. In particular:

 –  There is a separate MBL 
Investment Banking Funds (IBF) 
division and staff in this area 
should be dedicated to the 
funds management business, 
rather than to advisory or 
other activities of MBL

 –  All recommendations to the 
boards of MBL managed 
vehicles should be reviewed 
or prepared by IBF staff

 –  Each listed MBL managed 
vehicle that invests in 
operating assets or 
businesses should have its 
own managing director or 
chief executive offi cer

 –  Chinese Walls operate 
to separate MBL’s corporate 
fi nance, advisory and equity 
capital markets business 
from IBF.

DUET, as an MBL co-managed 
vehicle, has also applied these 
principles to transactions with 
entities in the MBL Group and 
AMP Group.

ASX Corporate 
Governance Principles
The ASX Corporate Governance 
Committee has Corporate 
Governance Principles and Best 
Practice Recommendations 
(the Principles) which are 
designed to maximise corporate 
performance and accountability 
in the interests of shareholders 
and the broader economy. The 
Principles encompass matters 
such as board composition, 
committees and compliance 
procedures. 

Details of the Principles can be 
viewed at: 

www.asx.com.au/supervision/
governance/index.htm. 

The Principles are not 
prescriptive, however listed 
entities (including DUET) are 
required to disclose the extent 
of their compliance with the 
Principles, and to explain 
why they have not adopted 
a Principle if they consider it 
inappropriate in their particular 
circumstances. 

DUET’s corporate governance 
statement is in the form of a 
report against the Principles 
as set out below. DUET’s 
corporate governance policies 
largely conform with the 
Principles. Any deviation is 
because of DUET’s externally 
managed structure and the 
requirements of the MBL Fund 
Policy. We have noted the 
differences in our reporting.

DUET Corporate 
Governance Statement
Principle 1: Lay solid 
foundations for management 
and oversight
Responsibility for corporate 
governance and the internal 
workings of DUET rests with 
the Responsible Entities and 
DIHL. The board of each 
Responsible Entity and DIHL 
has adopted a formal charter 
of directors functions and 
matters to be delegated to 
management, having regard 
to the recommendations in 
the Principles. 

These charters are an 
enhancement of board 
responsibilities previously 
disclosed in DUET Corporate 
Governance Statements, 
having regard to the 
recommendations in the 
Standards. An outline of the 
board charter for the DUET 
entities is set out as follows:

– Setting objectives, goals and 
strategic direction for 
management, with a view to 
maximising investor wealth

– Monitoring the implementation 
of DUET’s investment policy 

– Approving and monitoring 
the progress of major capital 
expenditure, capital 
management, acquisitions 
and divestures

– Adopting an annual budget

– Approval of the shareholder 
nominated Chief Executive 
Offi cer (CEO) and review of the 
performance of the CEO and, 
where appropriate, removing 
the CEO

– Approval of the shareholder 
nominated Chief Financial 
Offi cer (CFO) and the Chief 
Operating Offi cer (COO) and 
participating in the review of 
the performance of the CFO 
and COO and, where 
appropriate, replacing the 
CFO and COO

– Appointing and removing the 
company secretary

– Monitoring senior 
management’s performance 
and implementation of strategy, 
and ensuring appropriate 
resources are available 

– Reviewing and ratifying systems 
of risk management, compliance 
and codes of conduct

– Approving and monitoring 
fi nancial and other reporting 

– Setting the highest business 
standards and codes for 
ethical behaviour.

Full board meetings are held 
regularly and at least bi-monthly, 
and other meetings are called 
as required. Directors are 
provided with board reports in 
advance of board meetings, 
which contain suffi cient 
information to enable informed 
discussion of all agenda items. 
Each non-executive director of 
the Responsible Entities and 
DIHL has received a letter of 
appointment which details the 
key terms of their appointment. 
This letter includes all of the 
recommended matters in the 
Principles. 

What you can fi nd on our 
website:

– A summary of the RE1, RE2 
and DIHL board charters.
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Principle 2: Structure the board to add value
1. Composition 
AMPCI Macquarie Infrastructure Management No.1 Limited board 
of directors is comprised as follows:

Philip Garling – Chairman
Executive (appointed by AMPCH – 17 February 2004)
Director and Chairman

John Roberts – Director
Executive (appointed by MBL – 14 May 2004)
Director

Michael Lee – Director 
Independent (appointed 16 June 2004)
Director

Doug Halley – Director
Independent (appointed 13 February 2006)
Director

Emma Stein – Director 
Independent (appointed 16 June 2004)
Director 

AMPCI Macquarie Infrastructure Management No.2 Limited board 
of directors is comprised as follows:

Philip Garling – Chairman
Executive (appointed by AMPCH – 17 February 2004)
Director and Chairman

John Roberts – Director
Executive (appointed by MBL – 14 May 2004)
Director

Ron Finlay – Director
Independent (appointed 16 June 2004)
Director

Eric Goodwin – Director
Independent (appointed 16 June 2004)
Director

Duncan Sutherland – Director
Independent (appointed 16 June 2004)
Director 

DUET Investment Holdings Limited board of directors is 
comprised as follows:

Philip Garling – Chairman
Executive (appointed by RE2 – 29 June 2006) 
Director and Chairman

John Roberts – Director
Executive (appointed by RE1 – 29 June 2006)
Director

Doug Halley – Director
Independent (appointed by RE2 – 29 June 2006)
Director

Emma Stein – Director 
Independent (appointed by RE1 – 12 July 2006)
Director

Ron Finlay – Director
Independent (appointed by RE1 and RE2 – 4 August 2006)
Director

Profi les of these directors can be found on the DUET website 
and later in this report.

2. Appointment to the boards 
of the DUET Entities 
The following board 
composition and membership 
criteria have been adopted by 
the boards in consultation with 
MBL and AMPCH.

– Each Responsible Entity 
board comprises one director 
appointed by AMPCH, one 
director appointed by MBL 
and three independent 
directors. The AMPCH and 
MBL appointees are on the 
board of each Responsible 
Entity. Different independent 
directors are on the board of 
each Responsible Entity. 

– Under the DIHL constitution, 
RE1 in its personal capacity 
has been issued with an 
A Special Share (and has 
rights under the Management 
Services Agreement) which 
entitles it to appoint the 
directors constituting up to 
40% of the DIHL board. RE2 
as Responsible Entity of 
DUET2 has been issued with 
a B Special Share which 
entitles it to appoint director(s) 
constituting up to 40% of the 
DIHL board. RE1 and RE2 (in 
their capacity as Responsible 
Entity of DUET1 and DUET2 
respectively) have each been 
issued with a C Special Share, 
which entitles them to jointly 
appoint director(s) constituting 
up to 20% of the DIHL board. 

– Each board is to comprise a 
maximum of fi ve directors. 

– Each independent director 
must satisfy the independence 
criteria (summarised below).

– Each board is to be comprised 
of directors with an appropriate 
range of qualifi cations and 
experience.

– Any nominee of AMPCH 
or MBL may be removed by 
AMPCH or MBL, respectively.

– To ensure the board has the 
benefi t of regular new input 
and to avoid the potential for 
loss of objectivity over time, 
independent directors will 
retire after nine years.

36
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– The chairperson of each board 
will be the nominee director 
appointed by AMPCH for the 
fi rst three years from 
establishment of DUET and 
thereafter on each third 
anniversary the chairperson 
may be rotated such that the 
shareholder appointing the 
chairperson is not the 
shareholder appointing the 
DUET CEO. The shareholder 
appointing the chairperson 
will ensure that the person is 
of appropriate stature to act 
as chairperson.

The importance of having 
appropriately independent 
directors determined 
by objective criteria is 
acknowledged as being 
desirable to protect investor 
interests and optimise the 
fi nancial performance of DUET 
and returns to investors.

In determining the status of a 
director, the shareholders and 
boards of the Responsible 
Entities and DIHL have adopted 
the following standards of 
independence. 

An independent director is a 
director of the Responsible 
Entity or DIHL who is not a 
member of management (a 
non-executive director) and 
who qualifi es as an external 
director in accordance with 
Chapter 5C of the Corporations 
Act and who (subject to 
the satisfaction of the MBL 
Board Corporate Governance 
Committee and AMPCH) meets 
the following criteria: 

– Is not a substantial shareholder 
of MBL, AMP Limited (AMP), 
DUET or a company holding 
more than 5% of the voting 
securities of MBL, AMP or DUET

– Is not an offi cer of, or otherwise 
associated directly or indirectly 
with, a substantial shareholder 
of the Responsible Entity or a 
substantial shareholder holding 
more than 5% of the voting 
securities of MBL, AMP or DUET

– Has not, within the last three 
years, been:

 i.  Employed in an executive 
capacity by the Responsible 
Entity, DIHL, a MBL Group 
entity or an AMP Group entity

 ii.  A director of any such entity 
after ceasing to hold any such 
employment

 iii.  Is not a principal or employee 
of a professional adviser to 
the Responsible Entity, DIHL, 
DUET, MBL, AMP or other 
funds managed by the MBL 
Group or the AMP Group or 
where billings, in aggregate, 
exceed 5% of the adviser’s 
or consultant’s total revenues. 
A director who is a principal 
or employee of a professional 
adviser will not participate in 
any consideration of the 
possible appointment of the 
professional adviser and will 
not participate in the provision 
of any service by the 
professional adviser to the 
MBL Group or the AMP Group

– Is not a signifi cant supplier or 
customer of the Responsible 
Entity, DIHL, DUET, the MBL 
Group, the AMP Group or other 
funds managed by the MBL 
Group or the AMP Group, or an 
offi cer of or otherwise 
associated directly or indirectly 
with, a signifi cant supplier or 
customer. A signifi cant supplier 
is defi ned as one whose 
revenues from DUET, the MBL 
Group, the AMP Group and 
other funds managed by the 
MBL Group or the AMP Group 
exceed 5% of the supplier’s 
total revenue. A signifi cant 
customer is one whose amounts 
payable to DUET, the MBL 
Group, the AMP Group and 
other funds managed by the 
MBL Group or the AMP Group 
exceed 5% of the customer’s 
total operating costs.

– Has no material contractual 
relationship with the 
Responsible Entities, DIHL, 
or the MBL Group or the AMP 
Group other than as a director 
of the Responsible Entities or 
DIHL or a director of another 
MBL Group or AMP Group 
related responsible entity and/or 
special purpose vehicle board 

– Is not a director of more than 
two MBL Group or two AMP 
Group related responsible 
entity or special purpose 
vehicle board

– Has no other interest or 
relationship that could interfere 
with the director’s ability to act 
in the best interests of the 
Responsible Entity, DIHL, 
DUET, and independently from 
management of the MBL Group 
and the AMP Group. 

The standards of independence 
which have been applied are 
substantively similar to, but are 
not the same as, those which 
are suggested in the Principles. 

The principal area of difference 
is that the criteria are designed 
to achieve independence 
from each of DUET, the AMP 
Group and the MBL Group. 
The directors believe that the 
adoption of these independence 
criteria better refl ects the true 
nature of independence in the 
present circumstances and 
does not materially prejudice 
security holders. 

The ability of independent 
directors to serve on up 
to two separate managed 
vehicle boards is considered 
appropriate because the time 
commitment and level of 
remuneration for these roles 
is not so signifi cant as to 
compromise independence.

Under its externally managed 
structure and ASX waivers 
granted to DUET, all of the 
DIHL independent directors are 
appointed by the Responsible 
Entities (see detail below) 
rather than elected by security 
holders. The selection of 
appropriately experienced 
independent directors is 
seen by the MBL Group and 
AMP Group as an important 
contribution to DUET’s 
performance.

DUET considers that the 
independence of its directors, 
each of whom is a highly 
qualifi ed and reputable 
business person and 
professional who satisfi es 
the above criteria, does not 
depend on who appoints 
them but on their 
independence of mind, 
including an ability to 
constructively challenge and 
independently contribute to 
the boards.

Independent directors 
are asked to confi rm their 
independence status on 
appointment, on an annual 
basis and to notify at any 
time if they cease to satisfy 
the criteria. 
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The following guidelines apply 
to director selection and 
nomination: 

 i. Integrity

 ii.  Particular expertise (sector 
and functional) and the 
degree to which they 
complement the skill set of 
the existing board members

 iii.  Reputation and standing in 
the market 

 iv.  In the case of prospective 
independent directors actual 
(as prescribed by the above 
defi nition) and perceived 
independence from the MBL 
and AMP Groups.

The boards of the Responsible 
Entities and DIHL have not 
appointed a nomination 
committee. The Responsible 
Entities do not consider such 
a committee appropriate in 
circumstances where there 
are only two shareholders and 
it has adopted independence 
criteria set out above. It is 
considered that this process is 
suffi ciently transparent to justify 
not appointing a nomination 
committee. Further, DIHL has 
not a nomination committee 
because as a consequence of 
the management arrangements 
established for DIHL and its 
participation in the stapling 
arrangements with DUET1, 
DUET2 and DUET3, its 
directors are nominated by the 
Responsible Entities having 
regard to the board charter 
criteria and MBL Fund Policy 
requirements.

DIHL Special Shares 
The procedure for appointing 
the board of DIHL refl ects the 
inherent requirements of the 
stapling which exists between 
shares in DIHL and securities 
in DUET1, DUET2 and DUET3 
and the Management Services 
Agreement (between DIHL 
and RE1). 

As noted above, under the 
DIHL constitution, RE1 in its 
personal capacity has been 
issued with an A Special 
Share (and has rights under 
the Management Services 
Agreement) which entitles 
it to appoint the directors 
constituting up to 40% of 
the DIHL board. RE2 as 
Responsible Entity of DUET2 
has been issued with a B 
Special Share which entitles 
it to appoint director(s) 
constituting up to 40% of the 
DIHL board. RE1 and RE2 (in 
their capacity as Responsible 
Entity of DUET1 and DUET2 
respectively) have each been 
issued with a C Special Share, 
which entitles them to jointly 
appoint director(s) constituting 
up to 20% of the DIHL board. 

None of the A, B, or C Special 
Shares has any economic 
interest, which means that the 
holders of those shares are not 
entitled to any dividends and 
are only entitled to the paid-up 
capital of those shares on a 
winding up of DIHL. 

Of the present DIHL board:

– The RE1 appointed directors 
are John Roberts and 
Emma Stein

– The RE2 appointed directors 
are Philip Garling and 
Doug Halley

– The RE1 and RE2 jointly 
appointed director is 
Ron Finlay. 

The rationale for this approach 
is that in the stapled structure:

 i.  The provisions of the stapling 
deed between RE1 (as 
responsible entity of DUET1 
and manager of DIHL), RE2 
(as Responsible Entity of 
DUET2) and DIHL, and also 
the practical operation of the 
boards of the Responsible 
Entities and DIHL, are 
designed to ensure that there 
is consistent management 
and implementation across 
each of the three entities 
which comprise the DUET 
Group 

 ii.  The DIHL board has a 
suffi cient quorum of 
independent directors to vote 
on transactions with MBL 
Group and AMP Group 
companies 

 iii.  Under the Corporations Act 
(in respect of RE1 and RE2 as 
Responsible Entity) and the 
Management Services 
Agreement if security holders 
are not satisfi ed with the 
performance of the 
Responsible Entities and 
manager, RE1, they can be 
removed by ordinary security 
holder resolution.

3. Chairman 
The chairman of each board 
is Philip Garling. Philip is an 
executive of AMPCH and 
the director appointed by 
AMPCH, and as such does 
not satisfy the independence 
recommendation of the 
Principles. The joint venture 
arrangements require the 
Responsible Entities’ chairman 
to be an executive chairman 
given DUET1, DUET2 and 
DUET3 are externally managed 
trusts and MBL and AMP 
branded.

The right to appoint the 
chairman will be rotated 
between AMPCH and MBL 
so that the party who has 
not appointed the incumbent 
chairman may appoint the 
chairman for the next three 
years, provided the CEO is 
also rotated. 

The appointing shareholder 
is required to ensure that the 
chairman is of appropriate 
stature for a listed entity. 

The board charters for each 
of the Responsible Entities 
provide that all independent 
directors will meet at least 
once per year in the absence 
of management and at other 
times as they determine. 

4. Independent 
professional advice
The directors of the 
Responsible Entities and 
DIHL are entitled to obtain 
independent professional 
advice at the cost of the 
relevant trust or company  
subject to the estimated costs 
being fi rst approved by the 
chairman as reasonable. 

Corporate Governance Statement
continued
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Principle 3: Promote 
ethical and responsible 
decision making
The Responsible Entities, DIHL 
and their directors and seconded 
staff are required to act in 
accordance with the DUET Code 
of Conduct (Code) adopted by 
the board of each Responsible 
Entity and DIHL. The Code is 
based on the Code of Conduct 
established by MBL. The Code 
sets out principles and standards 
for the directors and executives 
in respect of practices necessary 
to maintain confi dence in DUET’s 
integrity, and the responsibility 
and accountability of individuals 
for reporting and investigating 
reports of unethical behaviour. 
The Code includes whistleblower, 
anti-corruption and dealing with 
governments and anti-money 
laundering policies. 

The Code also encompasses 
principles for compliance with 
legal and other obligations to 
DUET’s stakeholders, including 
security holders, employees, 
customers, and the broader 
fi nancial and other communities 
in which DUET operates. 

The Code is periodically 
reviewed and updated and the 
updated code adopted by the 
Responsible Entity and DIHL 
boards. The Code is distributed 
to all directors and staff and 
reinforced at induction and 
other training programs. 

A policy on securities dealings 
is in place under which 
directors of the Responsible 
Entities, DIHL and staff involved 
in the management of DUET 
are restricted in their ability 
to deal in DUET securities. 
Security trading by DUET 
directors, offi cers and staff is 
permitted only during four-week 
special trading windows 
following the release of 
DUET’s half-yearly and yearly 
fi nancial results, following the 
annual general meeting or 
lodgement with ASIC and ASX 
of a disclosure document for 
a capital raising or a cleansing 
statement for a rights issue. 

When trading cannot take 
place during the trading 
windows following results 
announcements, pending 
disclosure of signifi cant 
transactional activity being 
undertaken by DUET, a special 
four-week trading window may 
apply following an ASX release 
in respect of the transaction. 

Special arrangements will 
apply for the trading by 
associates of the Responsible 
Entities and DIHL of DUET 
securities issued in connection 
with performance fees. 
Standing instructions must be 
given to an MBL Group broker 
during a designated directors 
and staff trading window to sell 
at above a designated price 
with the trade to take place 
at any time in accordance 
with the instructions. Any 
instructions given will be on 
the basis that Chinese Walls 
are operating with the broker 
at all times during the currency 
of the instruction. Alternatively, 
the securities will be placed in 
a blind trust with an external 
broker during a trading window 
with irrevocable instructions to 
sell at above a designated price 
with the trade to take place at 
any time in accordance with 
instructions. 

What you can fi nd on 
our website:

– A summary of the Code

– A summary of the main 
provisions of the securities 
(windows) trading policy.

Principle 4: Safeguard integrity 
in fi nancial reporting
1. Audit and risk committees
Each of the Responsible 
Entities and DIHL has 
appointed an audit and 
risk committee comprising 
only independent directors 
and complying with the 
requirements of the Principles. 
They are currently comprised 
as follows: 

AMPCI Macquarie 
Infrastructure Management 
No.1 Limited audit and risk 
committee:

Doug Halley – Director 
(Committee Chairman) 
Independent (attended two 
of two meetings held)

Michael Lee – Director 
Independent (attended two 
of two meetings held)

Emma Stein – Director 
Independent (attended two 
of two meetings held)

AMPCI Macquarie 
Infrastructure Management 
No.2 Limited audit and risk 
committee: 

Duncan Sutherland – Director 
(Committee Chairman) 
Independent (attended two 
of two meetings held)

Ron Finlay – Director 
Independent (attended two 
of two meetings held)

Eric Goodwin – Director 
Independent (attended two 
of two meetings held)

DUET Investment Holdings 
Limited audit and risk 
committee:

Doug Halley – Director 
(Committee Chairman) 
Independent (attended the 
only meeting held)

Emma Stein – Director 
Independent (attended the 
only meeting held)

Ron Finlay – Director 
Independent (attended the 
only meeting held)

DIHL held only one audit 
and risk committee meeting 
during 2007 as it was only 
incorporated on 29 June 2006. 

The qualifi cations of the 
members of the audit and risk 
committees can be found on 
the DUET website and later in 
this report. 

2. Audit and risk 
committee charters
In establishing their audit 
and risk committees, the 
Responsible Entities and 
DIHL have each established 
a charter which sets out each 
audit and risk committee’s role, 
responsibilities, composition, 
structure and membership 
requirements. The charter is the 
same for each of the companies. 

The responsibilities of the audit 
and risk committee under each 
charter are to: 

– Review and report to the boards 
on the fi nancial statements and 
related notes, and on the 
external auditor’s audit of the 
fi nancial statements and the 
report thereon



40

– Recommend to the boards the 
appointment and removal of 
the external auditors, review 
the terms of their engagement 
including arrangements for the 
rotation of external audit 
partners, and the scope and 
quality of the audit

– Monitor auditor independence. 
The audit and risk committee 
meets with the external auditors 
at least twice a year and more 
frequently if required. Details 
of the risk monitoring duties of 
the audit and risk committee, 
together with a discussion of 
auditor independence, are 
set out in the Principle 7 
commentary below.

3. Senior executive reporting
Each Responsible Entity and 
DIHL requires representation 
letters from the CEO (or 
equivalent) and the CFO (or 
equivalent) in relation to the 
fi nancial statements of each 
entity and the consolidated 
DUET fi nancial statements. 
The letters are required to state: 

 a.  The fi nancial reports of each 
of DUET1, DUET2, DUET3, 
DIHL and the consolidated 
fi nancial statements of DUET 
as the case may be, present 
a true and fair view, in all 
material respects, of the 
relevant entity’s fi nancial 
condition and operational 
results and are in accordance 
with relevant accounting 
standards

 b.  The statement given in 
paragraph (a) is founded 
on a sound system of risk 
management and internal 
compliance and control 
which implements the 
policies adopted by the 
relevant board 

 c.  DUET’s risk management 
and internal compliance and 
control systems, to the extent 
that they relate to fi nancial 
reporting, are operating 
effectively at 30 June 2007, 
in all material respects.

The statements provide a 
reasonable, but not absolute, 
level of assurance and do not 
imply a guarantee against 
adverse events or more volatile 
outcomes arising in the future. 

The CEO of DUET is 
Peter Barry.

The COO of DUET is 
David Bartholomew. 

The CFO of DUET is 
Bruce Berry. 

Directors of the Responsible 
Entities and DIHL have 
responsibility for signing the 
consolidated DUET fi nancial 
statements on behalf of DUET1, 
DUET2, DUET3 and DIHL and 
accordingly the DUET CEO and 
CFO provide representation 
letters for the consolidated 
fi nancial statements. 

What you can fi nd on our 
website:

– The audit and risk committee 
charters for DUET

– Procedures for selection and 
appointment of the external 
auditor and for rotation of 
external audit engagement 
partners.

Principle 5: Make timely 
and balanced disclosure
It is DUET’s policy to provide 
timely, open and accurate 
information to all stakeholders, 
including stapled security 
holders, regulators and the 
wider investment community. 
Under the terms of the Stapling 
Deed, DUET1, DUET2, DUET3 
and DIHL are obliged to 
exchange relevant information 
and coordinate ASX releases 
and fi nancial reporting. 

Each of the Responsible 
Entities and DIHL has 
developed policies and 
procedures which are part of 
the communications policy 
(referred to below) in relation to 
disclosure and compliance with 
ASX Listing Rules disclosure 
requirements. 

The procedures include 
dealing with potentially price 
sensitive information which 
includes referral to the CEO 
and company secretary/general 
counsel for a determination 
as to disclosure required. 
The ASX liaison person is 
the Responsible Entities’ and 
DIHL’s company secretary. 

What you can fi nd on our 
website:

– A summary of policies and 
procedures in relation to 
disclosure adopted by the 
Responsible Entities and DIHL.

Principle 6: Respect the 
rights of shareholders
DUET has developed a security 
holder communications 
policy. The cornerstone of this 
policy is the delivery of timely 
and relevant information as 
described as follows. 

Stapled security holders 
receive an annual report and 
fi nancial statements and a 
half-yearly update which keep 
them informed of DUET’s 
performance and operations. 
Newsletters may also be sent 
to stapled security holders 
from time to time.

DUET’s policy is to lodge 
market-sensitive information 
with the ASX and place 
such information in the 
news section of the website, 
including annual and interim 
result announcements and 
analyst presentations, as 
soon as practically possible. 
The DUET website (News 
section) includes recent 
announcements, presentations, 
past and current reports to 
security holders, answers to 
frequently asked questions and 
a summary of key fi nancial data 
since inception. Investors may 
also register to receive email 
copies of DUET’s signifi cant 
ASX announcements.

Domestic investor roadshows 
are held regularly throughout 
Australia. International 
roadshows are also held for 
institutional security holders. 
Where they contain new 
information, analyst and 
roadshow presentations 
are released to the ASX and 
included in the investor centre 
of the website. 

DUET also produces an analyst 
package which is updated 
annually. This comprehensive 
guide aims to provide 
transparency of DUET’s 
investments and structure. 
The analyst package is 
released to the ASX and 
consists of a fi nancial 
modelling tool that summarises 
the historical fi nancial 
performance of the underlying 
investments of DUET. 

Meetings of the four DUET 
entities are convened at least 
once a year, usually in late 
October or early November. In 
the case of DUET1, DUET2 and 
DUET3 which are not required 
under the Corporations Act to 
hold an AGM, these may be 
informal annual meetings unless 
there is formal business to be 
considered. An AGM for DIHL 
will be held at the same time. 

Corporate Governance Statement
continued
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Presentations by the Chairman 
and CEO at the AGM are 
webcast. 

For formal meetings an 
explanatory memorandum on 
the resolutions is included with 
the Notice of Meeting. Unless 
specifi cally stated in the Notice 
of Meeting, all DUET stapled 
security holders are eligible 
to vote on all resolutions. In 
the event that DUET stapled 
security holders cannot attend 
formal meetings they are able 
to lodge a proxy in accordance 
with the Corporations Act. 
Proxy forms can be mailed, 
emailed or lodged by facsimile 
or electronically.

The auditor attends security 
holder meetings and is 
available to answer security 
holder questions.

What you can fi nd on our 
website:

– A description of the 
arrangements DUET has to 
promote communication with 
security holders.

Principle 7: Recognise 
and manage risk
The Responsible Entities 
and DIHL have formalised 
risk management policies. 
Compliance with these policies 
is monitored by each board’s 
audit and risk committee. 

Risks are managed through the 
risk management framework in 
place and include: 

– Investment risk

– Regulatory and reporting risks

– Financial risks (such as 
liquidity, interest rate, currency, 
investment, credit)

– Legal risk (such as contract 
enforceability, covenants, 
litigation)

– Compliance risk

– Operational risks (such as 
people, processes, 
infrastructure, technology, 
systems outsourcing and 
geographic coverage)

– Environmental and social risks 

– Occupational Health and 
safety risks

– Project risks

– Asset performance risks

– Reputation risks (such as 
investor relations, media 
management)

– Strategic risks.

As part of its risk monitoring 
duties each audit and risk 
committee is required to: 

– Enquire of management, and 
the external auditor, about 
signifi cant risks or exposures 
and assess the steps 
management has taken to 
minimise such risks to DUET

– Consider and review with the 
external auditor:

 –  The adequacy of DUET’s 
internal controls including 
computerised information 
system controls and security

 –  Any related signifi cant 
fi ndings and 
recommendations of the 
external auditor on the matter 
of internal controls together 
with management’s 
responses thereto

– Monitor and review (at least 
annually) the effectiveness of 
DUET’s operational risk 
management framework and 
compliance with key risk 
management policies

– Review the scope of any 
internal audit to be conducted 
and the independence of any 
internal audit team.

The Responsible Entities and 
DIHL are subject to periodic 
review conducted by MBL and 
AMP operational risk review 
(internal audit) area.

The Responsible Entities and 
DIHL require representation 
letters from management 
(see Principle 4 – paragraph 3) 
to address risk management 
and internal controls. The 
audit and risk committee 
has adopted a policy which 
includes the following to ensure 
the independence of the 
external auditor:

– The external auditor must 
remain independent from DUET 
at all times and must comply 
with APES 110; Code of Ethics 
for Professional Accountants 
pertaining to fi nancial 
independence, and business 
and employment relationships

– The external auditor must 
monitor its independence 
and report to the board 
every six months that it has 
remained independent

– Signifi cant permissible non-
audit assignments awarded to 
the external auditor must be 
approved in advance by the 
audit and risk committee (or its 
chairman between meetings)

– All non-audit assignments are to 
be reported to the audit and risk 
committee every six months

– The DUET audit engagement 
partner and review partner must 
be rotated every fi ve years.

The auditor attends DUET 
annual general meetings and 
is available to answer security 
holder questions on the 
conduct of the audit, and the 
preparation and content of the 
auditor’s report. 

What you can fi nd on our 
website:

– A description of DUET’s risk 
management policies and 
framework

– A description of DUET’s auditor 
independence policy 

– A description of DUET’s 
environmental and social 
responsibility management 
policy

– A description of DUET’s 
occupational health and safety 
risk management policy.

Principle 8: Encourage 
enhanced performance
In order to ensure that the 
directors and senior executives 
of the Responsible Entities and 
DIHL are properly performing 
their duties, the Responsible 
Entities and DIHL have 
implemented the following:

– A formal annual performance 
self-assessment of the board, 
the audit and risk committee, 
and individual directors 

– The DUET CEO is currently an 
MBL employee and the DUET 
CFO and COO are AMP Capital 
employees each seconded to 
the Responsible Entities and 
DIHL as required. The CEO’s 
performance is assessed in 
September and March each 
year as part of MBL’s formal 
employee performance 
evaluation process and the 
CFO’s and COO’s performance 
is assessed as part of AMPCI’s 
performance appraisal 
process. In addition, the 
Responsible Entities’ boards 
provide annual feedback in 
respect of each of these 
offi cers as part of their 
performance appraisals 

– A formal induction program 
for directors and executives
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– Access by directors and 
executives to continuing 
education to update and enhance 
their skills and knowledge.

The procedure for evaluation of 
each board’s performance is:

– Directors are given the 
opportunity to discuss individual 
performance and feedback on 
performance with the chairman 
and the chairman speaks with 
each director separately to 
discuss individual performance 
and the effectiveness of each 
board and board committees 
as a whole

– The boards as a whole discuss 
and analyse board and 
committee performance during 
the year including suggestions 
for change or improvement, 
based on the chairman’s 
feedback from his separate 
discussions with each director.

Principle 9: Remunerate fairly 
and responsibly
Below is a brief description of 
management and performance 
fee arrangements for the 
Responsible Entities (including 
for RE1 as Manager of DIHL), 
remuneration arrangements 
in relation to DUET staff 
(whose remuneration is 
paid by the MBL Group or 
AMP Group, not DUET) 
and also the fees paid to 
DUET external directors. 
Full details, and a discussion 
of DUET remuneration 
arrangements, alignment of 
interest and manager and staff 
incentivisations are set out 
in the Remuneration Report 
on page 74. The expenses 
reimbursed by DUET to the 
Responsible Entities are set 
out on page 75.

1. Responsible Entity and 
adviser fees
RE1 in its capacity as 
responsible entity of DUET1 and 
manager of DIHL, and RE2 in its 
capacity as responsible entity of 
DUET2 and DUET3 are entitled 
to be paid base management 
fees and also performance 
fees for discharging their 
management functions. 

These fees are calculated 
in accordance with a 
defi ned formula under the 
trust constitutions and the 
Management Services 
Agreement. The fee 
arrangements were fully 
disclosed to investors on 
fund inception, subsequent 
restructures and product 
disclosure statements/
prospectuses and continue 
to be disclosed on the DUET 
website and in annual reports 
so that investors originally 
invested and continue to invest 
on this basis. The structure and 
level of the fee arrangements 
are consistent with those paid 
in the market in respect of 
similar externally managed 
vehicles and are not subject to 
review. Any changes to the fee 
provisions which would have 
the effect of increasing the fees 
would need to be approved by 
stapled security holders.

2. Reimbursement of 
Responsible Entity and 
manager expenses
The Responsible Entities are 
also entitled to be reimbursed 
for expenses incurred by 
them in relation to the proper 
performance of their duties, 
out of the assets of DUET. 
This includes routine ongoing 
expenses of DUET such as the 
third party costs of acquiring 
assets and managing them, as 
well as capital raising costs, 
registry, audit, insurance, 
compliance costs and other 
expenses as set out in the trust 
constitutions and Management 
Services Agreement.

3. Staff remuneration
One of the responsibilities 
of the Responsible Entities is 
to make available employees 
(including senior executives) 
to discharge their obligations 
to DUET. These staff are 
employed by entities in the 
MBL Group or AMP Group 
and made available to DUET 
through formalised resourcing 
arrangements with MBL and 
AMPCI. DIHL does not have 
employees and relies on the 
RE1 management staff under 
the Management Services 
Agreement arrangements 
to implement operational 
decisions and carry out 
administrative functions. 

None of the DUET stapled 
entities pays any expenses 
referable to the staff provided 
by the MBL Group or AMP 
Group. These are all paid by 
the MBL Group or AMP Group. 

DUET holds its investments 
through interests in special 
purpose project vehicles. Most 
of these vehicles have their own 
internal management which 
is paid for at the vehicle level. 
Where Responsible Entity 
staff are required to serve as 
directors on the boards of 
these vehicles or are seconded 
to them from time to time, 
any fees in respect of these 
arrangements are paid to DUET.

Senior RE1 and RE2 executives 
employed by the MBL Group 
may have some or their entire 
performance bonus retentions 
notionally invested by MBL 
in DUET securities so that 
the amount varies as if they 
were actually invested in the 
securities, and may also receive 
MBL options as part of their 
MBL remuneration package.

4. Director remuneration
The fees for the independent 
directors of the Responsible 
Entities are paid by the 
Responsible Entities in their 
personal capacity. They are 
not paid by DUET.

In the case of the MBL and 
AMPCH executive directors, 
remuneration earned in 
connection with their roles as 
directors on the boards of the 
Responsible Entities and DIHL 
are paid by MBL and AMPCH 
respectively.

DIHL non-executive director 
fees are paid by DIHL. 

None of the Responsible 
Entities’ or DIHL’s directors 
are entitled to DUET options 
or securities or to retirement 
benefi ts as part of their 
remuneration package. 

Senior MBL executives who are 
DUET directors may have some 
or all of their performance 
bonus retentions notionally 
invested by MBL in DUET 
securities so that the amount 
varies as if they were actually 
invested in the securities, 
and may also receive MBL 
options as part of their MBL 
remuneration package.

Corporate Governance Statement
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5. Remuneration committee
The boards of the Responsible 
Entities and DIHL do not 
consider it necessary or 
appropriate to constitute 
a remuneration committee. 
Given the payment of the 
management fee (and the 
fact that any change to the 
determination of that fee 
would require security holder 
approval) and the Responsible 
Entity’s and DIHL’s lack of 
exposure to remuneration 
expenses, a remuneration 
committee is not justifi ed.

What you can fi nd on our 
website:

– The DUET Group remuneration 
report.

Principle 10: Recognise the 
legitimate interests of 
stakeholders
The Code of Conduct adopted 
by the Responsible Entities 
and DIHL (see Principle 3) 
establishes a code of conduct 
which amongst other things 
addresses matters relevant to 
the Responsible Entity’s and 
DIHL’s compliance with its legal 
obligations to stakeholders. 
The Code of Conduct covers 
those areas which the boards 
of the Responsible Entities and 
DIHL consider relevant to the 
operations of DUET. There is a 
compliance procedure in place 
to ensure the Code of Conduct 
is adhered to and a formal 
complaints handling procedure 
has been implemented. 

What you can fi nd on 
our website:

– A summary of the Code 
of Conduct.

Specifi c issues related 
to DUET
The MBL and AMP Group 
companies, AMPCH and their 
respective related entities 
and managed entities may 
undertake various transactions 
with, and perform various 
services (such as fi nancial 
advisory, underwriting, FX 
hedging) for DUET from 
time to time. In particular, 
AMPCI has been appointed 
as fi nancial adviser for debt 
and debt advisory work in 
relation to DUET, and MBL 
Group companies have been 
appointed as fi nancial advisers 
for acquisitions/divestures and 
additional equity raising 
in relation to DUET. 

The Responsible Entities and 
DIHL have adopted protocols 
to ensure that any transactions 
between DUET and AMP or 
MBL Group companies are not 
considered by the AMPCH or 
MBL nominated directors. Any 
transactions between DUET 
and AMP Group or MBL Group 
companies must be on arm’s 
length terms and fees and 
other terms are approved solely 
by the independent directors 
of the Responsible Entities and 
DIHL (as the case may be). 
MBL and/or AMPCH directors, 
as the case may be, do not 
vote or, unless invited to do so 
by the independent directors, 
participate in discussion on 
related party matters. 

All MBL Group and AMP Group 
transactions involving DUET 
and its controlled entities are 
tested by reference to whether 
they meet market standards. 
In particular, fees and mandate 
terms and conditions are 
subject to third party review 
unless the independent 
directors determine otherwise 
on the basis of appropriate 
market information or practice. 

Third party independent review 
is mostly carried out by the 
corporate advisory divisions 
of large accounting fi rms. In 
the case of the provision of 
services, the reviewers have 
regard to market evidence 
gathered from their own 
enquiries including information 
requested from the MBL 
Group and AMP Group. For 
asset sales or acquisitions the 
reviewer carries out its own 
valuation. DUET independent 
directors have put in place a 
panel of reviewers (which does 
not include the DUET auditor).

Foreign exchange transactions 
where commissions to 
MBL Group companies 
are less than $100,000 are 
transacted with reference 
to independent pricing 
checks and arrangements 
and benchmarked annually. 
However, in the case of foreign 
exchange transactions requiring 
strict confi dentiality MBL is 
usually engaged, subject to 
management ensuring pricing 
is competitive and independent 
director approval.

DUET entities may co-invest 
from time to time with other 
MBL Group companies or 
managed entities. Co-investment 
arrangements may include 
pre-emption and tag-along 
and drag-along rights in favour 
of each other, including rights 
which are triggered on:

– Removal of MBL Group 
companies as manager or 
adviser or if the manager or 
adviser ceases to be part of 
the MBL Group

– The MBL Group or AMP Group 
in total (regardless of how much 
one or the other owns) no 
longer holding at least 40% of 
the shares in RE1 and RE2.

Where such arrangements 
are put in place the DUET 
independent directors 
obtain separate legal advice 
as necessary and the 
arrangements are approved 
by the independent directors 
and disclosed to stapled 
security holders at the time 
they are put in place and also 
in the annual fi nancial reports.

In addition, contract 
counterparties such as lenders 
may impose similar conditions 
of ongoing involvement by MBL 
Group or AMP Group manager 
entities and their removal may 
have adverse consequences 
such as an acceleration of loan 
repayments.

Details of related party 
transactions involving the 
payment of fees to MBL Group 
and AMP Group companies 
who have provided services to 
DUET are disclosed at Note 31 
of the full fi nancial report for the 
year ended 30th June 2007.
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Compliance committee
Under the Corporations Act 
managed investments regime, 
the Responsible Entities 
are required to register a 
compliance plan for each 
trust with the Australian 
Securities and Investments 
Commission (ASIC). The 
compliance plan outlines 
the measures undertaken 
to ensure compliance with 
the Corporations Act and 
each trust constitution. It is 
the compliance committee’s 
responsibility to monitor RE1’s 
and RE2’s compliance with the 
compliance plans and report its 
fi ndings to the boards or ASIC 
if necessary. 

The compliance committee is 
currently comprised as follows:

Ray Kellerman Chairman 
– External

Fiona Dixon – External

Peter Barry – MBL 

Compliance offi cers have 
been appointed to DUET 
and they are responsible for 
reviewing and monitoring 
the effi ciency of compliance 
systems on an ongoing basis 
so that appropriate compliance 
procedures, staff education 
and compliance committee 
reporting arrangements are in 
place to enable observance of 
the compliance plans.

The external compliance 
committee members must 
satisfy the independence 
criteria set out in s601JB(2) of 
the Corporations Act. External 
members are required to certify 
their compliance with these 
requirements on an annual 
basis and otherwise notify the 
Responsible Entities if they 
cease to satisfy the criteria.

What can you fi nd on 
our website:

– The compliance plans for 
DUET1, DUET2 and DUET3

– Details of the qualifi cations 
of the DUET compliance 
committee members.

Corporate Governance Statement
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Explanation of the Financial Report

At 30 June 2007, DUET Group comprises Diversifi ed Utility and Energy Trust No.1 (DUET1), Diversifi ed 
Utility and Energy Trust No.2 (DUET2), Diversifi ed Utility and Energy Trust No.3 (DUET3) and DUET 
Investment Holdings Limited (DIHL) and their subsidiaries (DUET). These four stapled entities trade as 
one listed security, DUET Group, on the Australian Securities Exchange (ASX Code: DUE). A summary 
of the group structure as at 30 June 2007 is illustrated below.

DUET holds a controlling interest in the DBNGP Trust and its controlled entities (DBP), United Energy 
Distribution Holdings Limited and its controlled entities (UED) and Multinet Group Holdings Limited 
and its controlled entities (MGH). Accordingly the results, assets and liabilities of these entities 
are consolidated into the DUET Group Financial Report. DUET holds non-controlling interests in 
Alinta Network Holdings Pty Limited (ANH) and Duquesne Light Holdings (DLH) and therefore these 
investments are equity accounted into the DUET Group Financial Report. This means DUET’s share 
of profi ts and losses of ANH and DLH is recognised in one line in the Income Statement. 

Under Australian Accounting Standards, DUET1 has been deemed the parent entity of DUET2, 
DUET3 and DIHL for accounting purposes. Therefore, the DUET1 consolidated fi nancial statements 
include all entities forming DUET. 

UED Multinet
Alinta Network 

Holdings
DBP DQE Holdings

DUET1 DUET2 DUET3 DIHL

Equity

66.0% 79.9% 25.9% 62.1% 29%

Equity Equity

Loan
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Directors’ Report

The directors of AMPCI Macquarie Infrastructure 
Management No.1 Limited (RE1) as responsible 
entity for DUET1 submit the following report for 
the DUET Group consisting of DUET1, DUET2, 
DUET3, DIHL and the entities they control for 
the year ended 30 June 2007. 

RE1 acts as responsible entity for DUET1 
and manager of DIHL.

AMPCI Macquarie Infrastructure Management 
No.2 Limited (RE2) acts as responsible entity 
for DUET2 and DUET3. 

Both UIG 1013: Consolidated Financial Reports 
in relation to Pre-Date-of Transition Stapling 
Arrangements and AASB interpretation 
1002: Post-Date-of-Transition Stapling 
Arrangements require one of the stapled entities 
of a stapled structure to be identifi ed as the 
parent entity for the purpose of preparing a 
consolidated fi nancial report. In accordance 
with this requirement, DUET1 has been 
identifi ed as the parent of the consolidated 
group comprising DUET1, DUET2, DUET3, DIHL 
and the entities they control, together acting as 
DUET or the DUET Group.

The units of DUET1, DUET2 and DUET3 
together with the ordinary shares in DIHL are 
issued as stapled securities in DUET.

RE1 and RE2 are joint ventures between 
AMP Capital Holdings Limited (AMPCH), a 
wholly owned subsidiary of AMP Limited, and 
Macquarie Bank Limited (MBL). 

Principal Activities
The principal activity of the DUET Group 
is investment in energy utility assets. The 
investment policy of the Group is to invest funds 
in accordance with the provisions of the Trust 
Constitutions and the governing documents of 
the individual entities within the DUET Group.

Directors names (and period of service)
The following persons held offi ce as directors 
of RE1 during the year and up to the date of 
this report:

– Philip Garling (Chairman)

– John Roberts

– The Hon. Michael Lee

– Emma Stein

– Doug Halley

– Stephen Mentzines (alternate for John Roberts)

–  Dr Greg Roder
(alternate for Philip Garling; appointed 
25 September 2006)

   

The following persons held offi ce as directors 
of RE2 during the year and up to the date of this 
report:

– Philip Garling (Chairman)

– John Roberts

– Ron Finlay

– Eric Goodwin

– Duncan Sutherland

– Stephen Mentzines (alternate for John Roberts)

–  Dr Greg Roder
(alternate for Philip Garling; appointed 
25 September 2006)

 The following persons held offi ce as directors 
of DIHL during the period and up to the date of 
this report:

– Philip Garling (Chairman)

– John Roberts

– Ron Finlay

– Doug Halley

– Emma Stein

–  Stephen Mentzines 
(alternate for John Roberts; appointed 
21 September 2006)

–  Dr Greg Roder
(alternate for Philip Garling; appointed 
25 September 2006)

Distributions and Dividends
The distribution for the year ended 30 June 2007 
was 24.75 cents per stapled unit (2006: 23.50 
cents per stapled unit).

An interim distribution for the year ended 
30 June 2007 of 12.25 cents per stapled unit 
was paid on 16 February 2007 (2006: 11.75 
cents per stapled unit). This consisted of 6.125 
cents per unit from DUET1 (2006: 5.875 cents 
per unit) and 6.125 cents per unit from DUET2 
(2006: 5.875 cents per unit).

A fi nal distribution of 12.50 cents per stapled 
unit was paid on 17 August 2007 (2006: 11.75 
cents per stapled unit). This consisted of 6.250 
cents per unit from DUET1 (2006: 5.875 cents 
per unit) and 6.250 cents per unit from DUET2 
(2006: 5.875 cents per unit).

In addition to the distributions outlined above, 
on 30 August 2006 RE1 and RE2 as responsible 
entities of DUET1 and DUET2 respectively, 
distributed DIHL shares worth 22.2627 cents 
per unit (11.1313 cents from DUET1 and 11.1313 
cents from DUET2) to unit holders as an in 
specie distribution. On 22 June 2007, RE1, as 
responsible entity of DUET1, distributed DUET3 
units worth 39.2218 cents per unit to security 
holders as an in specie distribution.
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Directors’ Report continued

Review and Results of Operations
The performance of the DUET Group for the year 
ended 30 June 2007 was as follows:

 DUET Group DUET Group
 1 Jul 2006 1 Jul 2005
 – 30 Jun 2007 – 30 Jun 2006
 $’000 $’000

Revenue and 
other income from 
continuing activities 902,987 819,792

Profi t after income 
tax expense and 
before fi nance costs 
attributable to 
security holders and 
minority interest 34,857 68,097

Profi t after income 
tax expense and 
fi nance costs 
attributable to 
security holders and 
minority interest 38,775 12,892

Profi t attributable 
to security holders* 27,198 –

Basic earnings 
per security 3.61c –

*  Due to the fi nite life and present entitlement clauses contained 
within the DUET1 Trust Constitution, upon adoption of AASB132 
on 1 July 2005, the units in DUET1 were classifi ed as debt for 
accounting purposes. The Trust constitution of DUET1 was 
amended on 30 June 2006 such that the fi nite life clauses were 
removed and present entitlement clauses were amended. 
Accordingly, the units in DUET1 are classifi ed as equity for 
accounting purposes from 30 June 2006. However, as the units 
were classifi ed as debt from the period 1 July 2005 to 30 June 
2006, the interim and fi nal distributions declared, as well as the 
income which accrued to the units in the Trust, have been 
accounted for as an expense and presented in the income 
statement for the period as a fi nance cost to security holders, 
in accordance with AASB132.

– United Energy
  During the year under review, United 

Energy Distribution Holdings Limited and its 
controlled entities (UED) distributed 7,881GWh 
(2006: 7,823GWh) of electricity. The Victorian 
State Government is currently drafting legislation 
covering the proposed roll-out of advanced 
interval meters and the business expects 
to roll out the fi rst of these meters toward the 
end of 2008.

– Multinet
  During the year under review, Multinet Group 

Holdings Limited and its controlled entities 
(MGH) distributed 57.3PJ (2006: 59.9PJ) of gas. 
MGH continues with its pipeworks project that is 
being run to replace some of its older pipes, and 
the expansion of the gas network. The Multinet 
Partnership has a regulatory obligation to 
disclose related party transactions and the costs 
incurred by related parties in delivering services 
to it in 2004, 2005 and 2006. The regulatory 
accounts submitted for these years have been 
qualifi ed on the basis that costs have not been 
supplied in relation to all disclosed related party 
transactions.

– Dampier to Bunbury Natural Gas Pipeline
  During the year under review, the DBNGP Trust 

and its controlled entities (DBP) transmitted 
a volume of 284.1PJ (2006: 270.8PJ). On 
1 September 2006, DBP committed to the 
expansion of the pipeline known as Stage 5A 
which will add approximately 100TJ per day 
to the full-haul capacity of the pipeline. On 
21 June  2007, the DBP Board of Directors 
approved a further $245 million expansion of the 
DBNGP subject to a number of conditions being 
met. This expansion is known as Stage 5A2 and 
will add a further 38TJ per day to the full-haul 
capacity of the pipeline.

– Alinta Network Holdings
  DUET’s share of Alinta Network Holdings Pty 

Limited’s (ANH) profi t for the year under review 
was $4.3 million (2006: $5.7 million). 

–  Duquesne Light Holdings (DLH) and DQE 
Holdings LLC (DQE)

  The DUET Group (through DIHL) held a 
7.7% investment in Duquesne Light Holdings 
(DLH) from 11 August 2006 until 31 May 2007. 
On 31 May 2007, the 7.7% interest in DLH 
was transferred into an investment in DQE. 
The DUET Group holds a 29% investment in 
DQE and from 31 May 2007, DQE owned 
100% of DLH. During the year DUET received 
US$6.65 million (A$8.92 million) in dividends 
from DLH. DUET’s share of DQE’s loss for the 
year under review was $6.18 million (2006: nil)

– Bridge Facility
  DUET entered into a bridge facility with the 

Commonwealth Bank of Australia during the 
year for the completion of the acquisition of 
DLH by DQE. The facility was made up of 
US$170.0 million for the acquisition of DLH by 
DQE, and A$80.0 million for the DBP stage 5A 
expansion. US$164.0 million was drawn down on 
29 May 2007. The Bridge facility outstanding of 
US$164.0 million was repaid on 28 June 2007.

Refer to pages 58 to 59 for further discussion on 
review and results of operations.

Signifi cant Changes in State of Affairs
–  Acquisition of Duquesne Light Holdings (DLH) 

and DQE Holdings, LLC (DQE)
In July 2006, DUET announced its participation 
in a consortium (DQE) that has since acquired 
DLH. DLH is an electricity utility in Pittsburgh, 
Pennsylvania, US. The transaction was 
approved by both the Pennsylvania Public Utility 
Commission (PaPUC) and the Federal Energy 
Regulatory Commission (FERC) and completed 
on 31 May 2007.

DUET has invested a total of US$300 million, 
representing a 29% interest in DQE.

DLH provides essential electricity distribution 
and transmission to around 587,000 customers 
in and around Pittsburgh.

The acquisition was funded by capital raisings. 
On 10 July 2006, DUET completed a Placement 
of 64 million stapled securities at $2.60 per 
stapled security to institutional and sophisticated 
investors raising a total of A$166.4 million. On 
16 July 2007, DUET completed a Placement 
and Entitlement offer of 100 million securities at 
$3.50 per stapled security.
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– Restructure of DUET – DIHL
  On 4 August 2006, an Information Circular was 

sent to DUET Unit holders detailing the proposed 
restructure of DUET from a dual stapled structure 
consisting of DUET1 and DUET2, to a triple 
stapled structure consisting of DUET1, DUET2 
and a new Australian company, DIHL.

On 29 August 2006, DIHL issued 493,579,630 
ordinary shares to RE1 as responsible entity of 
DUET1 and 493,579,630 ordinary shares to RE2 
as responsible entity of DUET2. On 30 August 
2006, RE1 and RE2 as responsible entities of 
DUET1 and DUET2 respectively, distributed all 
of the ordinary shares in DIHL to unit holders 
as an in specie distribution. Immediately after 
the distributions, DIHL consolidated the DIHL 
shares on issue so that each DUET security 
holder only had one DIHL share for every two 
shares it received from the distribution. 

– Restructure of DUET – DUET3
On 10 May 2007, an Information Circular was 
sent to DUET security holders detailing the 
proposed restructure of DUET from a triple 
stapled structure consisting of DUET1, DUET2 
and DIHL, to a quadruple stapled structure 
consisting of DUET1, DUET2, DIHL and a new 
Australian trust DUET3.

On 25 May 2007, RE2 as responsible entity of 
DUET3, issued 497,075,902 units to RE1, as 
responsible entity of DUET1. On 22 June 2007, 
RE1, as responsible entity of DUET1, distributed 
all of the ordinary units in DUET3 to security 
holders as an in specie distribution. Immediately 
after the distribution, DUET security holders 
held one unit in DUET1, DUET2, DUET3 and one 
share in DIHL for every DUET security held. 

– Accounting treatment of restructuring
On 31 August 2006, DIHL became the third 
stapled entity to DUET1 and DUET2 and on 
22 June 2007 DUET3 became the fourth staple to 
the group. AASB Interpretation 1002 “Post date 
of Transition Stapling Arrangements” requires 
that DIHL and DUET3 are deemed to be acquired 
by DUET1. Accordingly, the stapled entities of 
DUET Group are represented as the consolidated 
fi nancial statements of DUET1, however, in 
accordance with the AASB Interpretation, the 
interests in DIHL and DUET3 are shown as a 
minority interest in both the income statement 
and balance sheet. DUET2 is treated differently 
on consolidation from DIHL and DUET3, with 
the equity of DUET2 attributable to the parent, 
whereas, the equity of DUET3 and DIHL are 
attributable to minority interests. 

Other than referred to above, in the opinion of the 
directors, there were no other signifi cant changes 
in the state of affairs of the DUET Group that 
occurred during the year under review.

Events Occurring After Balance Sheet Date
On 16 July 2007, DUET announced the 
successful completion of its $350 million 
Placement and Entitlement Offer. In total, 
100,019,145 securities were issued at an 
issue price of $3.50. The issue of securities 
was split into two allotment dates: the “Initial 
Allotment Date” – 28 June 2007 and the “Final 
Allotment Date” – 16 July 2007. In the Initial 

Allotment 71,252,140 securities were issued and 
28,767,005 were issued in the Final Allotment.

A fi nal distribution of 12.50 cents per stapled 
security was paid by DUET on 17 August 2007. 
This consists of a distribution of 6.250 cents 
per unit from DUET1 and 6.250 cents per unit 
from DUET2.

A portion of stapled security holders 
participated in DUET’s Distribution and Dividend 
Reinvestment Plan paid on 17 August 2007. 
Of the distribution declared, $12.7 million will 
be reinvested in DUET.

On 28 August 2007 the Essential Services 
Commission (ESC) in Victoria released the 
2008 Gas Access Arrangement Review – 
Draft Decision. The Draft Decision deals with 
gas access arrangements during the period 
1 January 2008 to 31 December 2012, for the 
three Victorian gas distribution businesses, 
including Multinet.

The fi nal ESC decision is due to be delivered 
in November 2007. Following the release of 
the draft decision, the three Victorian gas 
distribution businesses will have an opportunity 
to make submissions on the elements applied 
by the ESC in reaching their draft decision. 
Multinet will be responding to the ESC on a 
number of elements used as the basis for 
determining Multinet’s revenue, including the 
WACC not being consistent with regulatory 
precedents; and certain elements of opex and 
capex cost allowances, which have previously 
been allowed, being disallowed. The directors 
do not believe that the fi nal determination will 
have a material impact on the DUET Group 
distribution guidance for 2008.

There is no other circumstance that has arisen 
since the end of the year that has signifi cantly 
affected, or may signifi cantly affect the 
operations of the DUET Group, the results of 
those operations in future fi nancial years, or the 
state of affairs of the DUET Group in periods 
subsequent to the year ended 30 June 2007.

Likely Developments and Expected Results 
of Operations
Further information on likely developments 
relating to the operations of the DUET Group 
in future years, and the expected results of 
those operations, has not been included in this 
report because the Directors of the Responsible 
Entity believe it would be likely to result in 
unreasonable prejudice to the DUET Group.

Indemnifi cation and Insurance of Offi cers 
and Auditors
During the year the Responsible Entity 
paid a premium to insure the offi cers of the 
Responsible Entity. So long as the offi cers of 
the Responsible Entity act in accordance with 
the Constitution and the law, the offi cers remain 
indemnifi ed out of the assets of the Trust and 
the DUET Group against any losses incurred 
while acting on behalf of the Trust and the DUET 
Group. The auditors of the Trust and the DUET 
Group are in no way indemnifi ed out of the 
assets of the Trust and the DUET Group.
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Directors’ Report continued

Fees Paid to the Responsible Entity and 
Associates
Fees paid to the Responsible Entity and its 
associates out of DUET1 and the DUET Group’s 
property are disclosed in Note 31 in the full 
Financial Statements.

Interests in the Trusts of the DUET Group 
Issued During the Financial Year
The movement in securities on issue in the Trusts 
of the DUET Group during the year is set out 
below:

 DUET Group DUET Group
 30 June 2007 30 June 2006
 $’000 $’000

Securities on issue 
at the beginning
of the year 426,569 421,963

Securities issued 
during the year 141,759 4,606

Securities on issue 
at the end of the year 568,328 426,569

 30 June 2007 30 June 2006
Value of Assets $’000 $’000

Value of assets 
at 30 June 7,111,633 6,300,296

The value of the Group, DUET1, DUET2, DUET3 
and DIHL assets is derived using the basis set 
out in Note 1 to the Financial Statements.

Directors’ Holdings of Stapled Securities
The aggregate number of DUET stapled 
securities and POWERS units held directly, 
indirectly or benefi cially by directors of RE1, RE2 
and DIHL or their director related entities at the 
date of this fi nancial report are:

 DUET stapled  POWERS DUET stapled POWERS
 securities securities securities securities
 2007 2007 2006 2006

Director    

Philip Garling 62,715 1,800 55,000 1,800

John Roberts 1,654,119 – 1,349,768 –

The Hon Michael Lee – – – –

Emma Stein 32,960 – 23,000 –

Doug Halley 34,208 – 10,000 –

Stephen Mentzines 25,600 – – –

Dr Greg Roder – – – –

Ron Finlay 12,462 – – –

Eric Goodwin 25,008 – 20,407 –

Duncan Sutherland 80,000 – 80,000 –

Refer to Note 31 to the full fi nancial statements for further details.

Employees of MBL and AMPCH (including those who are directors) associated with the management 
of DUET, also hold stapled securities in DUET at the date of this report.

RE1 and RE2’s Holdings of Stapled Securities
The Responsible Entities do not hold any stapled 
securities in DUET at the date of this fi nancial 
report (30 June 2006: Nil).

Environmental Regulations
– UED

UED is subject to signifi cant environmental 
regulation under the Environmental Protection 
Act (EPA) 1970 (Vic). UED adheres to 
environmental management principles using 
compliance with ISO 14001 for proactive 
planning, sustainable development and self 
assessment for continuous improvement. 
UED did not receive any notices from the 
EPA for violation of the Act during the period.

An Environmental Site Assessment (ESA) has 
been conducted at a property owned by UED 
located at 8–14 Railway Parade Dendenong. 
The ESA noted slightly raised levels of copper 
in the above ground soil but this was within 
the tolerances of the National Environmental 
Protection and Monitoring Agency requirements. 
Asbestos was found in soil samples from the site 
and Tetrachlroroethene, a Dense Non Aqueous 
Phase Liquid (DNAPL) was found at one of 
three ground water monitoring bores installed 
for the hydrology study. The report indicates 
that it appears the Tetrachloroethene did not 
emanate from the site and may have fl owed 
from a neighbouring property. An Asbestos 
Quantitative Risk Assessment was completed for 
the site which indicates a low risk under present 
conditions as the asbestos identifi ed lies under a 
gravel overdressing preventing any migration. 
A Site Environmental Management Plan 
(SEMP) has been developed to mange current 
environmental risks and involves a phased 
approach for ongoing site investigations and 
analysis over several years.
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– MGH
MGH is subject to signifi cant environmental 
regulation under the Environmental Protection 
Act 1970 (Vic). MGH adheres to environmental 
management principles using compliance with 
ISO 14001 for proactive planning, sustainable 
development and self assessment for 
continuous improvement. MGH did not receive 
any notices from the Environmental Protection 
Agency for violation of the act during 2004, 
2005, and 2006 or to the date of signing this 
report in 2007.

– DBP
Both the DBP Licence and DBP Access 
Licence place requirements on the DBP Group 
as operator of the pipeline. Environmental 
obligations are identifi ed and managed through 
the DBP Group’s Environmental Management 
Plan, which sets out procedures for necessary 
restoration work associated with operations 
and construction.

The directors are not aware of any material 
breaches to the environmental regulations 
discussed above.

Auditor’s Independence Declaration 
A copy of the Auditor’s Independence 
Declaration as required under section 307C of 
the Corporations Act 2001 is set out on page 52.

Rounding of Amounts in the Directors’ 
Report and the Financial Report
DUET1 is of a kind referred to in Class Order 
98/0100, issued by the Australian Securities 
& Investments Commission, relating to the 
‘rounding off’ of amounts in the directors’ report 
and fi nancial report. Amounts in the directors’ 
report and fi nancial report have been rounded 
off in accordance with that Class Order to the 
nearest thousand dollars, or in certain cases, 
to the nearest dollar.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of 
directors of AMPCI Macquarie Infrastructure 
Management No.1 Limited.

Philip Garling
Director

Sydney
29 August 2007

John Roberts
Director

Sydney
29 August 2007
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Auditor’s Independence Declaration

Auditor’s Independence Declaration to the Directors of the Responsible Entities 
of Diversifi ed Utility and Energy Trust No.1 

In relation to our audit of the fi nancial report of the DUET Group for the year ended 30 June 2007, to 
the best of our knowledge and belief, there have been no contraventions of the auditor independence 
requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 or any applicable code of professional conduct.

Ernst & Young

Michael S Perry
Partner

29 August 2007
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Consolidated Income Statement

   DUET Group DUET Group
   1 July 2006 1 July 2005
   – 30 June 2007 – 30 June 2006
  Note $’000 $’000

Revenue and other income from 
continuing operations  3 902,987 819,792

Total Revenue and other income from 
continuing operations   902,987 819,792

Share of net profi t/(loss) of associates 
accounted for using the equity method  (1,880) 5,686

Operating expenses  3 (274,926) (261,640)

Depreciation and amortisation expense  3 (144,065) (135,648)

Finance costs excluding cost attributable to 
security holders and minority interests  3 (306,813) (301,955)

Other expenses  3 (92,162) (38,511)

Total expenses from continuing activities   (817,966) (737,754)

Profi t before income tax expense and 
fi nance costs attributable to security holders 
and minority interests   83,141 87,724

Income tax expense   (48,284) (19,627)

Profi t after income tax expense and before 
fi nance costs attributable to security holders 
and minority interests   34,857 68,097

Finance costs attributable to security holders*  – (56,401)

Finance costs attributable to minority interests  3,918 1,196

Profi t for the year   38,775 12,892

Profi t is attributable to:

DUET1 and DUET2 unit holders   17,796 –

DIHL shareholders and DUET3 unit holders 
as minority interests   9,402 –

Stapled security holders   27,198 –

Other minority interests   11,577 12,892

Earnings per stapled security  5 3.61c –

 The above Consolidated Income Statements should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

*  Due to the fi nite life and present entitlement clauses contained within the DUET1 and DUET2 Trust Constitutions, upon adoption of 
AASB132 on 1 July 2005, the units in DUET1 and DUET2 were classifi ed as debt for accounting purposes. The Trust constitutions of both 
DUET1 and DUET2 were amended on 30 June 2006 such that the fi nite life clauses were removed and present entitlement clauses were 
amended. Accordingly, the units in DUET1 and DUET2 are classifi ed as equity for accounting purposes from 30 June 2006. However, as 
the units were classifi ed as debt from the period 1 July 2005 to 30 June 2006, the interim and fi nal distributions declared, as well as the 
income which accrued to the units in the Trust, have been accounted for as an expense and presented in the income statement for the 
period as a fi nance cost to security holders, in accordance with AASB132. 
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   DUET Group DUET Group
   30 June 2007 30 June 2006
  Note $’000 $’000

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents   298,738 295,999

Receivables   51,473 75,124

Inventories   11,072 11,223

Land classifi ed as held for sale   – 2,293

Current tax receivable   1,094 –

Other assets   55,532 39,295

Derivative Financial Instruments   8,046 –

Total current assets   425,955 423,934

Non-current assets

Receivables   317,157 81,929

Other fi nancial assets 
– investments in unlisted securities   – –

Investment in associated entities using 
equity accounting method   167,638 27,078

Property, plant and equipment   4,083,909 3,707,415

Deferred tax assets   11,455 10,204

Intangible assets   1,981,095 1,997,756

Other assets   1,161 240

Derivative Financial Instruments   123,263 51,740

Total non-current assets   6,685,678 5,876,362

Total assets   7,111,633 6,300,296

Current liabilities

Distribution payable   62,134 50,123

Payables   243,499 231,149

Interest bearing liabilities  6 3,600 27,500

Provisions   2,718 2,573

Current tax liabilities   – 2,509

Derivative Financial Instruments   5,059 –

Other   16,627 12,525

Total current liabilities   333,637 326,379

 The above Consolidated Balance Sheets should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Consolidated Balance Sheet
As at 30 June 2007
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   DUET Group DUET Group
   30 June 2007 30 June 2006
  Note $’000 $’000

Non-current liabilities

Interest bearing liabilities  6 4,523,805 4,274,769

Deferred tax liabilities   613,887 548,846

Derivative fi nancial instruments   133,853 64,744

Provisions   16,175 15,588

Retirement benefi t obligations   1,161 240

Total non-current liabilities excluding 
minority interests classifi ed as debt   5,288,881 4,904,187

Total liabilities excluding minority 
interests classifi ed as debt   5,622,518 5,230,566

Net assets excluding minority interests 
classifi ed as debt   1,489,115 1,069,730

Non-current liability attributable to minority interests

Minority Interests units   – 123,269

Total non-current liability attributable to 
minority interests   – 123,269

Net assets   1,489,115 946,461

Equity

Equity attributable to DUET1 and DUET2 unit holders

Contributed equity   980,433 921,795

Reserves   (6,870) 13,284

Accumulated losses    (104,911) (58,531)

Unit holders interest   868,652 876,548

Equity attributable to DIHL and DUET3 
security holders (as minority interest)

Contributed equity   366,866 –

Reserves   (11,687) –

Retained profi ts/(losses)   9,402 –

DIHL and DUET3 security holders interest  364,581 –

Other minority interest   255,882 69,913

Total equity   1,489,115 946,461

 The above Consolidated Balance Sheets should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

 

Consolidated Balance Sheet continued
As at 30 June 2007
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   DUET Group DUET Group
   1 July 2006 1 July 2005
   – 30 June 2007 – 30 June 2006
   $’000 $’000

Total equity at the beginning of the fi nancial year  946,461 976,012

Adjustments on adoption of AASB 132 and AASB 139, 
net of tax to*:

Equity   – (910,822)

Retained profi ts   – 46,206

Reserves   – (9,040)

Minority interest   – (51,531)

Total equity at 1 July    946,461 50,825

Changes in the fair value of cash fl ow hedges, net of tax  45,312 46,365

Change in reserve foreign currency   (11,687) –

Net income recognised directly in equity  33,625 46,365

Profi t for the year   38,775 12,892

Total recognised income and expense for the year  72,400 59,257

Transactions equity holders in their capacity as equity holders:   

Transfer of net assets attributable to security holders from 
liability to equity   119,351 850,297

Contributions of equity, net of transaction costs   425,504 –

Dividend paid and provided for to parent equity holders  (122,598) –

Dividends and distributions provided for or paid to minority interests (30,707) (10,326)

Increased interest in subsidiaries obtained during the year  – (3,592)

Minority interest on acquisition of subsidiary  78,704 –

Total equity at the end of the fi nancial year  1,489,115 946,461

Total recognised income and expenses for the year is attributable to:

DUET1 and DUET2 unit holders   46,181 46,365

DIHL shareholders and DUET3 unit holders  (2,285) –

DUET security holders   43,896 46,365

Minority interest   28,504 12,892

   28,504 12,892

 The above Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

*  Due to the fi nite life and present entitlement clauses contained within the DUET1 and DUET2 Trust Constitutions, upon adoption of 
AASB132 on 1 July 2005, the units in DUET1 and DUET2 were classifi ed as debt for accounting purposes. The Trust constitutions of both 
DUET1 and DUET2 were amended on 30 June 2006 such that the fi nite life clauses were removed. Accordingly, the units in DUET1 and 
DUET2 are classifi ed as equity for accounting purposes from 30 June 2006

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
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   DUET Group DUET Group
   1 July 2006 1 July 2005
   – 30 June 2007 – 30 June 2006
   $’000 $’000

Cash fl ows from operating activities

Receipts from customers (including GST)   918,185 863,691

Payments to suppliers and employees (including GST)  (393,790) (335,332)

Income tax received/(paid)   (4,826) –

Interest received   20,303 18,457

Dividends received   9,672 3,923

Net cash fl ows from operating activities  549,544 550,739

Cash fl ows from investing activities

Payments for software   (7,850) (5,137)

Payments for purchase of property, plant and equipment  (505,268) (432,674)

Payment for purchase investment   (382,992) –

Return of capital from investment   240,997 –

Funds lent to associated entities   (239,723) –

Proceeds from sale of non-current assets   7,464 1,526

Net cash fl ows from investing activities  (887,372) (436,285)

Cash fl ows from fi nancing activities

Proceeds from issue of securities   415,744 –

Proceeds from securities issued to minority interest  78,704 91,162

Payments for capital raising costs   (8,691) –

Proceeds from borrowing from external parties  1,105,863 2,386,800

Repayment of borrowings from external parties  (820,963) (2,084,333)

Borrowings from bridge fi nancing    200,363 –

Repayment of bridge fi nancing facility   (200,363) –

Loans from related parties   3,400 –

Finance costs paid   (310,973) (309,340)

Dividends paid to minority interest   (30,707) (18,142)

Distributions paid   (92,136) (74,717)

Net cash fl ow from fi nancing activities  340,241 (8,570)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash assets held  2,413 105,884

Cash assets at the beginning of the period  295,999 188,343

Effects of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 326 1,772

Cash assets at the end of the period   298,738 295,999

 The above Consolidated Cash Flow Statements should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
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Discussion and Analysis of Results

Financial Performance
Operating Performance
The profi t before fi nance costs attributable to 
security holders and minority interests for DUET 
and its consolidated entities for the year ended 
30 June 2007 is a profi t of $34.9 million (2006: 
$68.1 million). The profi t after fi nance costs 
attributable to DUET security holders for the year 
ended 30 June 2007 is $27.2 million (2006: nil). 

Revenue (refer Note 3)
The total revenue and other income for the 
year was $903.0 million (2006: $819.8 million), 
comprising the following:

–  Distribution revenue of $518.5 million 
(2006: $514.2 million). The increase for the 
current year refl ects the increase in revenue for 
UED of $3.5 million and for MGH of $0.8 million.

–  Metering revenue of $29.1 million 
(2006: $27.2 million).

–  Transportation revenue of $237.8 million 
(2006: $206.6 million). The increased revenue 
is due to the commissioning of the Stage 
4 expansion in December 2006, providing 
additional capacity for the DBP pipeline.

–  Other sales revenue of $20.9 million 
(2006: $28.9 million) mainly due to decreased 
recoverable revenue in both MGH and UED.

–  Investment income, consisting of interest income 
of $8.6 million and Duquesne Light Holding 
dividends received of $8.9 million, whereas the 
prior period was interest only. (2006: $7.3 million).

–  Other revenue of $77.4 million (2006: $34.0 million). 
The increased revenue is predominately related 
to fair value gains on the investment in DLH 
($32.9 million) and revaluation of foreign currency 
hedges ($8.8 million).

Share of net profi t of associates
Share of net profi t of associates accounted 
for using the equity method for the year was 
($1.9 million) (2006: $5.7 million). This represents 
the Group’s 25.9% share of the net profi ts after 
tax generated by Alinta Network Holdings Pty 
Limited as well as the Group’s 29% share of the 
net loss after tax generated by DQE Holdings, 
LLC during the month of June 2007. 

Total revenue and share of associates’ profi ts 
was offset by the following operating expenses 
recognised during the year:

Operating Expenses (refer Note 3)
Operating expenses of $274.9 million were 
incurred during the year (2006: $261.6 million) 
and included the following:

–  Operating fees of $247.7 million 
(2006: $222.5 million). The increase for the 
current year primarily refl ects the increase in 
operating fees from UED of $5.3 million and DBP 
of $3.2 million.

–  Other operating expenses of $27.2 million 
(2006: $39.1 million). The increase for the current 
year primarily refl ects the increase in MGH of 
$1.1 million and UED of $1.8 million. 

Other Expenses (refer Note 3)
–  Management fees of $18.3 million (2006: 

$10.8 million). The increase for the current year 
refl ects the increase in the DUET Group unit 
price as well as signifi cant increase in capital 
commitments.

–  Performance fees of $43.6 million (2006: 
$9.0 million). The increase for the current year 
refl ects the substantial increase in the share 
price for the DUET Group from 1 January 2007 
through 30 June 2007.

Depreciation and amortisation expense 
(refer Note 3)

–  Amortisation of intellectual property was 
$23.8 million (2006: $25.4 million) for the year.

–  Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 
was $120.3 million (2006: $110.2 million). This 
consisted of $39.5 million from DBP, $25.2 million 
from MGH and $55.6 million from UED.

Finance costs (refer Note 3 and Note 6)
–  Finance costs of $306.8 million (2006: $302.0 million) 

were incurred during the year. This includes 
$6.6 million (2006: $22.8 million) of amortisation 
of borrowing costs. The decrease predominantly 
relates to DBP amortised borrowing costs 
decreasing by approximately $15.9 million. 

Income Tax
–  Under the Income Tax Assessment Acts, DUET1, 

DUET2 and DUET3 are not liable for income 
tax provided that the taxable income is fully 
distributed to stapled security holders each 
year. DIHL has recognised withholding tax 
of $2.5 million on income received from its 
US investments.

–  Income tax expense of $48.3 million (2006: 
$19.6 million) was recognised during the year. 
The increase is the result of the write-off of 
$19.0 million in deferred tax losses at DBP as 
well as a general increase in net profi t before 
taxes at the assets. 

Minority Interests
–  Minority equity interests in the net result 

of $11.6 million represent the net results of 
UED and MGH attributable to minority interests 
(2006: $12.9 million).

Earnings per Stapled Security (refer Note 5)
–  The basic earnings per stapled security after 

fi nance costs are 3.61 cents per stapled security 
(2006: nil).

–  The weighted average number of shares on issue 
used in the calculation of the earnings per stapled 
security is 492.4 million (2006: 424.6 million).
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Financial Position
Assets

–  At 30 June 2007, total assets of DUET were 
$7,111.6 million (2006: $6,300.3 million).

–  Property, plant and equipment of $4,083.9 million 
(2006: $3,707.4 million) included $5.4 million of 
land (2006: $5.4 million), $6.1 million of buildings 
(2006: $5.6 million), $3,737.1 million of plant and 
equipment (2006: $3,318.6 million), $11.4 million 
of other property, plant and equipment (2006: 
$11.9 million) and $345.6 million of plant and 
equipment in the course of construction (2006: 
$366 million). The increased property, plant and 
equipment at 30 June 2007 compared to 30 June 
2006 primarily refl ects fi xed assets constructed 
as part of the DBP Stage 4 and Stage 5 
expansion projects.

–  Intangible assets of $1,981.1 million (2006: 
$1,997.8 million), comprised of $102.0 million 
of intellectual property (2006: $108.5 million), 
$1,035.4 million of distribution licences (2006: 
$1,035.4 million), $825.0 million of goodwill (2006: 
$825 million), and $18.7 million of information 
systems (2006: nil). The decrease in intangibles 
is the result of amortisation.

Liabilities
–  At 30 June 2007, total liabilities of DUET were 

$5,622.5 million (2006: $5,230.6 million).

–  The increase in liabilities consists of increases 
in deferred tax liabilities of $65.0 million, in 
hedge payable of $74.2 million, and in interest 
bearing fi nancial liabilities of $225.1 million. 
(refer to Note 3)

Equity
–  At 30 June 2007, total equity of DUET was 

$1,489.1 million (2006: $946.5 million).

–  $255.9 million represents the net assets of DBP, 
UED and MGH attributable to outside equity 
interests (2006: $69.9 million). The increase is a 
result of change to the DBNGP Trust Constitution 
which has resulted in units being classifi ed as 
equity. The units were classifi ed as a liability at 
30 June 2006.

–  Contributed equity is $1,347.3 million (2006: 
$921.8 million). The increase is due to two capital 
raisings that took place during the year for the 
purchase of a US investment and to expand the 
Dampier to Bunbury Natural Gas Pipeline as well 
as additional stapled units issued as part of the 
distribution reinvestment plan.

–  Reserves are $(21.1) million (2006: $13.3 million). 
These represent cash fl ow hedges measured 
in accordance with IFRS, capital reserves for 
distributions greater than trust retained earnings, 
and foreign currency translation reserves for 
translation of assets held in US dollars. 

Net Tangible Asset Backing
–  The net asset backing per stapled unit at 

30 June 2007 is $2.62 (2006: $2.22).

Statement of Cash Flows
Net cash fl ows from operating activities

–  Cash infl ows from operating activities have 
decreased $1.2 million from $550.7 million in the 
prior year to $549.5 million in the current year.

Net cash fl ows from investing activities
–  Cash outfl ows from investing activities have 

increased by $451.1 million from $436.3 million in 
the prior year to $887.4 million in the current year.

–  The increase is largely due to the investment 
in DQE Holdings, LLC in the US as well as 
the funding of the shareholder loan to DQE 
Holdings, LLC. There is also an increase in PP&E 
purchased from the prior year to the current year.

Net cash fl ows from fi nancing activities
–  Net cash infl ows from fi nancing activities have 

increased $348.8 million from cash outfl ows of 
$8.6 million in the prior year to cash infl ows of 
$340.2 million in the current year.

–  The signifi cant cause for the increase in cash 
infl ows are the two DUET capital raisings that 
took place during the year.
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Note 1. Summary of Signifi cant 
Accounting Policies

(a) Basis of preparation of the concise 
fi nancial report
The concise fi nancial report has been prepared 
in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, 
Accounting Standard AASB 1039 Concise 
Financial Reports (AASB 1039). The fi nancial 
statements and specifi c disclosures required by 
AASB 1039 have been derived from the Group’s 
full fi nancial report for the fi nancial year. Other 
information included in the concise fi nancial 
report is consistent with the Group’s full fi nancial 
report. The concise fi nancial report does not, 
and cannot be expected to, provide as full an 
understanding of the fi nancial performance, 
fi nancial position and fi nancing and investing 
activities of the Group as the full fi nancial report.

A full description of the accounting policies 
adopted by the Group may be found in the 
Group’s full fi nancial report.

Historical cost convention
These fi nancial statements have been prepared 
under the historical cost convention, as modifi ed 
by the revaluation of fi nancial assets and 
liabilities (including derivative instruments) at fair 
value through the Income Statement.

Stapled security
The units of DUET1, DUET2, DUET3 and the 
ordinary shares in DIHL are combined and 
issued as stapled securities in DUET. The 
individual securities cannot be traded separately 
and can only be traded as stapled securities.

This fi nancial report consists of the consolidated 
fi nancial statements of DUET1, which comprises 
DUET1, DUET2, DUET3, DIHL and the entities 
they control, together acting as DUET.

As permitted by ASIC Class order 06/441, this 
fi nancial report consists of the consolidated 
fi nancial statements of DUET1 and its controlled 
entities (collectively referred to as “DUET” or 
“the DUET Group”), the fi nancial statements of 
DUET1, DUET2, DUET3 and DIHL.

(b) Consolidated accounts
UIG 1013: Consolidated Financial Reports 
in relation to Pre-Date-of-Transition Stapling 
Arrangements requires one of the stapled entities 
of an existing stapled structure to be identifi ed 
as the parent entity for the purpose of preparing 
consolidated fi nancial reports. In accordance 
with this requirement DUET1 was identifi ed 
as the parent of the Consolidated Group on 
transition to AIFRS. At 30 June 2007, the 
Consolidated Group comprises DUET1, DUET2, 
DUET3, DIHL and the entities they control.

On 31 August 2006, DIHL became the third 
stapled entity to DUET1 and DUET2. AASB 
Interpretation 1002 Post date of Transition 
Stapling Arrangements requires that DIHL is 
deemed to be acquired by DUET1. Accordingly, 
the stapled entitles of DUET Group are 
represented as the consolidated fi nancial 
statements of DUET1, however, in accordance 
with the AASB Interpretation, the interest in 
DIHL is shown as a minority interest in both the 
income statement and balance sheet. 

On 22 June 2007, DUET3 became the fourth 
stapled entity to DUET1, DUET2 and DIHL. 
AASB Interpretation 1002 Post data of Transition 
Stapling Arrangements required that DUET3 is 
deemed to be acquired by DUET1. Accordingly, 
the stapled entities of the DUET Group are 
represented as the consolidated fi nancial 
statements of DUET1; however, in accordance 
with the AASB Interpretation, the interest in 
DUET3 is shown as a minority interest in both the 
income statement and balance sheet. 

DUET2, DUET3 and DIHL are therefore treated 
differently on consolidation with the equity of 
DUET2 attributable to the parent, whereas the 
equity of DIHL and DUET3 are attributable to 
minority interests. 

(c) Principles of consolidation
The consolidated fi nancial statements 
incorporate the assets and liabilities of the 
entities controlled by DUET1, DUET2, DUET3 
and DIHL at 30 June 2007, including those 
deemed to be controlled by DUET1 by identifying 
it as the parent of DUET on transition to AIFRS, 
and the results of those controlled entities for the 
period then ended. The effects of all transactions 
between entities in the consolidated entity are 
eliminated in full. Minority interests in the results 
and equity are shown separately in the Income 
Statement and the Balance Sheet respectively. 
Minority interests are those interests in partly 
owned subsidiaries which are not held directly 
or indirectly by DUET1, DUET2, DUET3 or DIHL. 
Minority interest also represents the interests of 
DUET3 and DIHL.

Where control of an entity is obtained during 
a fi nancial period, its results are included in 
the Income Statement from the date on which 
control commences. Where control of an entity 
ceases during a fi nancial period, its results are 
included for that part of the period during which 
control existed.

(d) Earnings per stapled security
(i) Basic earnings per security
Basic earnings per stapled security is 
determined by dividing the profi t attributable to 
unit holders of the Group, excluding any costs of 
servicing equity other than ordinary securities, 
by the weighted average number of ordinary 
securities on issue during the year.

(ii) Diluted earnings per security
Diluted earnings per stapled security adjusts 
the fi gures used in the determination of basic 
earning per security to take into account the after 
income tax effect of interest and other fi nancing 
costs associated with dilutive potential ordinary 
securities and the weighted average number 
of securities assumed to have been issued for 
no consideration in relation to dilutive potential 
ordinary securities.

Notes to the Financial Statements
Year ended 30 June 2007

60

MAC247_FINS_FA02.indd   60 11/9/07   3:48:28 PM



61DUET Group Annual Report 2007

(e) Unit holders funds
Due to the fi nite life and present entitlement 
clauses contained within the DUET1 and 
DUET2 Trust Constitutions, upon adoption of 
AASB132 on 1 July 2005, the units in DUET1 and 
DUET2 were classifi ed as debt for accounting 
purposes. The Trust constitutions of both DUET1 
and DUET2 were amended on 30 June 2006 
such that the fi nite life clauses were removed 
and distributions were no longer mandatory 
but discretionary. Accordingly, the units in 
DUET1 and DUET2 are classifi ed as equity for 
accounting purposes from 30 June 2006. 

However, as the units were classifi ed as debt 
from the period 1 July 2005 to 30 June 2006, 
the interim and fi nal distributions declared, as 
well as the income which accrued to the units 
in the Trust, have been accounted for as an 
expense and presented in the income statement 
for the period as a fi nance cost to security 
holders, in accordance with AASB132.

(f) Rounding of amounts
The DUET Group is a kind referred to in Class 
Order 98/0100, issued by the Australian 
Securities & Investments Commission, relating 
to the ‘rounding off’ of amounts in the directors’ 
report and fi nancial report. Amounts in the 
directors’ report and fi nancial report have been 
rounded off in accordance with that Class Order 
to the nearest thousand dollars, or in certain 
cases, to the nearest dollar.

(g) Comparative fi gures
Where necessary, comparative fi gures have 
been adjusted to conform with changes in 
presentation in the current period.

(h) Segment reporting
A business segment is a group of assets and 
operations engaged in providing products or 
services that are subject to risks and returns 
that are different to those of other business 
segments. A geographical segment is engaged in 
providing products or services within a particular 
economic environment and is subject to risks and 
returns that are different from those of segments 
operating in other economic environments. 

Note 2. Segment Information

– Segment products and locations
The consolidated entity’s operating companies 
are organised and managed separately according 
to the nature of the products and services they 
provide, with each segment offering different 
products and serving different markets. The gas 
distribution segment operates in Victoria and 
Western Australia and the electricity distribution 
segment operates in Victoria.

– Geographic segment 
The consolidated entity operates predominately 
in one geographical segment being Australia. 
Accordingly, no geographical segment 
information is presented.

– Segment accounting policies
The Group generally accounts for intersegment 
sales and transfers as if the sales or transfers 
were to third parties at current market prices.

On 31 May 2007, the DUET Group acquired a 
29% interest in DLH. DLH is an electricity utility 
based in Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania, USA. The 
results for DLH have been equity accounted 
into the group results. These results have been 
included in the unallocated segment for 2007 
due to their immaterial and provisional nature.
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Notes to the Financial Statements continued

Note 2. Segment Information continued

The principal activity of the DUET Group is investment in energy utility assets. The primary basis of 
segment reporting is business. 

  Gas Gas Electricity Eliminations/
  Transmission Distribution Distribution Unallocated Consolidated
2007 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Business Segments

Revenue

Sales to external customers  247,101 160,593 412,942 42,000 862,636

Other revenues from external 
customers 1,253 5,495 4,859 – 11,607

Share of net profi t/(loss) of 
equity accounted investments – 4,301 – (6,181) (1,880)

Total segment revenue 248,354 170,389 417,801 35,819 872,363

Non-segment revenues

 Interest revenue     19,825

 Unallocated revenue     8,919

Total DUET Group revenue     901,107

Results

Segment result* 143,697 81,265 185,900 (20,908) 389,954

Non-segment expenses

 Finance costs excluding costs 
 attributable to security holders     (306,813)

Unallocated expenses     –

Net profi t from continuing 
activities before income tax 
expense and fi nance costs 
attributable to security holders 
and minority interests     83,141

Income tax expense     (48,284)

Net profi t from continuing 
activities after income tax 
expense and before fi nance 
costs attributable to 
security holders and 
minority interests     34,857

Assets

Segment assets 2,986,305 1,302,306 2,153,386 669,636 7,111,633

Liabilities

Segment liabilities (538,044) (119,664) (319,463) (120,448) (1,098,713)

Non-segment liabilities

 Interest bearing liabilities     (4,523,805)

Total liabilities excluding minority 
interest classifi ed as debt     (5,622,518)

Other segment information

Acquisition of property, plant 
and equipment, intangible assets 
and other non-current assets 331,856 62,006 123,726 – 517,588

Depreciation 39,468 25,216 55,576 – 120,260

Amortisation 668 8,331 14,808 – 23,807

Equity investment in 
segment assets – 27,759 – 139,879 167,638

* Segment results refer to earnings before fi nance costs and tax expense.
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  Gas Gas Electricity Eliminations/
  Transmission Distribution Distribution Unallocated Consolidated
2006 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Business Segments

Revenue

Sales to external customers  206,564 159,298 403,931 230 770,023

Other revenues from external 
customers 15,328 11,985 4,733 – 32,046

Share of net profi t of equity 
accounted investments – 5,686 – – 5,686

Total segment revenue 221,892  176,969 408,664 230 807,755

Non-segment revenues

Interest revenue     17,723

Unallocated revenue     –

Total DUET Group revenue     825,478

Results

Segment result* 123,698 85,018 183,480 (2,517) 389,679

Non-segment expenses

 Finance costs excluding costs 
 attributable to security holders     (301,955)

Unallocated expenses

Net profi t from continuing 
activities before income tax 
expense and fi nance costs 
attributable to security holders 
and minority interests     87,724

Income tax expense     (19,627)

Net profi t from continuing 
activities after income tax 
expense and before fi nance 
costs attributable to 
security holders and minority 
interests     68,097

Assets

Segment assets 2,741,615 1,283,084 2,065,780 209,817 6,300,296

Liabilities 

Segment liabilities (555,344) (156,186) (242,180) (2,087) (955,797)

Non-segment liabilities

 Interest bearing liabilities     (4,274,769)

Total liabilities excluding minority 
interest classifi ed as debt     (5,230,566)

Other segment information

Acquisition of property, plant 
and equipment, intangible assets 
and other non-current assets 348,255 56,299 107,274 40 511,868

Depreciation 32,396 24,823 53,188 (201) 110,206

Amortisation 794 9,916 14,733 – 25,443

Equity investment in 
segment assets – 27,078 – – 27,078

* Segment results refer to earnings before fi nance costs and tax expense.
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Notes to the Financial Statements continued

   DUET Group DUET Group
   1 July 2006 1 July 2005
   – 30 June 2007 – 30 June 2006
Note 3. Profi t for the Year   $’000 $’000

(i) Revenue from continuing operations
Sales revenue
Distribution revenue   518,480 514,231

Metering revenue   29,073 27,204

Transportation revenue   237,751 206,564

New connections revenue   1,886 1,626

Other sales revenue   20,889 28,933

    808,079 778,558 

Revenue from investments
Interest revenue   8,560 7,270

Distribution and dividend revenue   8,919 –

    17,479 7,270 

Other revenue
Interest revenue   11,264 10,453 

Customer contributions   18,053 16,222 

Miscellaneous revenue   6,417 7,289 

    35,734 33,964 

Total revenue from continuing operations  861,292 819,792 

(ii) Other income
Fair value gain on Options   32,932 –

Fair value gain on Forward Contracts   8,763 –

Total Other income   41,695 –

Total revenue and other income from continuing operations 902,987 819,792

(ii) Expenses from continuing operations
Operating expenses
Operating fees   247,722 222,530

Other operating expenses   27,204 39,110

    274,926 261,640

Other expenses
Net loss on disposal   7,142 13,847 

Management fees   18,323 10,809 

Performance fees   43,649 9,008

Impairment of properties held for sale   – 3,469

Foreign exchange losses   19,586 –

Other   3,462 1,378 

    92,162 38,511

Depreciation and amortisation expense
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment  120,260 110,205

Amortisation of intangible assets   23,805 25,443

    144,065 135,648

Finance costs excluding costs attributable 
to security holders and minority interests
Amortisation of borrowing costs   6,658 22,751 

Financing costs   4,077 2,612 

Interest expense

 Related parties   16,536 16,299 

 Other parties   279,542 260,293 

    306,813 301,955

Total expenses from continuing operations  817,966 737,754
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Note 4. Distributions Paid and Payable

The distributions were paid/payable as follows:

   DUET Group DUET Group
   1 July 2006 1 July 2005
   – 30 June 2007 – 30 June 2006
   $’000 $’000

Interim distribution paid for year ended 30 June 2007: 
DUET 12.25 cents per stapled unit 
(2006: DUET 11.75 cents per stapled unit)   60,464 49,822

Final distribution proposed and subsequently paid 
for the year ended 30 June 2007: DUET 12.50 cents 
per stapled unit (2006: 11.75 cents per stapled unit)  62,134 50,123

   122,598 99,945

The franked portion of distributions proposed by DUET at 30 June 2007 was 0.0183 cents per 
stapled unit (2006: 0.14 cents per stapled unit). There are no franking credits available for subsequent 
fi nancial years.

In addition to the distributions outlined above, on 30 August 2006 AMIM1 and AMIM2 as responsible 
entities of DUET1 and DUET2 respectively, distributed DIHL shares worth 22.2627 cents per unit 
(11.1313 cents from DUET1 and 11.1313 cents from DUET2) to unit holders as an in specie distribution. 
On 22 June 2007, AMIM1, as responsible entity of DUET1, distributed DUET3 units worth 39.2218 
cents per unit to security holders as an in specie distribution.
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Note 5. Asset Backing and Performance Per Security

   DUET Group DUET Group
   As at As at  
   30 June 2007 30 June 2006
(a) Net asset backing of each stapled security  $ $

Net asset backing of each stapled security  2.62 2.22

   DUET Group DUET Group
   As at As at  
(b) Basic earnings per stapled security  30 June 2007 30 June 2006

Basic earnings per stapled security   3.61c –

Earnings used in calculation of basic 
earnings per stapled security   $17,796,178 –

Weighted average number of stapled 
securities used in calculating basic 
earnings per stapled security   492,401,458 424,594,718

On 16 July 2007, DUET Group completed the fi nal allotment of 28,767,005 units under the Institutional 
Placement and Rights Issue at $3.50 per unit 

   DUET Group DUET Group
   As at As at  
Reconciliation of earnings used in calculating  30 June 2007 30 June 2006
basic earnings per stapled security   $’000 $’000

Basic earnings per stapled security
Profi t from continuing operations   38,775 12,892

Profi t from continuing operations attributable to 
minority interests   (20,979) (12,892)

Profi t attributable to the ordinary security holders 
of the company used in calculating basic 
earnings per stapled security   17,796 –

   DUET Group DUET Group
   As at As at  
(c) Diluted earnings per stapled security  30 June 2007 30 June 2006

Diluted earnings per stapled security *   3.61c –

Earnings used in calculation of diluted 
earnings per stapled security   $17,796,178 –

Weighted average number of stapled 
securities used in calculating diluted 
earnings per stapled security   492,401,458 424,594,718

* Where diluted earnings per stapled security is anti-dilutive, the fi gure for diluted earnings per stapled security is shown the same as the 
fi gure for basic earnings per stapled security. 

   DUET Group DUET Group
(d) Weighted average number of shares  As at As at  
used as the denominator   30 June 2007 30 June 2006

Weighted average number of stapled securities 
used as the denominator in calculating basic 
earnings per stapled security   492,401,458 424,594,718

Adjustments for calculation of diluted earnings 
per stapled security:

 Exchange of POWERS   – –

Weighted average number of stapled securities 
used as the denominator in calculating diluted 
earnings per stapled security   492,401,458 424,594,718

(e) Information concerning classifi cation of securities
The POWERS are exchangeable by the holders into quadruple-stapled securities of DUET at anytime 
from 1 September 2008. The dilution factor for the POWERS is based on the conversion mechanics at 
1 July 2006.
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   2007 2006
Note 6. Interest Bearing Liabilities   $’000 $’000

Current
Secured
Bank loans   – 10,000

   – 10,000

Unsecured
Bank loans   3,600 17,500

Total current interest bearing liabilities   3,600 27,500

Non-current
Secured
Bank loans   1,831,835 1,611,000

   1,831,835 1,611,000

Unsecured
Bank loans   382,226 585,800

Guaranteed notes   1,690,535 1,459,305

Redeemable preference shares   120,396 120,396

Preferred to Ordinary with Exchange and Reset Securities (POWERS) 543,263 547,240

Shareholder loans   3,400 –

Other   226 206

   2,740,046 2,712,947

Capitalised borrowing costs   (48,076) (49,178)

Total non current interest bearing liabilities  4,523,805 4,274,769

Total interest bearing liabilities   4,527,405 4,302,269
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Note 6. Interest Bearing Liabilities continued

– Financing Arrangements
At balance date the Group has access to the following lines of credit:

   Used at Unused at 
2007  Facility limit 30 June 30 June

DBP

Senior debt

 2005 7 year fl oating rate notes  275,000 275,000 –

 2005 12 year fl oating rate notes  275,000 275,000 –

 2006 7 year fl oating rate notes  325,000 325,000 –

 2006 12 year fl oating rate notes  325,000 325,000 –

 Syndicated facility  205,000 160,000 45,000

 Capital expenditure facility (Stage 4)  322,100 322,080 20

 Capital expenditure facility (Stage 5A)  590,000 149,755 440,245

 Working capital facility  25,000 – 25,000

   2,342,100 1,831,835 510,265

UED

Senior Corporate Facility – Tranche A   250,000 174,000 76,000

CApex shareholder loan  85,000 10,000 75,000

Senior Corporate Facility 
– Tranche B Capex facility  200,000 23,000 177,000

Bank loans – working capital facility  25,000 3,600 21,400

   560,000 210,600 349,400

MGH

Senior Subscription Agreement  335,000 185,000 150,000

Capital expenditure facility  – – –

Bank loans – working capital facility  20,000 – 20,000

   355,000 185,000 170,000

Total  3,257,100 2,227,435 1,029,665

   Used at Unused at 
2006  Facility limit 30 June 30 June

DBP

Senior debt

 2005 7 year fl oating rate notes  275,000 275,000 –

 2005 12 year fl oating rate notes  275,000 275,000 –

 2006 7 year fl oating rate notes  325,000 325,000 –

 2006 12 year fl oating rate notes  325,000 325,000 –

 Syndicated facility  205,000 205,000 –

 Capital expenditure facility  350,000 206,000 144,000

 Working capital facility  25,000 17,500 7,500

   1,780,000 1,628,500 151,500

UED

Senior Subscription Agreement   250,000 150,000 100,000

Capital expenditure facility  200,000 – 200,000

Bank loans – working capital facility  25,000 – 25,000

   475,000 150,000 325,000

MGH

Senior corporate facility  455,000 411,000 44,000

Capital expenditure facility  35,000 24,800 10,200

Working capital facility  15,000 10,000 5,000

   505,000 445,800 59,200

Total  2,760,000 2,224,300 535,700
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– Bank Loans 
DBP
The Capital Expenditure Facility is provided by 
a syndicate of banks for the purpose of funding 
pipeline expansions provided certain conditions 
are met.

The fl oating rate note facilities are publicly 
traded AAA debt securities, with credit support 
provided by Ambac Assurance Corporation. 
There are two tranches of $275 million each, 
which mature in April 2012 and April 2017 and 
two further tranches of $325 million.

The syndicated facility of $205 million is provided 
by a syndicate of lenders under a Syndicated 
Facility Agreement. The facility matures in 2011. 
Capex Facilities of $322.1 million (Stage 4) 
and $590 million (Stage 5A) are provided by a 
syndicate of lenders for the purposes of fi nancing 
the capital expansion of the DBNGP.

UED
The bank loans were drawn down under the 
Senior Corporate Facility, which has a maturity 
date of 16 June 2011, and the Working Capital 
Facility, which matures on 1 December 2007. 
The loan facility is unsecured with negative 
covenants.

MGH
The bank loans were drawn down under the 
Senior Corporate Facility, which has a maturity 
date of 14 June 2012.

– Guaranteed notes
UED
US$200 million 5.45% guaranteed notes due 
April 2016, were issued on 19 November 2003. 

A further US$260 million (A$363.1 million) 4.70% 
guaranteed notes due April 2011, were issued on 
19 November 2003. 

A$500 million fl oating rate (bank bill plus 0.28%) 
guaranteed notes due October 2014, were issued 
on 31 October 2005. The notes are unsecured 
and unsubordinated obligations of the Group. 
Interest is paid semi-annually in arrears on 
15 April and 15 October for the fi xed rate notes 
and quarterly on 23 January, 23 April, 23 July 
and 23 October on the fl oating rate notes. The 
notes are redeemable in whole but not in part. 
Scheduled payment of principal and interest on 
the notes is guaranteed by an unrelated party. 

Long-term currency swaps have been entered 
into to convert the US dollar exposure on the 
guaranteed notes into an Australian dollar 
exposure. The swaps entitle the Group to receive 
an agreed amount of US dollars and oblige it to 
pay an agreed amount of Australian dollars at 
the date of maturity of the guaranteed notes. The 
value of the guaranteed notes presented above is 
after the impact of the amount payable under the 
currency swap agreement. 

MGH
A$150m 6.375% fi xed rate guaranteed notes due 
July 2011, were issued on 29 July 2004. 

A$135m 6.5% fi xed rate guaranteed notes due 
July 2009, were issued on 29 July 2004. 

A further A$100m fl oating rate guaranteed notes 
due July 2011, were issued on 29 July 2004 at a 
fl oating interest rate with a 0.45% margin above 
bank bill rate. 

A further A$300 million fl oating rate guaranteed 
notes were issued on 15 June 2007 at a fl oating 
interest rate with a 0.24% margin above the 
bank bill rate, due on 10 July 2017. The notes 
are unsecured and unsubordinated obligations 
of the Group. Interest is paid semi-annually in 
arrears on 29 January and 29 July (for the fi xed 
rate notes) and quarterly on 29 January, 29 April, 
29 July and 29 October on the $A100m fl oating 
rate notes. The A$300m notes interest is paid on 
10 July and 10 October. Scheduled payment of 
principal and interest on the notes is guaranteed 
by an unrelated party.

– Redeemable preference shares
The redeemable preference shares issued by 
UED are deferred cumulative preference shares 
that are redeemable on the date 20 years from 
the date of issue being 23 July 2003. Interest is 
paid semi annually or at anytime a declaration 
is made by the board of directors of UED. 
The interest rate on the shares is 13.5%.

– Borrowings from associate entities
The borrowings from associate entities have 
a maturity date of 7 August 2013 and the 
interest rate payable is equivalent to the 
distribution rate payable in respect of the 
POWERS (as described below).

Loan agreements between DUET parent entities 
are included in borrowings from associates. 
These loans have a maturity of 9 years after 
close and pay interest at 8% per annum. 
At 30 June, the amounts payable for associated 
entities by DUET1 is $112,870,000, DUET2 
is $28,000, DUET3 is $16,472,000 and DIHL 
is $13,211,000.

– POWERS
The POWERS have distributions payable in 
respect of each six month period ending on 
1 March and 1 September each year and 
otherwise in accordance with the POWERS 
Terms. The distribution rate in respect of 
POWERS for each distribution period until the 
initial reset date (1 September 2008) is a fl oating 
rate at a margin of 2.65% above the bank bill rate 
expressed as a percentage per annum of the 
face value of each POWERS.

– Capex shareholder loan
The Capex shareholder loan has a maturity of 
27 September 2018 and interest on this loan is 
11.75% per annum. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements continued

     Equity Equity
Note 7. Investments in  Country  Class of 30 June 30 June
Controlled Entities  of incor- shares/ 2007 2006
Name of entity Year end poration units %** %

Amistel Pty Ltd 30 June Australia Ordinary 79.9 79.9

Australia Energy Finance Pty Ltd 30 June Australia Ordinary 79.9 79.9

Australian Energy Fund No.2 30 June Australia Ordinary 80.9 80.9

Energy Partnership (Gas) Pty Ltd 30 June Australia Ordinary 79.9 79.9

Energy Partnership (Holdings) Pty Ltd 30 June Australia Ordinary 79.9 79.9

Energy Partnership Pty Ltd 30 June Australia Ordinary 79.9 79.9

Energy Retail Holdings Pty Ltd 30 June Australia Ordinary 73.1 73.1

Multinet Gas (DB No1) Pty Ltd 30 June Australia Ordinary 79.9 79.9

Multinet Gas (DB No2) Pty Ltd 30 June Australia Ordinary 79.9 79.9

Multinet Gas Distribution Partnership 30 June Australia Ordinary 79.9 79.9

Multinet Gas (IE) Pty Ltd 30 June Australia Ordinary 79.9 79.9

Multinet Group Holdings Pty Ltd 30 June Australia Ordinary 79.9 79.9

Pacifi c Indian Energy Services 
Pty Ltd (PIES) 30 June Australia Ordinary 57.3 57.3

POWERS Trust 30 June Australia Ordinary 100.0 100.0

Power Partnership Pty Ltd 30 June Australia Ordinary 66.0 66.0

UEIP Pty Ltd 30 June Australia Ordinary 66.0 66.0

United Energy Distribution Pty Ltd 30 June Australia Ordinary 66.0 66.0

United Energy Distribution Holdings 
Pty Ltd 30 June Australia Ordinary 66.0 66.0

United Energy Finance Pty Ltd 30 June Australia Ordinary 66.0 66.0

United Energy Finance Trust 30 June Australia Ordinary 66.0 66.0

United Nominee Assets Pty Ltd 30 June Australia Ordinary 66.0 66.0

Utilicorp Australia (Gas) Finance 
Pty Ltd 30 June Australia Ordinary 79.9 79.9

Utilicorp Australia (Gas) Holdings 
Pty Ltd 30 June Australia Ordinary 79.9 79.9

Utilicorp Southern Cross Pty Ltd 30 June Australia Ordinary 79.9 79.9

Utilities Consulting Service Pty Ltd 30 June Australia Ordinary 66.0 66.0

DUET Dampier Bunbury Pty Ltd 30 June Australia Ordinary 100.0 100.0

DBNGP Trust* 30 June Australia Ordinary 62.1 71.8

DBNGP Holdings Pty Ltd* 30 June Australia Ordinary 62.1 71.8

DBNGP Finance Company Pty Ltd* 30 June Australia Ordinary 62.1 71.8

DBNGP WA Pipeline Trust* 30 June Australia Ordinary 62.1 71.8

DBNGP (WA) Nominees Pty Ltd* 30 June Australia Ordinary 62.1 71.8

DBNGP (WA) Transmission Pty Ltd* 30 June Australia Ordinary 62.1 71.8

DBNGP Compressor Co. Pty Ltd 30 June Australia Ordinary 62.1 71.8

DBNGP (WA) Finance Pty Ltd 30 June Australia Ordinary 62.1 71.8

* DUET holds an equity interest of 60% and an economic interest in the operating results of DBP of 62.1%. This will reduce to 60% when 
Alinta Limited and Alcoa of Australia Limited make their fi nal payment on their partly paid shares.

** The equity holding is the equity holding of the DUET Group.
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Note 8. Critical Accounting Estimates 
and Judgements

The preparation of the fi nancial report in 
accordance with AIFRS requires the use of 
certain critical accounting estimates. It also 
requires management to exercise judgement 
in the process of applying the accounting 
policies. Estimates and judgements are 
continually evaluated and are based on historical 
cost experience and other factors, including 
reasonable expectations of future events. 
Management believes the estimates used 
in the preparation of the fi nancial report are 
reasonable. Actual results in the future may differ 
from those reported.

The estimates and assumptions that have a risk 
of causing a material adjustment to the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next 
fi nancial year are discussed below:

(a) Estimated impairment of goodwill 
and indefi nite life intangibles
The Group tests annually whether goodwill has 
suffered any impairment, in accordance with the 
accounting policy stated in Note 1(q) of the full 
fi nancial Statements. The recoverable amounts 
of cash generating units have been determined 
based on value-in-use and fair value less costs 
to sell calculations. These calculations require 
the use of assumptions. 

(b) Retirement Benefi t Obligations
The liability in respect of defi ned benefi t pension 
scheme obligations is calculated as the defi cit of 
the fair value of the defi ned benefi t plan assets 
compared to the defi ned benefi t obligation. The 
key assumptions used in the calculation of the 
present value of the defi ned benefi t obligation 
are described in Note 23 of the full fi nancial 
statements.

(c) DQE Equity Accounting
DQE purchased 100% of DLH on 31 May 2007 
and the numbers quoted in this report relating 
to DLH are provisional and will be fi nalised when 
the fair value of the assets of DLH acquired at 
31 May 2007 have been determined.

Note 9. Events Occurring After 
Balance Sheet Date

On 16 July 2007, DUET announced the 
successful completion of its $350 million 
Placement and Entitlement Offer. In total, 
100,019,145 securities were issued at an issue 
price of $3.50. The issue of securities was split 
into two allotment dates: the “Initial Allotment 
Date” – 28 June 2007 and the “Final Allotment 
Date” – 16 July 2007. In the Initial Allotment 
71,252,140 securities were issued and 28,767,005 
were issued in the Final Allotment.

A fi nal distribution of 12.50 cents per stapled 
security was paid by DUET on 17 August 2007. 
This consists of a distribution of 6.250 cents per 
unit from DUET1 and 6.250 cents per unit from 
DUET2.

A portion of stapled security holders 
participated in DUET’s Distribution and Dividend 
Reinvestment Plan paid on 17 August 2007. Of 
the distribution declared, $12.7 million will be 
reinvested in DUET.

On 28 August 2007 the Essential Services 
Commission (ESC) in Victoria released the 
2008 Gas Access Arrangement Review – 
Draft Decision. The Draft Decision deals with 
gas access arrangements during the period 
1 January 2008 to 31 December 2012, for the 
three Victorian gas distribution businesses, 
including Multinet.

The fi nal ESC decision is due to be delivered 
in November 2007. Following the release of the 
draft decision, the three Victorian gas distribution 
businesses will have an opportunity to make 
submissions on the elements applied by the 
ESC in reaching their draft decision. Multinet 
will be responding to the ESC on a number of 
elements used as the basis for determining 
Multinet’s revenue, including the WACC not 
being consistent with regulatory precedents; 
and certain elements of opex and capex cost 
allowances being disallowed. The directors do 
not believe that the fi nal determination will have a 
material impact on the DUET Group distribution 
guidance for 2008.

There is no other circumstance that has arisen 
since the end of the year that has signifi cantly 
affected, or may signifi cantly affect the 
operations of the DUET Group, the results of 
those operations in future fi nancial years, or the 
state of affairs of the DUET Group in periods 
subsequent to the year ended 30 June 2007.

Note 10. Full Financial Report

Further fi nancial information can be obtained 
from the full fi nancial report which is available, 
free of charge, on request from the DUET 
Group. A copy may also be requested by calling 
Computershare on 1800 009 874.
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Statement by the Directors of the Responsible Entity
On the Concise Financial Report of the DUET Group

In the opinion of the directors of AMPCI Macquarie Infrastructure Management No.1 Limited as the 
Responsible Entity for Diversifi ed Utility and Energy Trust No.1 the accompanying concise report 
of the DUET Group comprising DUET1 and the entities it controls and is deemed to control, for the 
fi nancial year ended 30 June 2007, set out on pages 53 to 71:

(a) has been derived from or is consistent with the full fi nancial report for the fi nancial year; and

(b) complies with Australian Accounting Standard AASB 1039 Concise Financial Reports.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of directors: 

Philip Garling
Director

Sydney
29 August 2007

John Roberts
Director

Sydney
29 August 2007
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Independent Auditor’s Report
to the unit holders of Diversifi ed Utility and Energy Trust No.1

DUET Group Annual Report 2007

Report on the Concise Financial Report
The accompanying concise fi nancial report of Diversifi ed Utility and Energy Trust No.1 and its 
controlled entities comprises the balance sheet as at 30 June 2007, the income statement, statement 
of changes in equity and cash fl ow statement for the year then ended and related notes, derived from 
the audited fi nancial report of the stapled entity DUET Group comprising Diversifi ed Utility and Energy 
Trust No.1, Diversifi ed Utility and Energy Trust No.2, Diversifi ed Utility and Energy Trust No.3 (together 
“the Trusts”) and DUET Investment Holdings Limited (“the company”) and the entities they controlled 
during the year (“DUET Group”) for the year ended 30 June 2007. The concise fi nancial report also 
includes discussion and analysis and the directors’ declaration. The concise fi nancial report does not 
contain all the disclosures required by the Australian Accounting Standards.

Directors’ Responsibility for the Concise Financial Report 
The Directors of the Responsible Entity of Diversifi ed Utility and Energy Trust No.1 are responsible 
for the preparation and presentation of the concise fi nancial report in accordance with Accounting 
Standard AASB 1039 Concise Financial Reports, the Corporations Act 2001, and the Trust deed. 
This responsibility includes establishing and maintaining internal controls relevant to the preparation 
of the concise fi nancial report; selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and making 
accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

Auditor’s Responsibility 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the concise fi nancial report based on our audit 
procedures. We have conducted an independent audit, in accordance with Australian Auditing 
Standards, of the fi nancial report of Diversifi ed Utility and Energy Trust No.1 and its controlled entities 
for the year ended 30 June 2007. Our audit report on the fi nancial report for the year was signed on 
29 August 2007 and was not subject to any modifi cation. The Australian Auditing Standards require 
that we comply with relevant ethical requirements relating to audit engagements and plan and 
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the fi nancial report for the year is free from 
material misstatement. 

Our procedures in respect of the concise fi nancial report included testing that the information in the 
concise fi nancial report is derived from, and is consistent with, the fi nancial report for the year, and 
examination on a test basis, of evidence supporting the amounts, discussion and analysis, and other 
disclosures which were not directly derived from the fi nancial report for the year. These procedures 
have been undertaken to form an opinion whether, in all material respects, the concise fi nancial report 
complies with Accounting Standard AASB 1039 Concise Financial Reports and whether the discussion 
and analysis complies with the requirements laid down in AASB 1039 Concise Financial Reports. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is suffi cient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our audit opinion. 

Independence
In conducting our audit, we have complied with the independence requirements of the 
Corporations Act 2001.

Auditor’s Opinion 
In our opinion, the concise fi nancial report, including the discussion and analysis and the directors’ 
declaration of Diversifi ed Utility and Energy Trust No.1 for the year ended 30 June 2007 complies with 
Accounting Standard AASB 1039 Concise Financial Reports. 

Ernst & Young

Michael S Perry
Partner

Melbourne
29 August 2007
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Remuneration Report

As noted in the corporate governance statement, 
DUET is an externally managed vehicle 
comprising three Australian trusts and an 
Australian public company:

– DUET1 

–DUET2

– DUET3, and

– DIHL.

The combined trustees, known as a Responsible 
Entity, for each of the trusts are RE1 and RE2 
which are owned 50% by AMPCH and 50% 
by Macquarie Bank Limited (MBL). RE1 also 
manages DIHL. 

RE1 and RE2 make available employees (including 
senior executives) to discharge their obligations to 
the relevant DUET entity. These staff are employed 
by entities in the MBL Group or AMP Group 
and made available to DUET through formalised 
resourcing arrangements with RE1 and RE2. Their 
remuneration is not a DUET expense. It is paid 
by MBL Group and AMP Group as appropriate. 
Instead DUET pays management fees to RE1 
and RE2 (and therefore the MBL Group and AMP 
Group) for providing management and advisory 
services. These fees are a DUET expense and 
are therefore disclosed below.

Under the Corporations Act, it is only Australian 
listed companies that are required to prepare 
a remuneration report. Accordingly, the 
remuneration report that appears in the DIHL 
directors’ report is only for DIHL, and only DIHL 
security holders participate in a non-binding 
advisory vote in respect of it. DUET1, DUET2, 
DUET3 and the DUET Group as a whole are not 
required to prepare a remuneration report.

However, consistent with what is referred to 
above as an actual expense to DUET, we have 
set out below details of the management fees 
paid by DUET together with qualitative disclosure 
detailing how RE1 and RE2 staff are incentivised 
and their interests aligned with DUET. 

Management fees
Under the terms of the trust Constitutions and 
the Management Services Agreement, RE1 and 
RE2 are entitled to base and performance fees 
for acting as responsible entity and manager to 
the stapled entities that comprise DUET. 

Base management and performance fees 
are calculated in accordance with a defi ned 
formula under the constitutions of DUET1, 
DUET2, DUET3 and the management services 
agreement with DIHL. The management fee 
structure is linked to market performance and, 
in the case of performance fees, ongoing 
outperformance against an external benchmark. 
The management fees paid or payable by 
DUET to RE1 and RE2 for the fi nancial year 
ending 30 June 2007 were:

Base fee A$18.3 million*

Performance fee A$43.6 million*
*Including non-recoverable GST.

The fee arrangements were fully disclosed to 
investors on fund inception and subsequent 
restructure and capital raisings and continue to 
be disclosed on the DUET website and in annual 
reports so that investors originally invested and 
continue to invest on this basis. The structure 
and level of the fee arrangements are consistent 
with those paid in the market in respect of similar 
externally managed vehicles and are not subject 
to review. Any changes to the structure of the 
fee provisions which would have the effect of 
increasing the fees would need to be approved 
by DUET stapled security holders.

Base fees
Base fees are calculated quarterly, with reference 
to the average market capitalisation of DUET 
over the last 10 trading days of the quarter. The 
base fee is calculated as 1.0% per annum of the 
market value of DUET at the end of each quarter.

For the purposes of calculating the base fee, the 
market value of DUET is determined as follows:

–  The volume weighted average market 
capitalisation over the last 20 ASX trading 
days of each quarter, plus

–  Borrowings (excluding borrowings from the 
POWERS Trust), plus

– Firm commitments for future investment, less

– Cash or cash equivalents.

The quantum of the base management fee can 
increase or decrease as a result of both the 
movement in DUET securities on issue and 
any movement in the security price. Investors 
can effectively control the growth of securities 
on issue and therefore any base fee increases 
by factors such as deciding whether or not to 
support a capital raising involving the issue of 
new DUET securities. As capital raisings are 
invariably undertaken to fund new acquisitions 
or retire bridging debt for new acquisitions, 
RE1 and RE2 are incentivised to ensure that 
each new investment is seen as disciplined and 
value accretive by the market in order to attract 
investor support for the raising and general 
ongoing support for the security price.

MAC247_BACK_FA01.indd   74 11/9/07   3:51:11 PM



7575

Performance fees
A performance fee is payable by DUET half-yearly 
in arrears in the event that the DUET accumulation 
index outperforms the S&P/ASX 200 Industrials 
Accumulation Index in the period, having made 
up for any underperformance in previous years. 

The performance fee is 20% of the dollar amount 
of the net outperformance for the period. 

Where DUET underperforms the benchmark a fee 
defi cit exists. Before any future performance fees 
can be earned, all accumulated defi cits from prior 
periods of underperformance must be eliminated 
ensuring that any performance fees are paid as a 
result of sustained benchmark outperformance. 
This requirement for sustained outperformance 
creates a strong alignment of interest between 
RE1, RE2 and DUET security holders. 

Fees are apportioned between DUET1, DUET2, 
DUET3 and DIHL based on each entity’s share 
of the net assets of DUET. The net market values 
of the assets are used in the calculation of this 
apportionment.

Reinvestment of performance fees
Under DUET’s constituent documents, non-
executive directors of RE1, RE2 and DIHL acting 
in the interests of stapled security holders 
have the discretion as to whether or not the 
performance fee is applied for a subscription 
in new DUET stapled securities. 

Under ASX Listing Rule waiver requirements, the 
ability to reinvest performance fees is subject to 
DUET security holder approval every three years 
and is seen by DUET as creating further alignment 
between DUET management and DUET security 
holders. DUET security holder approval to refresh 
the ability to reinvest performance fees will be 
sought at the 2007 AGM. 

The issue price for the new DUET stapled 
securities is the volume weighted average trading 
price of all DUET stapled securities traded on 
the ASX during the last 10 business days of the 
relevant half-year period.

Expense reimbursement
RE1 and RE2 are also entitled to be reimbursed 
for expenses incurred by them in relation to the 
proper performance of their duties, out of the 
assets of DUET. This includes routine ongoing 
expenses such as the third party costs of 
acquiring assets and managing them, as well as 
capital raising costs, registry, audit, insurance, 
compliance costs and other expenses as set out 
in the trust constitutions and Advisory Deed.

Directors
No director of RE1 or RE2 is remunerated by 
DUET. The independent directors of RE1 and 
RE2 receive fees of $70,000 per annum from 
RE1 or RE2 respectively, except where an 
independent director is also a director of DIHL in 
which case that director only receives $35,000 
from RE1 or RE2 respectively with $35,000 paid 
to the independent director by DIHL. The MBL 
and AMPCH nominee directors on the RE1 and 
RE2 boards are employed and remunerated by 
the MBL Group and AMP Group respectively.

The fees paid to the independent and 
non-executive directors of RE1, RE2 and DIHL 
are determined by reference to current market 
rates for directorships. The level of fees is not 
related to the performance of DUET. The boards 
of RE1, RE2 and DIHL will consider remuneration 
payable to their independent and non-executive 
directors from time to time. Remuneration for 
the independent and non-executive directors is 
approved by the boards and any increases are 
benchmarked to market based on external advice. 

None of the RE1, RE2 and DIHL independent 
and non-executive directors are entitled to DUET 
options or securities or to retirement benefi ts as 
part of their remuneration package.

Executives 
DUET management is employed by the MBL 
Group or AMP Group. Their remuneration is paid 
by the MBL Group or AMP Group and is not 
recharged to DUET. 

Macquarie executives
The remuneration of Macquarie executives that 
are involved in the management of DUET (including 
the CEO of DUET) is not disclosed because the 
executives are not employed by DUET. 

While some DUET management are MBL Group 
employees there is a strong alignment of interest 
between those employees and DUET investors. 
This is evidenced by MBL’s remuneration system 
which ensures that a signifi cant amount of 
remuneration is at risk and solely dependent on 
performance. The remuneration package of all MBL 
Group executives consists of a base salary and an 
annual profi t share allocation. The base salary is 
reviewed annually and the profi t share allocation, 
which is not guaranteed, is based on performance. 

Performance assessment of MBL Group 
employees takes place half-yearly. The RE1, RE2 
and DIHL boards, which comprise a majority 
of independent and non-executive directors, 
provide feedback in respect of the DUET 
CEO’s performance and can request that he be 
replaced if not performing satisfactorily.

The levels of base salary for senior executives 
take into consideration the role of the individual 
and market conditions. However, the levels of 
base salary can be low compared to similar roles 
in non-investment banking companies. 

DUET Group Annual Report 2007
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Remuneration Report
continued

The profi t share allocations to executives provide 
substantial incentives for superior performance 
but low or no participation for less satisfactory 
outcomes. Profi t share allocations are therefore 
highly variable and can comprise a high 
proportion of total remuneration in the case of 
superior performance. The level of profi t share 
received by members of the DUET management 
team is driven predominantly by their individual 
contribution to the performance of DUET, taking 
into account the following elements:

–  Strong operational performance of DUET’s 
underlying assets

–  Management and leadership of DUET and the 
assets controlled by DUET

–  Acquisitions and subsequent management of the 
assets purchased to ensure performance is in 
line with the acquisition business plans

–  Effective capital management

–  Maintenance of Macquarie’s reputation and track 
record in respect of its branded funds.

There is no formulaic approach to determining 
DUET management’s profi t share allocation. It is 
completely discretionary and takes into account 
factors outlined above as well as input from the 
DUET boards in the case of the DUET CEO.

DUET management employed by the MBL Group 
may also receive MBL options as part of their 
remuneration package.

AMP executives
The remuneration of AMP executives who are 
involved in the management of DUET (including the 
COO and CFO of DUET) is not disclosed because 
the executives are not employed by DUET. 

AMP executive remuneration comprises 
base salary, superannuation and short-term 
incentives. Short-term incentives include a profi t 
share arrangement. Payment of a percentage 
of incentives is deferred for up to two years 
and executives must be employed at payment 
date in order to receive incentives and deferred 
incentives.

While some DUET management are AMP 
Group employees there is a strong alignment 
of interest between those employees and 
DUET investors as all AMP executives have a 
signifi cant component of their remuneration 
at risk and dependent on performance. For 
the AMP executives who are part of the 
DUET management team, their performance 
is measured against their contribution to the 
performance of DUET.

Performance assessment of AMP Group 
employees takes place half yearly. The RE1, RE2 
and DIHL boards, which comprise a majority 
of independent and non-executive directors, 
provide feedback in respect of the DUET COO’s 
and CFO’s performance and can request that 
they be replaced if not performing satisfactorily.

Alignment of interests
Further to the remuneration matters discussed 
above, alignment between DUET security 
holders and Peter Barry, the CEO of DUET, 
is refl ected in profi t share arrangements 
that apply to MBL’s executive directors. In 
accordance with these arrangements, 20% 
of the profi t share amounts each year for these 
staff is withheld and subject to restrictions. 
These retained profi t share amounts vest after 
between fi ve and 10 years.

In order to better align the interests of 
management with security holders, from 
2006 onwards Mr Barry’s retained profi t share 
amounts are to be notionally invested by MBL 
in DUET securities so that returns on these 
amounts are based on the DUET security price 
performance. The investment is described as 
“notional” because Mr Barry does not directly 
hold securities in relation to this investment. 
However, the value of the retained amounts will 
vary as if these amounts were directly invested in 
actual DUET securities. 

Alignment between the MBL Group, AMP Group 
and DUET security holders is also demonstrated 
through the interest the MBL Group and AMP 
Group hold in DUET. At September 2007, the 
MBL Group held approximately A$184 million* 
in DUET securities and the AMP Group held 
approximately A$389 million** in DUET securities. 
At August 2007 DUET senior staff and directors 
of the DUET entities also hold over A$7 million 
in DUET securities.

*  Includes both principal 
and fi duciary holdings 
with the latter being about 
83% of the total holding.

**  Includes both principal 
and fi duciary holdings 
with the latter being about 
32% of the total holding.
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Security Holder Information
As at 28 August 2007

DUET Group Annual Report 2007

Distribution of stapled securities
Investor Ranges    % of issued
   Total stapled stapled
  Holders securities securities

1–1,000  707 383,886 0.06

1,001–5,000  5,566 18,460,725 3.07

5,001–10,000  5,317 39,350,591 6.55

10,001–100,000  5,469 115,985,665 19.30

100,001 and over  192 426,856,247 71.02

Total  17,251 601,037,114 100.00

Investors with less than the minimum marketable parcel of stapled securities: 105

Twenty largest investors
   % of
  Number issued
Rank Investor of units capital

1 AMP Life Limited 74,059,759 12.32

2 HSBC Custody Nominees (Australia) Limited 67,662,406 11.26

3 J P Morgan Nominees Australia Limited 48,384,534 8.05

4 National Nominees Limited 33,720,996 5.61

5 Cogent Nominees Pty Limited 31,486,617 5.24

6 Citicorp Nominees Pty Limited 27,108,131 4.51

7 Questor Financial Services Limited 17,494,312 2.91

8 ANZ Nominees Limited 17,194,755 2.86

9 Cogent Nominees Pty Limited 13,783,412 2.29

10 Macquarie Bank Limited 8,441,543 1.40

11 Belike Nominees Pty Limited 7,988,137 1.33

12 Australian Executor Trustees Limited 4,182,901 0.70

13 Bond Street Custodians Limited 3,912,899 0.65

14 UBS Wealth Management Australia Nominees Pty Limited 2,735,862 0.46

15 ANZ Nominees Limited 2,640,019 0.44

16 Argo Investments Limited 2,477,539 0.41

17 RBC Dexia Investor Services Australia Nominees Pty Limited 2,368,952 0.39

18 Cambooya Pty Limited 2,093,936 0.35

19 UBS Nominees Pty Limited 2,089,225 0.35

20 Macquarie Investment Mgt Limited 1,861,593 0.31

Total for top 20 holders of stapled securities 371,687,528 61.84

Details of substantial stapled security holders*
   Number of % of issued
   stapled stapled
Investor   securities securities

AMP Limited   110,623,317 18.53

Macquarie Bank Limited   52,401,045 7.84

Challenger Financial Services Group   32,013,110 6.44

Pictet Asset Management S.A   30,325,152 5.36

* As per ASIC Form 604 – substantial shareholder notice.
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Directors’ Profi les

DUET is managed jointly (50:50) by AMPCH 
and Macquarie.

DUET’s management team has expert 
knowledge of, and experience in, the energy 
utility sector, and the responsible entities will 
have access to the combined infrastructure 
expertise and investment management 
resources of the Macquarie Group and the 
AMP Capital Group.

Each of the responsible entities and DIHL has 
an experienced board of directors, a majority 
of whom are independent from DUET, the AMP 
Capital Group and the Macquarie Group.

Philip Garling 
B.Build FAIB, FAICD, FIE (Aust), AFAIM
Chairman
AMPCI Macquarie Infrastructure Management 
No.1 Limited

AMPCI Macquarie Infrastructure Management 
No.2 Limited

DUET Investment Holdings Limited

Philip is the AMPCH appointed director of the 
responsible entities and DIHL, and is the chairman 
of each of these companies. Philip is responsible 
for the overall infrastructure business of AMPCH. 
He has over 20 years experience in infrastructure 
development and investment, and was previously 
chief executive offi cer of Tenix Infrastructure.

Philip was also a long-term senior executive 
with Lend Lease Corporation, culminating in his 
role as CEO of Lend Lease Capital Services, the 
development capital and infrastructure investment 
and development arm of Lend Lease. He also 
spent two years in Singapore implementing the 
company’s Asian infrastructure strategy.

Philip is a director of several infrastructure 
companies in which AMP Capital is an investor, 
including the listed RiverCity Motorway Group. 
Philip holds the Advanced Diploma from the 
Australian Institute of Company Directors.

John Roberts
LLB
Director
AMPCI Macquarie Infrastructure Management 
No.1 Limited

AMPCI Macquarie Infrastructure Management 
No.2 Limited

DUET Investment Holdings Limited

John joined Macquarie in 1991 and is now joint 
head of Macquarie Corporate Finance division 
and the global head of Macquarie Investment 
Banking Funds Division. John is also on the 
boards of the Macquarie Bank infrastructure, 
airports, media and communication funds, as 
well as the international Singaporean, Canadian, 
US and UK entities. John has a law degree from 
the University of Canterbury, New Zealand.

The Hon. Michael Lee 
BSc, BEng (Hons1), FIE (Aust)
Independent director 
AMPCI Macquarie Infrastructure Management 
No.1 Limited

Michael is an electrical engineer. He served in 
the Australian Parliament for 17 years, and held 
a number of senior positions in both government 
and opposition. He was Minister for Tourism, 
Communications and the Arts in the Keating 
government. He is currently a councillor of the 
City of Sydney, and a director of Macquarie 
Airports (appointed 2003), Country Energy 
(appointed 2002), and of Michael Lee Consulting 
Pty Limited. He is also chairman of the Central 
Coast Campuses Board and a member of the 
NSW Architects Registration Board.

Doug Halley
BCom, MBA, FAICD, FTA
Independent director
AMPCI Macquarie Infrastructure Management 
No.1 Limited

DUET Investment Holdings Limited

Doug has broad fi nancial and general 
management experience as a chief executive 
offi cer, chief fi nancial offi cer and senior 
executive. Doug has worked in fi nancial services, 
publishing and media, IT and manufacturing 
sectors with organisations including NV 
Philips (in Australia, UK and the Netherlands), 
Hill Samuel Australia, NM Rothschild & Sons 
Australia, Goodman Fielder, John Fairfax 
Holdings, IBM Global Services and the Thomson 
Corporation. He has considerable experience 
in strategy and corporate development plus 
large-scale acquisitions and fi nancing. He also 
has broad experience in business development 
in China, Japan and South East Asia. Doug is 
currently chairman of Mikoh Corporation Ltd 
and Chairman of the Advisory Boards of SISS21, 
and UGLii Find Australia and the AEH Group.
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Emma Stein 
BSc (Hons) Physics, MBA
Independent director 
AMPCI Macquarie Infrastructure Management 
No.1 Limited

DUET Investment Holdings Limited

Emma’s operational utilities experience includes 
energy retailing and asset management, 
international business operations, strategy 
development and implementation, acquisition 
integration and divestment.

Emma is a non-executive director of ARC 
Energy (a Perth Basin oil and gas exploration 
and production company), Integral Energy and 
the Growth Centres Commission. Formerly, she 
was a non-executive director of Merlin Petroleum 
Limited (an Australian oil and gas exploration 
and production company). She is chair of the 
audit committee for ARC Energy and chair of 
the retail risk committee for Integral Energy.

Prior to leaving the UK in 2003, Emma was the 
UK managing director for French utility Gaz 
De France’s energy retailing operations. She 
was also a non-executive director for Cofathec 
Heatsave Ltd and an executive UK board 
director for Gaz de France Energy.

Emma is a member of the strategy and 
resources board committee of the University 
of Western Sydney, a NSW Ambassador for 
the Guides and NSW President for NAPCAN, 
the National Association for the Prevention 
of Child Abuse and Neglect.

Ron Finlay
LLB 
Independent director 
AMPCI Macquarie Infrastructure Management 
No.2 Limited

DUET Investment Holdings Limited

Ron is principal and chief executive of Finlay 
Consulting with over 30 years experience 
in property, construction, development and 
infrastructure projects including as project 
manager or facilitator of major infrastructure 
projects in Australia and overseas for both public 
and private sector organisations (such as the 
Basslink Project). Ron is currently a director and 
company secretary of BAA Australia Pty Ltd 
(holder of signifi cant interests in airports 
in Melbourne, Launceston, Perth and the 
Northern Territory), and director and chair of 
the New South Wales Transport Infrastructure 
Development Corporation which has over 
A$14 billion of transport projects under management. 

Ron has been involved in major local government 
PPP projects for both Liverpool and Parramatta 
councils. He has also served on various public 
and private sector boards including the Darling 
Harbour Authority and the Central Sydney 
Planning Committee. Ron was the managing 
partner of Corrs Chambers Westgarth from 1990 
until 1993, having practised as a solicitor and 
partner with the fi rm since 1976.

Eric Goodwin
BEng, MIE (Aust) 
Independent director 
AMPCI Macquarie Infrastructure Management 
No.2 Limited

Eric joined the Lend Lease Group in 1963 as a 
cadet engineer and during his 42-year career 
with Lend Lease held a number of senior 
executive and subsidiary board positions in the 
Australian operations of Lend Lease. Eric has 
extensive experience in design, construction and 
project management, general management and 
investment and funds management. Eric managed 
the MLC Property Portfolio during the 1980s and 
was the founding fund manager of Australian Prime 
Property Fund. Eric is a director of Macquarie 
Global Property Fund Advisors, the GPT Group 
and Eureka Funds Management. He is also a 
council member of the Aloysius College Council.

Duncan Sutherland
BA, MBA 
Independent director
AMPCI Macquarie Infrastructure Management 
No.2 Limited

Duncan has broad experience in the mining, 
metals and auto industries where his focus 
areas included mergers, acquisitions and 
divestments, business analysis and corporate 
planning. Duncan was a member of the 
senior management teams at Chrysler and 
Ford until 1979 within the fi nance, marketing 
and production divisions in Brazil, Argentina, 
Australia and Europe. In 1980 Duncan joined 
CRA Limited, and was most recently responsible 
for acquisitions and divestments and corporate 
strategy. After CRA merged with RTZ in 1995, 
Duncan became managing director of energy 
developments, in the re-named Rio Tinto, 
responsible for business development and the 
management of acquisitions and divestments. 
Duncan is currently a director of the responsible 
entities of the trusts comprised in the Macquarie 
Global Infrastructure Fund and a director of 
Haileybury College, Melbourne.

Christine Williams
MA, LLB (Syd)
Company secretary
Christine is a qualifi ed solicitor and has worked 
in the banking industry for 24 years, including 
15 years in funds management performing 
a general counsel/company secretarial and 
compliance function for listed and wholesale 
infrastructure and other specialised funds 
managed by the Macquarie Bank Group.

Leanne Brown
BEc LLB (Macquarie)
Company secretary
Leanne Brown is a qualifi ed solicitor with 
10 years experience and an associate director 
in Macquarie Bank’s Investment Banking Funds 
division. Leanne joined Macquarie Bank in 2005 
and is responsible for the legal and company 
secretarial function for a number of listed funds 
managed by the Macquarie Bank Group.
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Disclaimer 
The DUET Group comprises Diversifi ed 
Utility and Energy Trust No.1 ARSN 109 
363 037 (DUET1), Diversifi ed Utility and 
Energy Trust No.2 ARSN 109 363 135 
(DUET2), Diversifi ed Utility and Energy 
Trust No.3 ARSN 124 997 986 (DUET3) 
and DUET Investment Holdings Limited 
(DIHL). AMPCI Macquarie Infrastructure 
Management No.1 Limited ABN 99 
108 013 672 (RE1) is the Responsible 
Entity of DUET1 and AMPCI Macquarie 
Infrastructure Management No.2 
Limited ABN 15 108 014 062 (RE2) is 
the Responsible Entity for DUET2 and 
DUET3. RE1 is the manager of DIHL. 
RE1 and RE2 are jointly owned by 
AMP Capital Holdings Limited (ABN 
69 078 651 966) (AMPCH), a wholly 
owned subsidiary of AMP Limited, and 
Macquarie Bank Limited (ABN 46 008 
583 542) (Macquarie Bank). 

Stapling
In accordance with its requirements 
in respect of stapled securities, ASX 
reserves the right (but without limiting its 
absolute discretion) to remove DUET1, 
DUET2, DUET3 and DIHL, or all four, from 
the offi cial list of ASX if, while the stapling 
arrangements apply, the securities in 
DUET1, DUET2, DUET3 or DIHL cease 
to be stapled together or one equity 
securities are issued by DUET1, DUET2, 
DUET3 or DIHL to equivalent securities 
in the other entities, other than the A, 
B and C Special shares or redeemable 
preference shares (as those terms are 
defi ned in the DIHL constitution). 

Takeover provisions
DUET1, DUET2, DUET3 and DIHL 
are subject to the takeover provisions 
of Chapters 6, 6A, 6B and 6C of the 
Corporations Act and the takeover 
provisions will apply to the holders of 
DUET stapled securities.

Disclaimer

Performance disclaimer
Investments in DUET are not deposits 
with or other liabilities of Macquarie 
Bank Limited or AMPCH, or any entity in 
the Macquarie Bank Group (Macquarie 
Group) or the AMP Group and are subject 
to investment risk, including possible 
delays in repayment and loss of income 
and capital invested. Neither RE1, RE2, 
DIHL, nor any member of the Macquarie 
Bank Group or the AMP Group, 
guarantees the performance of DUET, the 
repayment of capital or the payment of a 
particular rate of return on DUET stapled 
securities.

Advice warning
This annual report is not an offer or 
invitation for subscription or purchase 
of or a recommendation of securities. It 
does not take into account the investment 
objectives, fi nancial situation and 
particular needs of the investor. Before 
making an investment in DUET, the 
investor or prospective investor should 
consider whether such an investment is 
appropriate to their particular investment 
needs, objectives and fi nancial 
circumstances and consult an investment 
adviser if necessary.

Manager fees
RE1 in its capacity as responsible entity 
of DUET1 and manager of DIHL, and 
RE2 in its capacity as responsible entity 
of DUET2 and DUET3, are entitled to 
fees for so acting. Entities within the 
Macquarie Group, RE1 and RE2, their 
offi cers and directors may hold stapled 
securities in DUET from time to time.

Financial report
The DUET consolidated fi nancial report 
has been prepared to enable RE1 
and RE2 as Responsible Entities, and 
DIHL, to comply with their obligations 
under the Corporations Act and to 
ensure compliance with the ASX Listing 
Rules and satisfy the requirements of 
the Australian accounting standards 
in relation to stapled structures. The 
responsibility for preparation of the 
concise fi nancial report and any fi nancial 
information contained in this annual 
report rests solely with the directors of 
RE1, RE2 and DIHL.

Complaints handling
A formal complaints handling procedure 
is in place for DUET. RE1 and RE2 
are members of the Financial Industry 
Complaints Scheme. Complaints should 
in the fi rst instance be directed to RE1 
and RE2. If you have any enquiries or 
complaints, please contact:

Investor Relations Manager
DUET 
Level 11
No. 1 Martin Place
Sydney NSW 2000

or

PO Box 4294
Sydney NSW 1164

Telephone
Within Australia: 1800 005 049
Outside Australia: (612) 8232 4491
Facsimile: (612) 9257 1468

DUET’s ongoing commitment 
to your privacy
We understand the importance you 
place on your privacy and are committed 
to protecting and maintaining the 
confi dentiality of the personal information 
you provide to us. 

DUET has adopted a privacy policy. 
For further information, visit the DUET 
website at www.duet.net.au or contact 
DUET Investor Relations on 
1800 005 049 or from outside 
Australia on (612) 8232 4491.
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Corporate Directory

Directors 
The RE1 board of directors is comprised as follows:

Name and Position Executive/Independent 

Philip Garling Executive
Chairman  (appointed by AMPCH)

John Roberts Executive
Director (appointed by Macquarie)

Hon. Michael Lee
Director Independent 

Doug Halley
Director Independent 

Emma Stein
Director Independent 

Secretaries of RE1

Christine Williams

Leanne Brown

The RE2 board of directors is comprised as follows:

Name and Position Executive/Independent 

Philip Garling Executive
Chairman  (appointed by AMPCH)

John Roberts Executive 
Director (appointed by Macquarie)

Ron Finlay
Director Independent 

Eric Goodwin
Director Independent 

Duncan Sutherland
Director Independent 

Secretaries of RE2

Christine Williams

Leanne Brown

The DIHL board of directors is comprised as follows:

Name and Position Executive/Independent 

Philip Garling Executive 
Chairman (appointed by AMPCH)

John Roberts Executive 
Director (appointed by Macquarie)

Ron Finlay
Director Independent 

Doug Halley
Director Independent 

Emma Stein
Director Independent 

Secretaries of DIHL

Christine Williams

Leanne Brown

Responsible Entity
AMPCI Macquarie Infrastructure 
Management No.1 Limited 
(ABN 99 108 013 672) (RE1) 
as responsible entity of 
Diversifi ed Utility and Energy 
Trust No.1 (DUET1)

and

AMPCI Macquarie Infrastructure 
Management No.2 Limited 
(ABN 15 108 014 062) (RE2) 
as responsible entity of 
Diversifi ed Utility and Energy 
Trust No.2 (DUET2) and 
as responsible entity of 
Diversifi ed Utility and Energy 
Trust No.3 (DUET3)

and

DUET Investment Holdings 
Limited (DIHL)
Level 7, No. 1 Martin Place
Sydney NSW 2000

or

PO Box 4294
SYDNEY NSW 1164

Telephone: 
(612) 8232 4491 
or 1800 005 049 

Facsimile: (612) 8232 4713 

Website: www.duet.net.au 

Registry
Computershare Investor 
Services Pty Limited 
GPO Box 7115 
Sydney NSW 2001

or

Level 3
60 Carrington Street
Sydney NSW 2000 

Telephone: 
(612) 9415 4189 
or 1800 009 874

Facsimile: (612) 8235 8220

 This report has been printed on Novatech Premium Silk and Nordset, 
both EMAS certified stocks.

Novatech and Nordset are both environmentally responsible papers 
manufactured using Elemental Chlorine Free (ECF) pulp sourced from 
sustainable, well managed forests. Produced by Nordland Papier, 
a company certified under ISO14001 environmental management 
systems and registered under the EU Eco-management and Audit 
Scheme EMAS (Reg. No.D – 162 – 00007).
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